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Preface

Our main purpose in writing this book is to provide an introductory but comprehensive description of the
purpose, practice and process of contemporary international financial accounting in an Australian context.
With the increased emphasis on the globalisation of business, the material is ideal for the study of
introductory accounting in a broad international context.

The book is designed for tertiary students interested in an accounting career and for those wanting a
general understanding of the production and use of accounting information in the business sector. This
ninth edition considers more fully the need for accounting knowledge by students undertaking business
studies in areas other than accounting. The book is suited to a two-semester course at both the
undergraduate level and the postgraduate level as it provides a general understanding of the role of
financial accounting information systems in any business sector.

The ninth edition builds on the strengths of previous editions with a strong focus on the decision-making
role of accounting as well as on a student’s acquisition of generic skills such as communication, analysis and
problem solving, critical thinking, judgement, and an appreciation of ethical issues. The opportunity to
develop these generic skills is provided by the range of end-of-chapter activities. The authors, however,
believe that competency in the technical skills of accounting should remain as the core objective, and the
book therefore continues to provide appropriate discussion of key technical issues. It is our belief that a
person equipped with knowledge of technical material in accounting possesses a powerful tool for making
economic decisions and for analysing and solving business problems. These technical skills are used in the
book to provide clear and detailed explanations of the accounting concepts that form the basis of the
practice of accounting. The use of the technical skills of accounting in teaching concepts gives students a
practical foundation from which to build their understanding.

The book is organised in six parts as follows, with emphasis on decision making in a business enterprise
before consideration of external reporting issues.

Part 1: Accounting for decision making (chapters 1-2)

Part 2: Accounting systems and processes (chapters 3-7)

Part 3: Equity in business (chapters 8-9)

Part 4: Accounting regulation of assets and liabilities (chapters 10-16)

Part 5: External reporting and performance evaluation (chapters 17-19).

Based on feedback from users of the previous editions of this book, there remains in the ninth edition a
strong focus on:

service organisations operating in the business and not-for-profit sectors

the use of accounting information by non-accountants, both in text examples and in end-of-chapter
activities

the impact of the goods and services tax (GST) on business records in a number of exercises and
problems

the effect of accounting information on decisions made in business (segments in each chapter provide
links to business activities, and each chapter contains a scene setter)

the effect on accounting systems of improvements in information technology

the impact of developments in the regulation of accounting standards at national and international
levels.

We have continued to improve the readability of the book without compromising the integrity of its
theoretical and practical content, and have continued the policy of including detailed learning objectives.

Many chapters provide a discussion of the impact of the GST on business, especially on small business.
However, instructors can ignore the effects of the GST if they wish to pay attention to the other accounting
issues in each chapter. An introductory coverage of the GST is provided as an appendix to chapter 3. Many
exercises and problems permit lecturers to select where GST is included and where it is excluded.
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Changes from the previous edition

The major features of this ninth edition include the following.

Material has been extensively rewritten in relation to the new regulatory arrangements for the
development of accounting standards globally and in the Australian context.

‘Scene setters’ at the beginning of each chapter have been updated to help students understand the
relevance of the accounting material in that chapter to the issues faced by accountants in practice.
Additional and new ‘business knowledge’ vignettes in each chapter show the relevance of accounting to
the practical world of business.

Learning checks have been added to summarise the key points from the preceding section.
Approximately half of the discussion questions, exercises and problems in many chapters are new.

In the end-of-chapter case material, several decision analysis cases, critical thinking cases,
communication and leadership activities and ethics and governance issues are either new or updated.
Web-based activities are included in several chapters. In addition, the financial analysis is based on the
latest JB Hi-Fi Limited annual report, which is available on its website, www.jbhifi.com.au.

All the exercises and problems are now tagged by learning objective.

Supplementary materials

Financial Accounting 9th edition is supported with an extensive teaching and learning resources
supplementary package.

WileyPLUS is a research-based online environment for effective teaching and learning. With
WileyPLUS, lecturers can prepare, assign and grade accounting activities simply and in a time efficient
manner. WileyPLUS increases student confidence through an innovative design that allows greater
engagement, which leads to improved learning outcomes. For more information, contact your John Wiley
& Sons sales consultant or visit www.wileyplus.com.

A solutions manual containing worked solutions to all end-of-chapter discussion questions, exercises,
problems, case studies and activities is available for lecturers who prescribe this text. The solution
manual has been thoroughly checked for accuracy and correctness.

PowerPoint Presentation contains over 1000 slides with summaries of key concepts and processes
presented in the chapter as well as key diagrams and worked examples from the text.

WileyPLUS

Acknowledgements

We wish to express our appreciation of the following people and organisations who have contributed in
some way to the development of the ninth edition of this book and to the refinement of our ideas.
Particular appreciation is again extended to our very patient partners and to our families for their continued
understanding, assistance with finding material for cases, business knowledge and profiles, and with
proofreading, and for their tolerance of partners and parents who are buried in their studies for long hours
at evenings and weekends.

Special appreciation is also extended to those who have contributed to the text as independent reviewers
and preparers of the extensive teaching and learning resources associated with the textbook. We appreciate
the contributions of Andrew Reynolds (Curtin University), Nila Latimer, Philip Johnson (University of South
Australia), Peter Hall (University of South Australia) and Penny Janson (University of Western Sydney), who
worked on various elements of the teaching and WileyPLUS resources.

John Hoggett, Lew Edwards, John Medlin, Keryn Chalmers,
Andreas Hellmann, Claire Beattie and Jodie Maxfield
August 2014


http://www.jbhifi.com.au/
http://www.wileyplus.com/

XVi

Acknowledgements

The authors and publisher would like to thank the following copyright holders, organisations and individuals
for their permission to reproduce copyright material in this book.

Images:

e Shutterstock.com: 3 Stokkete; 33 donskarpo; 129 max blain; 183 Mathias Rosenthal; 235 Pressmaster;
281 Bacho; 477 jarvis gray; 429 Refat; 521 Lightspring; 557 rzstudio; 801 ldeas_supermarket; 637
bloomua; 677 mast3r; 717 Sreenivasulu Vallepu; 751 Gordon Bell; 829 Andrey_Popov. « Corbis Australia:
73 Corbis/ The Art Archive/ Alfredo Dagli Orti. « MYOB Australia: 314, 315 Screen captures from MYOB
reproduced with permission. Copyright © 2013 MYOB Technology Pty Ltd. < iStockphoto: 343 ©
iStockphoto.com/Will Selarep. « Harvard Bus. School Publishing: 377 Michael Potter. « AASB: 433 ©
Commonwealth of Australia 2014. All legislation herein is reproduced by permission but does not purport to
be the official or authorised version. It is subject to Commonwealth of Australia copyright. The Copyright
Act 1968 permits certain reproduction and publication of Commonwealth legislation. In particular, s. 182A of
the Act enables a complete copy to be made by or on behalf of a particular person. For reproduction or
publication beyond that permitted by the Act, permission should be sought in writing from the
Commonwealth available from the Australian Accounting Standards Board. Requests in the first instance
should be addressed to the Administration Director, Australian Accounting Standards Board, PO Box 204,
Collins Street West, Melbourne, Victoria, 8007.

Text:

e The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (ICAA): 3, 19, 470 © Charter; 7 Adapted from ‘Job
demand high in Asia’ by Michael Page International, 22 December 2011; 677 ‘The business of going broke’
by Eddie Senatore SBR Insolvency + Reconstruction, 20 May 2013. Reproduced with permission from the
ICAA. = © CCH Australia: 20 www.cch.com.au. = Richard Petty: 25-6 ‘New Pathways to Business Success’
by Professor Richard Petty, InTheBlack, August 2009, p. 7; 386 ‘The sustainable accountant’ by Professor
Richard Petty, InTheBlack, February 2010. Reproduced with permission from Professor Richard Petty,
former Chairman and President of CPA Australia. = Copyright Agency Limited: © Fairfax Media 27
‘Innovation and trust’ by Anthony Bell, BRW, 1 February 2012; 28 ‘Good marketing in bad times’ by Simon
Lloyd, BRW, 6 April 2001; 43 ‘Profit is the bottom line’ by Hezi Leibovich, BRW, 21 March 2013; 47-8 ‘Asia
must step into standards gap: David Tweedie’ by Agnes King, BRW, 12 September 2012; 68-9 ‘Cambodian
PM linked to talks’ by Richard Baker and Nick McKenzie, The Age, 26 March 2013; 129 ‘Twenty years on,
the benefits are clear’ by Stephen Bartos, The Sydney Morning Herald, 6 June 2012; 161 from ‘I Did It
My Way' by Kath Walters, BRW, November 12-18 2009, p. 18; 210 ‘Accountants — More than bean
counters’, Illawarra Mercury, 16 January 2013; 235 ‘Target’'s troubles lead to pain for all' by Elizabeth
Knight, The Sydney Morning Herald, 21 May 2013; 277 ‘Fresh approach to curb shoplifting’ by Michael
Baker, The Sydney Morning Herald, 9 March 2013; 477 ‘Billabong adrift without chief executive’ by Eli
Greenblat, The Sydney Morning Herald, 28 August 2013; 355 ‘Two-plane flyover marks Qantas
partnership’ by Matt O’'Sullivan, The Sydney Morning Herald, 31 March 2013; 570 ‘Fresh approach to
curb shoplifting’ by Michael Baker, The Sydney Morning Herald, 9 March 2013; 601 ‘New toll road to
fame and fortune?’ by Adele Ferguson, The Sydney Morning Herald, 12 November 2013; 637-8 ‘Despite
the theory, determining the real value of a company is no easy task’ by Nathan Bell, The Age, 18
September 2013; 693 ‘Stricter rules for care bonds’ by Bina Brown, Australian Financial Review, 24
November 2012; 703 ‘Shares plunge as takeover talks aborted’ by Glenda Kwek, The Sydney Morning
Herald, 5 June 2013; 751-2 ‘Lack of appetite for credit by Mark Abernethy, Australian Financial
Review, 14 August 2013; 781 ‘PayPal unveils ‘do nothing’ payment’ by Sue Mitchell, Australian Financial
Review, 11 September 2013; 829-30 ‘Insight comes from 30 minutes

clocking value via a study of company reports’ by Nathan Bell, The Age, 14 August 2013; 837-8 ‘Roundout
That Bottom Line’ by Catherine Fox, Australian Financial Review, 11 May 2012; 868 ‘Sky-High Shares’

by Matthew Smith, BRW, 14 March 2013; 870 ‘Freelancer.com to test the waters for digital outsourcing’ by
Max Mason, The Sydney Morning Herald, 19 October 2013; 870 ‘Invest with conscience’ by Penny Pryor,


http://shutterstock.com/
http://istockphoto.com/Will
http://www.cch.com.au/
http://freelancer.com/

The Age, 23 October 2013. © News Limited 76 ‘Red flags to crime’ by Russell Emmerson, Herald Sun, 26
November 2012; 141 ‘Accounting for the GST’, Weekly Times, 24 May 2000; 255-6 ‘Despite fall, Noni B
good’ by AAP, The Australian, 14 February 2013; 281 ‘Red flags to crime’ by Russell Emmerson, Herald
Sun, 26 November 2012; 287 ‘Business fraud is no cheap trick’ by Russell Emmerson, Courier Mail, 24
February 2013; 517 ‘Managing the cash squeeze’ by Susan Heron, Herald Sun, 14 December 2006, p. 90;
395 ‘Fickle nickel takes its toll on market darling Mirabela’ by Sarah-Jane Tasker, The Australian, 5
October 2013; 521 ‘Australian executive exposes China agribusiness scam’ by Rowan Callick, The
Australian, 6 November 2013; 528 ‘Tardy payers costly — Businesses face long wait for cash’ by Claire
Heaney, Herald Sun, 23 May 2013; 535-6 ‘Resolve your beef over cash flow’ by Nhada Larkin, Daily
Telegraph, 17 November 2013; 557 ‘Target on mission to move a mountain’ by Blair Speedy, The
Australian, 30 October 2013; 578 ‘Research shows Sunday foot traffic grows as time-poor families
abandon traditional Saturday shop’ by Anthony Gough, Courier Mail, 24 August 2013; 617 ‘Miners take
risk reporting true costs’ by Paul Garvey, The Australian, 11 December 2012; 652 ‘State’s great strength
is in its diversity’ by Frank Gelber, The Australian, 31 October 2013; 767 ‘Lease of your worries’ by Claire
Heaney, Herald Sun, 30 September 2013; 851 ‘Nine “nearly broke covenants™ by Nick Tabakoff, The
Australian, 15 December 2012. « Private Media: 28 ‘Explore Engage’ by Oliver Millman, 23 March 2012.
This article originally appeared on StartupSmart.com.au. Reproduced with permission from Private Media.
Tiina-Liisa Sexton: 29 ‘Auditing Hidden Agendas’ by Tiina-Liisa Sexton, InTheBlack, March 2009, p. 63.
Reproduced with permission from the author. < Rosalind Whiting: 67-8 ‘Sporting glory — the great
intangible’ by Rosalind Whiting & Kyla Chapman, Australian CPA, February 2003, pp. 24-7. < Flyn

Flesher: 73 ‘Luca Pacioli: The Father of  Accounting’ by Flyn Flesher, see
http://members.tripod.com/~FlynF/pacioli.htm. e John Curtin Prime Ministerial: 183 John Curtin Prime
Ministerial Library. Understanding society through its records: Records at  work.

http://john.curtin.edu.au/society/index.html. < Jacqueline Blondell: 188 ‘Blue Sky Man’ by Jackie Blondell,
InTheBlack, April 2010. Reproduced with permission from the author. « The YGS Group: 717-8 ‘Brave New
World’, published in Accountancy Futures, August 2013, pp. 20-1; 722 ‘Information overload?’,
published in Accountancy Futures, August 2013, p. 10. Reproduced with permission. < Bauer Media
Group: 826 ‘Why don’t corporations behave ethically?’ by Cameron Cooper, InTheBlack, 3 October 2013. «
Australian Stock Report: 343 © 2014 EYGM Limited. All

xviii
rights reserved. Reproduced by permission of EY. e John Purcell: 429-30 ‘Perfect storm: The unstable
uncertain state of non-financial reporting’ by John Purcell, InTheBlack, 11 October 2013. Reproduced with
permission from the author. « FASB: 437 ‘International Convergence of Accounting Standards — Overview’
© Financial Accounting Standards Board. Reproduced with permission. « AASB: 441 © Commonwealth of
Australia 2011. All legislation herein is reproduced by permission but does not purport to be the official or
authorised version. It is subject to Commonwealth of Australia copyright. The Copyright Act 1968 permits
certain reproduction and publication of Commonwealth legislation. In particular, s.182A of the Act enables a
complete copy to be made by or on behalf of a particular person. For reproduction or publication beyond
that permitted by the Act, permission should be sought in writing from the Commonwealth available from
the Australian Accounting Standards Board. Requests in the first instance should be addressed to the
Administration Director, Australian Accounting Standards Board, PO Box 204, Collins Street West,
Melbourne, Victoria, 8007. < IFRS Foundation: 451, 457-8 Copyright © IFRS Foundation. All rights
reserved. Reproduced by John Wiley & Son’s Limited with the permission of the IFRS Foundation ®. No
permission granted to third parties to reproduce or distribute. The IASB, the IFRS Foundation, the authors
and the publishers do not accept responsibility for any loss caused by acting or refraining from acting in
reliance on the material in this publication, whether such loss is caused by negligence or otherwise.
Anthony Black: 471 from ‘Still on track’, June 2010; 637 from ‘Wheeling and Dealing’, November 20009.
Originally published in InTheBlack magazine. These articles were written by the financial journalist
Anthony Black who has extensive experience writing on corporate and financial matters. For enquiries on
past articles refer to ‘anthonyblack3@bigpond.com’. ¢ KPMG Australia: 691 © 2011 KPMG, an Australian
partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Cooperative (‘KPMG International’), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved. « CPA Australia: 724,
726, 728 © 2013 Reproduced with the permission of CPA Australia Ltd. « Bina Brown: 733 ‘Australia’s water
accounting system singled out’ by Bina Brown, InTheBlack, 12 September 2013. Reproduced with
permission from Bina Brown — Finance Writer.  carsales.com Ltd: 807 Reproduced with permission from
carsales.com Ltd.


http://startupsmart.com.au/
http://members.tripod.com/~FlynF/pacioli.htm
http://john.curtin.edu.au/society/index.html
http://anthonyblack3@bigpond.com/
http://carsales.com/
http://carsales.com/

Every effort has been made to trace the ownership of copyright material. Information that will enable the
publisher to rectify any error or omission in subsequent editions will be welcome. In such cases, please
contact the Permissions Section of John Wiley & Sons Australia, Ltd who will arrange for the payment of the
usual fee.



Part 1

Accounting for decision making

1 Decision making and the role of accounting
2 Financial statements for decision making



CHAPTER 1
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Learning Objectives
After studying this chapter you should be able to:
1 outline the dynamic environment in which accountants work (pp. 4-5)
2 discuss the nature of decisions and the decision-making process (pp. 5-6)
3 outline the range of economic decisions made in the marketplace (pp. 6-7)
4 explain the nature of accounting and its main functions (pp. 8-10)
5 identify the potential users of accounting information (pp. 10-11)
6 apply information to make basic economic decisions (pp. 11-13)
7 describe the role of accounting information in the decision-making process (pp. 13-14)
8 compare accounting information for management and external users (pp. 14-15)
9 summarise how the accounting profession is organised in Australia (pp. 15-16)
10 identify the different areas of the economy in which accountants work (pp. 16—-20)

11 identify the importance of ethics in business and accounting and how to recognise and handle
ethical dilemmas as part of the decision-making process (pp. 20-2).




A natural fit

Simone Taylor is the financial controller for OrotonGroup. Never previously having considered a career as
an accountant, her interest in the profession was sparked during a discussion with a careers advisor
during secondary school.

Sold on the idea that the accounting profession would bring diversity of work opportunities, Taylor
commenced as a cadet with KPMG’'s cadetship program after graduating from high school in 1998,
working full time in the audit consumer and retail group for two years.

Taylor then worked as an internal auditor at confectionary giant Nestlé’s head office in Switzerland,
where she audited the organisation’s factories and supply chain globally. After three years, a financial
controller’s role with British fashion powerhouse Burberry beckoned in London, before a stint in forensic
accounting with the United Kingdom’s Serious Fraud Office.

In 2009, Taylor accepted a position at OrotonGroup. The company has approximately 85 stores
throughout Australia and Asia. Her role is to assist steering the finance function. The role is diverse, from
an early morning sales meeting to product reports and cash flow, as well as rolling out a new Asia
strategy, which includes setting up new structures from payroll through to audit.... The role also involves
implementing finance support services for strategic decisions, such as online shopping, acquisitions and
partnerships, to adapt to the business and economic environment to the brand’s advantage.

Beyond OrotonGroup, Taylor foresees an eventual move into a chief financial officer role that
represents the right mix of company culture and product mix. As with OrotonGroup, she sees any future
role as adding to the business. ‘I can’t be at a company where it's just presenting a report at the end of
the month — it has to be a business partner role.’

Source: Excerpts from Tydd, J 2012, ‘A natural fit', Charter, November, pp. 66-7.

Chapter preview
Welcome to your journey into the field of accounting. If your initial reaction to accounting is ‘boring!’, then



think again. Accounting, at times, can be full of politics and intrigue, and the financial figures it produces
are useful to informing many business decisions. The figures also may be the result of unethical behaviour
whereby people have ‘cooked the books’. So let's begin.

Whether you are studying this subject with a view to following a career in retail, as has Simone Taylor in
our scene setter, sports management, financial planning, or simply to gain a basic understanding of the
field as it relates to other areas of business, we hope that you find your study of the subject enjoyable,
challenging and useful. Inevitably, a study of accounting requires a basic understanding of record keeping,
but accounting is far more than that. Accounting plays a vital role in the decision-making processes of every
organisation, whether it is a for-profit organisation (e.g. Commonwealth Bank), not-for-profit organisation
(e.g. a charity such as Oxfam) or a government organisation (e.g. a local council).

1.1 The dynamic environment of accounting

Outline the dynamic environment in which accountants work.

Accountants traditionally have been viewed as the ‘bean counters’ or ‘number-crunchers’ of an organisation,
but this is no longer their major task. Computerised accounting systems can now do much of the work.
Even small businesses have access to computerised accounting systems such as Mind Your Own Business
(MYOB), so the role of accountants has changed radically. Accountants working in organisations have
become important members of the management team, as organisations have to contend with social
changes caused by several factors:

the dramatic development of information and communications technology including electronic banking,
the Internet and e-commerce

the increasing demand by society for information of a non-financial nature, such as information about an
entity’s attention to occupational health and safety issues, social and equity diversity issues such as the
employment of people with disabilities and indigenous people, and environ mental considerations such as
water usage, the organisation’s carbon footprint and other sustainability practices

the globalisation of business. Instead of merely being involved in a particular local community, many
organisations are seeing the world as their marketplace and as their source of labour and knowledge.
This has placed increasing demands on organisations to be accountable for their corporate behaviour in
foreign countries, including abiding by their rules and regulations, and their impact on the society and
environment of those countries. Questions being asked include: How well does an organisation treat and
pay its employees in developing countries? Is business conducted by way of political payments (bribes)
to influential officials in those countries? What corporate governance practices apply in those countries?
the globalisation of regulations affecting business organisations, such as the development and adoption
of international financial reporting standards.

One thing is certain: change will continue. In order to cope, accountants of the future need to have not
only record-keeping knowledge but also analytical and communication skills and business strategy and
planning know-how. They need the ability to think clearly and critically in order to solve problems, a
familiarity with information systems and technology, strong interpersonal communication skills with clients
and business associates, and sound ethical behaviour in different cultural environments.

This book is designed for all students studying accounting for the first time at a university level, both
those majoring in accounting and those seeking a basic understanding of accounting but studying in other
fields, such as marketing, management, economics, information technology, law, engineering, the arts and
sciences. Accounting is usually a core unit in business degrees as it is the ‘language of business’.

Many students in non-accounting majors can benefit greatly from reading this book. Engineers are often
involved in designing products to reduce costs and meet target prices, so much of their work is driven by
accounting measures. Marketers often strive to maximise sales, so a knowledge of costs, pricing and
accounting methods is helpful for success. Human resources managers are responsible for one of the major
costs in an organisation, so they need to choose a mix of staff
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to provide a quality service while keeping control of salary and wages costs. Indeed, many professional
groups outside of accounting find that having a good grasp of accounting concepts is an advantage and
enhances the opportunities for success in their chosen careers.



We begin the book by considering decision making in everyday life, and the role of accounting in
providing information for the decision-making process. Also in this chapter, we acquaint you with the types
of activities that are carried out by a professional accountant working in business.

LEARNING CHECK

1 Accountants are not purely record keepers but are part of the management team in an organisation.

1 Accountants need to have not only record-keeping knowledge but also analytical skills and business
strategy and planning knowhow.

1 Accountants need the ability to think clearly and critically in order to solve problems, a familiarity
with information systems and technology, strong interpersonal communication skills with clients and
business associates, and sound ethical behaviour in different cultural environments.

1.2 Decisions in everyday life

Discuss the nature of decisions and the decision-making process.

We make many decisions every day. For example, we decide when to get out of bed each morning
(sometimes prompted by our parents!); we decide the appropriate clothes to wear for the coming day’s
activities (influenced by our peers); we decide what to eat for breakfast, unless we are in too much of a
hurry, in which case we make another decision to go without breakfast.

Decisions involve choices because it is not possible to do everything we might like to do, as time and
resources are always limited. Some decisions can be made in no time at all with little thought, such as
putting on a coat if the weather is cold, but others may require much thinking, planning and information
gathering, such as choosing a career, buying a house or a car, moving from one city to another, going on
an overseas trip, choosing which subjects to study at university, and deciding when to retire from active
employment.

Sometimes, decisions made in haste can affect us adversely for the rest of our lives. Each decision we
make has outcomes which then affect decisions to be made at a later time. Ultimately, the decisions we
make, or the decisions made by others which affect us, determine our destiny in life. Decisions affect our
appearance, our economic wellbeing, even our emotional and spiritual wellbeing, so it is important that we
make decisions after careful consideration of all information available at the time.

Steps in decision making

In simple terms, a decision is the making of a choice between two or more alternatives. Every time a
problem arises and we need to make a decision, we consciously or unconsciously follow four main steps,
which can be framed as questions.
1. What are we trying to achieve? We must identify each situation in which a decision is needed
and determine the goals we wish to achieve. The decision we make will be influenced by our values,
motives and desires.

2. What information do we need? Information can help change our attitudes, beliefs or
expectations. Information relevant to each decision helps us determine the alternatives available from
which to choose given the time, resources and degree of effort that we are prepared to commit to
making a choice.

3. What are the consequences of different alternatives? Having obtained information to help us
determine the alternatives available, we then need to assess the consequences or outcomes of these
alternatives. Since the outcomes of each alternative lie in the future, every decision we make involves
a degree of uncertainty, which means that there is an element of risk in achieving a desired outcome.
For example, even a decision to take out car insurance involves a degree of risk as we balance the
likelihood of causing a car accident with the cost of the insurance premium.

4. Which course of action will we choose? Finally, after consideration of the alternatives available
and the consequences of those alternatives, we must choose a course of action which we hope will



achieve the goals that we established in the first place.
The steps in the decision-making process are illustrated in figure 1.1.

Figure 1.1 Steps in the decision-making process

1 2 Gather 3 4

Establish goals available Determine Choose a
information consequences course
on of alternatives of action

alternatives

Once we have made a choice, we find eventually a set of actual outcomes or consequences. We may be
satisfied or dissatisfied with these outcomes. If we are dissatisfied, we may need to make further decisions
to achieve our ultimate goals. Hence, the outcomes or consequences of decisions commonly lead to further
decisions, which in turn have further outcomes, and so on.

LEARNING CHECK

1 The decision-making process involves four main steps: (1) establishing goals, (2) gathering
information on alternatives, (3) determining the consequences of alternatives, and (4) choosing a
course of action.

1.3 Economic decisions

Outline the range of economic decisions made in the marketplace.

Many (if not most) of the decisions that we make involve the use of economic resources. These are
resources that are traded in the marketplace at a price because they are in limited or scarce supply. Some
decisions are made for consumption purposes, such as what to eat for lunch and which brand of petrol to
buy for the car. Other decisions are made for investment purposes. These decisions usually require major
uses of resources, such as the decision to buy a car or a house. In business, some decisions require the
investment or commitment of many millions of dollars for the purchase of large items of machinery. Still
other decisions are of a financial nature; for example, if a business wants to make an investment decision
to purchase new machinery, a decision must be made to find a source of finance.

However, even though the economic aspects of decisions are very important, other factors must also be
considered, and may be more important than economic factors in a particular circumstance:

personal taste — our decision to buy a certain brand of clothing may be determined on the basis of
preferred appearance or fabrics rather than price

social factors — such as the impact on unemployment in the local community if a business decides to
withdraw from that community

environmental factors — such as the potential for carbon emissions or water pollution

religious and/or moral factors — our decision not to purchase particular types of meat may depend
on religious beliefs

government policy — such as the prohibition of trade in certain types of drugs.

Economic decisions usually involve a flow of money. We may purchase goods for immediate cash
payment, on EFTPOS, or on credit, in which case the flow of money occurs at a later date than the flow of
goods. The use of credit card facilities allows businesses to sell merchandise or provide services to us and
to collect money from our bank, which then charges the cost to our account. Purchase of goods and
services through the use of EFTPOS facilities or through the Internet also allows a business to charge the
cost to our bank account, which means that the flow of money may occur at a different time from the flow
of goods and services.



Individuals and business entities make economic decisions in many different marketplaces. The
marketplace with which we are all familiar is the retail market, where we make decisions as we buy
groceries, mobile devices, cars, home furnishings and electrical goods. Then there is the wholesale market,
where retailers decide to buy their supplies of goods in large quantities from various manufacturers for sale
in their different retail outlets. Another popular market is the stock market, where individuals and business
entities buy and sell shares, debentures and options. Even the flea market is a place where people make
decisions to buy and sell merchandise, some of which they have handcrafted, others of which are second-
hand. Services also are traded in a marketplace.
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BUSINESS KNOWLEDGE

Job demand high in Asia

Qualified accountants have a long history of travelling to the UK and US for the career and lifestyle
experiences on offer. While this trend is still occurring, the global financial downturn has placed Asia in
the spotlight as an international destination of choice for Chartered Accountants due to the variety of
employment opportunities on offer and the lifestyle reasons, and the chance to experience new
cultures in Asia.

Given the ongoing weakness of the US and UK economies, global organisations are far more
confident of investing in Asia than other parts of the world. There is a growing number of
multinationals entering Hong Kong and Singapore, while those with an established presence are
expanding operations to capitalise on opportunities in China. This creates demand for qualified
Chartered Accountants.

China is the economic powerhouse of Asia, and the rate at which multinationals are entering the
market is driving demand for Chartered Accountants in areas such as audit, management accounting
and financial analysis. ‘New career opportunities for professional accountants are abundant, especially
in major cities such as Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou where many multinational companies set up
their offices . . .’ says Jesaline Huang, manager, Michael Page Finance China.

Global companies are also looking to southeast Asia as a core growth market. Singapore is regarded
as a logical business hub with a well-qualified workforce and the required infrastructure to support
international business activities. Government tax incentives have further encouraged multinationals to
set up regional headquarters in Singapore and this is also having a positive effect. The sectors showing
the highest levels of jobs growth are financial services, pharmaceutical and health care. Chartered
Accountants are predominately needed for the international reporting and management of corporate
finance. Opportunities are available for accounting professionals with experience in International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Basel and accounting policy.

As a world-class business centre on the doorstep of China, Hong Kong is of particular strategic
importance for companies looking to capitalise on emerging opportunities in China. Hong Kong also
offers one of the lowest personal tax rates in the world, which is a compelling financial incentive to
work there.

Source: Excerpts from Michael Page International 2011, ‘Job demand high in Asia’, 22 December,
www.charteredaccountants.com.au.

Economic decisions may be made not only in the local marketplace but also in markets in different cities,
states or countries. Many organisations have been prepared to establish places of business not only in the
home country but also in overseas countries.

Hence, whenever an economic decision is to be made, there are many aspects and alternatives to
consider, and this makes the decision-making process a fascinating study in itself. How do people in
business organisations make decisions? What role does accounting play in the decision-making process? If
decision makers are able to gain a certain level of accounting knowledge and understand the concepts and
standards on which accounting information and reports are based, this will help them make more informed
economic decisions, regardless of whether they are engineering, marketing, human resource, or any other
business decision makers. In the scene setter at the start of the chapter, Simone Taylor, as an accountant,


http://www.charteredaccountants.com.au/

has been confronted with making many decisions about the design of reporting systems and structures to
cope with the expansion of the OrotonGroup into Asia and into apparel.

LEARNING CHECK

1 Economic decisions are made for consumption purposes, investment purposes and/or financial
purposes.

] Various factors must be considered when making economic decisions such as: financial aspects,
personal taste, social factors, environmental factors, religious and/or moral factors, and government
policy.

1 Individuals and business entities make economic decisions in many different marketplaces, including
the retail market, the wholesale market and the stock market, both locally, nationally and overseas.

1.4 The nature of accounting

Explain the nature of accounting and its main functions.

Accounting is a service activity. Its function is to provide and interpret financial information that is intended
to be useful in making economic decisions. Business entities, government departments, charitable
organisations and not-for-profit organisations, family units and individuals all engage in economic activity
which involves making decisions about allocating available resources effectively. People need relevant
information to be able to make sound economic decisions.

In a complex society, decision makers have to rely on data supplied by specialists in various fields. For
example, lawyers provide information about the ramifications of existing and changing legislation, and
medical practitioners offer advice about the possible effects of different healthcare decisions. Accounting as
a profession has evolved in response to society’s need for economic information to help people make
economic decisions. The accountant’s main role is to be involved in steps 2 and 3 of the decision-making
process illustrated in figure 1.1 (p. 6), to offer advice regarding step 4, and to measure the outcomes or
consequences of the decision-making process. However, as you will see once you have studied accounting
more closely, much of the information needed to make an economic decision never makes its way into the
accounting records, but exists outside of those records.

Accounting is often called the ‘language of business’. A language is a means of social communication and
involves a flow of information from one person to one or more other people. Everyone involved in business,
from the beginning employee to the top manager, eventually uses accounting information in the decision-
making process. To be effective, the receiver of the information must understand the message that the
sender intends to convey. Accounting uses its own special words and symbols to communicate financial
information that is intended to be useful for economic decision making by managers, shareholders,
creditors and many others. As you study accounting, you must learn the meanings of these words and
symbols if you are to understand the messages contained in financial statements. The end-of-chapter key
terms build up this language progressively as you proceed through the book.

The importance of understanding accounting information is not restricted to those engaged directly in
business. Many people with little knowledge of accounting must interpret accounting data. For example,
lawyers must often understand the meaning of accounting information if they are to represent their clients
effectively, marketing consultants must be aware of the costs of developing advertising campaigns, and
engineers and architects must consider cost data when designing new equipment and buildings. Thus,
accounting plays a significant role in society and, in a broad sense, everyone is affected by accounting
information.

Although accounting techniques are used in all types of economic units, in this book we concentrate
mainly on accounting for business entities. Business owners and managers need information provided by
the accounting system to plan, control and make decisions about their business activities. In addition,
shareholders, creditors, government departments and not-for-profit organisations (such as clubs and
societies) need financial information to help make investing, lending, regulatory and tax-related decisions.



Accounting defined

Accounting has been defined as the process of identifying, measuring, recording and communicating
economic information to permit informed judgements and economic decisions by users of the information.

Identification involves observing economic events and determining which of those events represent
economic activities relevant to a particular business. Selling goods to a customer, paying wages to
employees and providing services to a client are examples of economic activities. Economic events of an
entity are referred to by accountants as transactions, and are of two types, external and internal.
Accountants use the single term transaction to refer to both internal and external transactions.
Transactions constitute the inputs of the accounting information system.

External transactions (often called exchange transactions) are those that involve economic events
between one entity and another entity. When an entity purchases goods from a supplier, borrows money
from a bank, or sells goods and services to customers, it participates in external or exchange transactions.
Internal transactions are those economic events that take place entirely
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within one entity. For example, when a car component is transferred from the stores department to the
assembly line in a car manufacturing business, the transfer must be accounted for, even if it is by simply
transferring the cost of the component from the records of one department to those of the other. Similarly,
the depreciation of machinery used in the production of goods must be accounted for, and since it does not
concern an outside party, it is an internal transaction. Internal transactions may even involve such things as
the growth of grapevines held by the entity or market value of trading securities, because, under certain
accounting standards, the increased value of these items must be recognised in the accounts of the
organisation.

Measurement must take place before the effects of transactions can be recorded. If accounting
information is to be useful, it must be expressed in terms of a common denominator so that the effects of
transactions can be combined. We cannot add apples to oranges unless we express them in terms of a
common measuring unit. In our economy, business activity is measured by prices expressed in terms of
money. Money serves as both a medium of exchange and as a measure of value, allowing us to compare
the value or worth of diverse objects and to add and subtract the economic effects of various transactions.
Accounting transactions are therefore measured and recorded in terms of some monetary unit, such as the
dollar.

Recording provides a history of the economic activities of a particular entity. Recording is the process of
systematically maintaining a file of all transactions which have affected the business entity after they have
been identified and measured. Simply measuring and recording transactions, however, would provide
information of limited use. The recorded data must be classified and summarised to be useful in making
decisions.

Classification allows thousands of transactions to be placed into more meaningful groups or categories.
All transactions involving the sale of goods, for example, can be grouped into one total sales figure and
all transactions involving cash received can be grouped to report a single cash receipt figure.
Summarisation of financial data is presented in reports and financial statements, which are provided for
use by both management and external users of accounting information. These reports usually summarise
the effects of all transactions occurring during some time period such as a month, a quarter or a year.

Communication is the final part of the accounting process. ldentifying, measuring and recording
economic activities are pointless unless the information contained in accounting records can be
communicated in some meaningful form to the potential users of the information. Communication can be
described as the process of preparing and distributing accounting reports to potential users of accounting
information. Once the users of accounting reports have access to appropriate reports, they are able, after
analysing and interpreting the reports, often with the assistance of professional advice, to make informed
economic decisions. The most common forms of accounting reports are the financial statements, which are
introduced in chapter 2.

The accounting process briefly overviewed above can be summarised diagrammatically as shown in figure
1.2.

Figure 1.2 The accounting process



Transactions —— Quantification in —» Recording; — Accounting Analysis
money terms classification; reports —» and
summarisation interpretation

Many people with little knowledge of accounting tend to view it as being limited to the recording process
and do not distinguish clearly between the recording and communicating of accounting data. The
recording or record-keeping process involves measuring and recording business transactions and may
take place in one of several forms: handwritten records, mechanical or electronic devices, or simply
magnetic tapes or disks in a computerised system.

The communication process is a much broader function of accounting. It consists of placing
accounting data that have been classified and summarised into financial statements, as well as preparing
interpretive disclosures necessary to make the data understandable. The process requires extensive
training, business experience and professional judgement.
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Computers have had a significant impact on the recording phase of the accounting process. The
processes of recording, classification and summarisation can be done electronically, and hence the
recording process is much more automated. However, the output from a computerised system is only as
good as the data that is inputted. Full coverage of the manual system is given in this text to help
understand the processes performed by computerised accounting systems. An introduction to computerised
accounting systems is given in chapter 7.

The communication process involves many potential users, and accountants who prepare reports must
have a full appreciation of who the users of the reports are and their needs for accounting information in
order to help them make economic decisions effectively. In this way, the accountant adds significant value
to the running of the organisation.

LEARNING CHECK

1 Accounting is defined as the process of identifying, measuring, recording and communicating
economic information so that people can make informed judgements and decisions about scarce
resources.

] Accounting deals with ‘transactions’, which can be ‘external’ or ‘internal’. External transactions are
those that involve economic events between one entity and other entity. Internal transactions are
those economic events that take place within one entity.

1.5 Users of accounting information

Identify the potential users of accounting information.

Although accountants are involved mainly in the analysis and interpretation of financial data when they
serve as advisers to users of accounting information, the first objective of accounting is to provide
information in reports which can be used by internal and external decision makers.

Managers (internal decision makers) must have financial data for planning and controlling the operations
of the business entity and hence need answers to such questions as:

How much profit is being earned?

What products should be produced?

What resources are available?

What is the most efficient production process?

How much does it cost to reduce carbon emissions from the production process?
What will be the effect of increasing or decreasing selling prices?

How much is owing to outsiders?



Will cash be available to pay debts as they fall due?
What are the benefits of purchasing an asset as opposed to leasing it?

Providing data to help answer these and many other questions is an accounting function generally called
management accounting. The data are presented to management in the form of special purpose
financial statements. These are prepared for users who have specialised needs and who possess the
authority to obtain information to meet those needs. Apart from internal management, including marketing,
production, finance, human resources, research and development, information systems and general
managers, some external users such as banks and government agencies (e.g. Australian Taxation Office)
also have the authority to command the type and nature of the information they require and hence can
demand special purpose reports.

External decision makers such as resource providers (creditors and investors), recipients of goods and
services (customers) and reviewers and overseers of business entities (employers, unions, government
agencies) need accounting information for making decisions concerning granting credit, investing,
purchasing goods and services, and complying with tax laws and other regulatory requirements. Questions
raised by external users include:

Should I invest money in this business?

Am | likely to be paid my wages?

Will the business be able to repay money lent to it?

What are the company’s earnings prospects?

Is the business financially sound?

Is the business providing products that are socially and environmentally friendly?
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Reports prepared for external users include financial statements which generally consist of an income
statement (also called a statement of comprehensive income), a balance sheet (also called a statement of
financial position), a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows. These are often called
general purpose financial statements because they provide general information for use by all external
users.

General purpose financial statements are designed to meet the information needs of a wide range of
users who are unable to command the preparation of reports tailored to satisfy their individual specific
needs for information. Figure 1.3 illustrates the relationship between financial statements/reports and users
of accounting information.

Figure 1.3 Financial statements and users
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LEARNING CHECK

1 Internal decision makers — managers — require special purpose financial statements to help in
planning and controlling the operations of an entity.

1 External decision makers — creditors, investors, customers, employees, unions, government agencies
— receive general purpose financial statements to obtain information about an entity. These are

designed to meet the information needs of a wide range of users who are unable to command the
preparation of statements tailored specifically for their needs.

1.6 Using information in economic decisions

Apply information to make basic economic decisions.

Economic decisions are made in business every day. To illustrate, consider the following business scenario.
Cynthia loves beauty therapy. After several years in retail as a sales assistant, she decides to accept a
redundancy package from her employer and take on a new career. She now has the opportunity to work in

her own beauty business. On investigation, she finds there is an opportunity to set up such a business to
service a number of local suburbs in her area.
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First she will need to invest in the following items of equipment with their estimated costs:

Second-hand van $32 000
Massage tables 2 500
Manicure tables and chairs 1 950
Booking information system 2 600
Facial skin machine 2 150
Manicure and pedicure machines 1 600
Waxing pots 1700
Uniforms 2 000
Towels 2 400
Robes 1 800
Cash register 1 850

$52 550

Therefore, Cynthia needs approximately $53 000 in cash to establish the business.

She is unsure about the running costs of the business, but expects the cost of power, beauty products
and laundry to be about $320 per week. She is hoping to be able to provide services to about ten clients
per day, and to work for 6 days each week. She wants to work only 48 weeks of the year and have 4
weeks holiday. Furthermore, she intends to pay $150 per week to her boyfriend, Fred, for keeping the
records, doing the banking, and helping with some of the maintenance duties. (For the time being, we are
ignoring employer superannuation payments, workers compensation and insurances, but in reality these
would need to be taken into account.) Thus, running costs per week are estimated to be:

Power, beauty products and repairs and maintenance $320
Part-time employee (Fred) 150

$470

Initially, Cynthia expects to have the following numbers of clients for the various services she intends to
provide:

Waxing (under a regular program) 42
Facials, manicures and pedicures (under a regular program) 12
Spray tans (as requested)

Based on this client list, each day she plans to perform waxing services on seven clients, and facials,
manicures and pedicures on two clients. She expects that the waxing will take, on average, 30 minutes per
client; facials, manicures and pedicures will take 1 hour per client; and spray tans will take about 15
minutes per client. The cost of each of the services is:

Waxing $40
Facials, manicures and pedicures 80
Spray tans 10

In each week, the approximate amount of cash received, ignoring spray tan activities which are requested
on an irregular basis, is expected to be:

7 waxes for each of 6 days at $40 each $1 680
2 facials, manicures and pedicures for each of 6 days at $80 each 960
$2 640

This means that her gross annual turnover for the year’s work of 48 weeks is equal to $2640 x 48 =
$126 720, plus spray tan revenue. Because her annual turnover is greater than $50 000, her accountant
tells her that she will have to get an Australian business number (ABN) from the Australian Taxation Office
(ATO) and that she will be required to collect goods and services tax (GST) from each of her clients and
forward the GST to the ATO at regular intervals. Also, the approximate cost she will pay to her accountant
for preparing the annual tax return and GST documents is $1632. On a weekly basis over 48 weeks, this
adds $34 per week ($1632 + 48)

13



for accounting services to the $470 per week calculated previously, a total of $504 per week. (Detailed
consideration of the GST is covered in later chapters. It is assumed in this chapter that the figures quoted
include the GST where applicable.)

Therefore, the expected weekly cash flow, excluding spray tanning revenue, is $2640 less the weekly
costs of $504, equalling $2136. Since Cynthia is so enthusiastic about owning her own beauty salon, after
consultation with Fred she decides to proceed with the business. Thus, a decision is made after considering
how much money she will need to contribute to set up the business (financing activity), the equipment she
will need to buy (investing activity), the running costs of the business and the weekly cash inflow (operating
activity).

Note that the decision is based on the steps illustrated in figure 1.1 — establishing goals (earning a living
while working as a beauty therapist) collecting information about the proposed business, and considering
the future consequences of conducting such a business. Of course, many of the factors considered in
making such a decision are estimates of future events and, hence, there is a need to proceed with caution.
Cynthia would be very wise to keep a careful eye on how well these cash flow estimates approximate
reality.

Particularly important are the financial results. Will the actual weekly performance of Cynthia’s business
live up to the estimated performance? How much impact does the spray tanning service have on the actual
results? Is the waxing service more profitable than the facial, manicure and pedicure service or spray tan
service? When does Cynthia plan to replace the assets she bought at the start? How will she account for
the fact that these assets gradually wear out over time and through use? And how much income tax and
GST will she have to pay? Cynthia may not have considered many of these aspects in making her decision,
and much of this information can be provided by an accountant.

In the next four chapters, we shall consider other examples of service businesses — Minh’'s TV Repairs
and Intellect Management Services — and consider how accounting information can help in the businesses’
operations and decision making. We shall also return to Cynthia’s beauty business and ask further questions
which accounting can help to answer.

LEARNING CHECK

1 Many questions need to be asked when making economic decisions. A decision to set up a business
can be made only after considering things such as how much money will be required to start
(investing activity), what equipment will be needed (investing activity), the running costs of the
business and the weekly net cash inflow (operating activity).

1 Many of the factors considered in making an economic decision are estimates of future events, and
financial results will need to be monitored to see whether the cash flow estimates approximate
reality.

1.7 Accounting information and decisions

Describe the role of accounting information in the decision-making process.

From the example above, we can see that much financial information is needed before an economic
decision is made. But how much of that information is accounting information? Since accounting is
concerned mainly with identifying transactions and recording the financial history of the transactions of an
entity, a major focus of accounting information is on actual financial events, not on future events. However,
knowledge of information about actual events is useful in establishing relationships which are likely to hold
in the future. In other words, for the purpose of decision making, past information is used often as a guide
to future estimates of the consequences of different alternatives.

Accounting information is also very useful in providing decision makers with information about the
outcomes or results of their decisions. Once these outcomes are known and investigated, decision makers
are able to evaluate whether their decisions were correct or whether new decisions are required. The
accountant can help significantly in investigating, interpreting and communicating these results for the
guidance of decision makers. In this way, accountants can add value by pointing out to decision makers any
areas needing attention, where new economic decisions become necessary.
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Nevertheless, the accountant in commerce is also heavily involved in the budgeting process for a business
entity, and therefore in estimating the future plans for the entity. Thus, the work of the accountant in
commerce is not restricted merely to recording a history of the entity’s past. The accountant adds value by
helping the owners and managers of a business in many ways. In some businesses, the accountant has the
title ‘information manager’ or ‘finance manager’.

The information needs of managers are quite different from those of parties external to the entity. By
definition, a manager is anyone in an organisation responsible for the work of other people who report to
the manager for direction and support. The managers in a given organisation are collectively called its
management.

LEARNING CHECK

1 A major focus of accounting information is on actual financial events, not on future events, and
therefore accounting does not provide all information needed for making an economic decision.

1 Accountants are often heavily involved in the budgeting process for a business entity, and in
estimating the financial data for the future plans of the entity, so the accountant adds value by
helping owners and managers in many ways.

1.8 Management and financial accounting

Compare accounting information for management and external users.

What is management accounting?

Management accounting (also referred to as managerial accounting) is that area of accounting
concerned with providing financial and other information to all levels of management in an organisation to
enable them to carry out their planning, controlling and decision-making responsibilities. The accountants
responsible for providing this information are known as management accountants. Management accounting
is used in all forms of organisations — for-profit and not-for-profit organisations; sole traders, partnerships
and companies; retailing, manufacturing and service businesses; government; and charities.

Management accounting covers many activities, including cost behaviour and cost—-volume—profit
relationships, decision making through incremental analysis, capital budgeting, budgeting for financial
planning and control, flexible budgeting for performance evaluation, the determination of manufacturing
costs and costing systems, and accounting and reporting for business segment operations.

What is financial accounting?

Financial accounting is concerned with reporting information to users external to an entity in order to
help them to make sound economic decisions about the entity’s performance and financial position. The
financial accountant is heavily involved in the determination of an entity’s overall financial performance
(profits or losses), its financial position, financing and investing activities (which include raising and
investing money), and information as to whether the entity is complying with the requirements of the law.
The financial accountant must be well trained in the regulatory arrangements affecting various entities;
such regulations include accounting standards, auditing standards, the law relating to corporations and
other types of organisations, and the law relating to taxation (including income tax, fringe benefits tax and
GST). Through financial accounting, an entity discharges its financial reporting obligations and other
corporate governance responsibilities to the community at large.

Management accounting versus financial accounting

Management accounting can be distinguished from financial accounting in a number of ways: by reference
to (1) the main users of the reports, (2) the types of reports produced, (3) the frequency of reports,



(4) the content and format of reports, and (5) external verification. Table 1.1 summarises the
differences between management accounting and financial accounting.
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Table 1.1 Differences between management accounting and financial accounting

Users of reports

Types of reports

Frequency of
reports

Content and
format of reports

External
verification

Management accounting
Users are inside the entity:

managers
chief executive officers
general managers
account managers
sales managers

Special purpose financial statements General purpose financial

for internal users:

« financial budgets

sales forecasts

performance reports
cost-of-production reports
incremental analysis reports

Do not have to comply with accounting
standards

On-demand reports — daily, weekly,
monthly — as requested by management
to help with decision making

e Management establishes own
guidelines for structure, content and
type of information (financial and
non-financial); structure and
classification of reports are tailored
to specific needs of decisions to be
made

e Reports can relate to particular
segments of an entity or to a
particular decision

Special purpose financial statements are
not required to be audited, but
management may want verification of the
contents by internal auditors

Financial accounting

Users are outside the entity:

shareholders
lenders

potential investors
creditors
customers
government
interest groups

statements for external users:

¢ balance sheet

e jncome statement

o statement of changes in equity
e statement of cash flows

Required by regulatory authorities; must
comply with accounting standards

Income tax legislation, the corporations
law and securities exchange listing rules
require reports at regular intervals

e Structure and content are largely
standardised with certain disclosures
dictated by accounting standards

e Statements generally contain
historical, verifiable data

o Reflect the results of the entity as a
whole, thus contain much
aggregation, summarisation and
restricted classification

» Based on the formal double-entry
system (see chapters 3-7)

General purpose financial statements
must be audited by independent external
auditors who verify that the statements
are in compliance with accounting
standards and provide a true and fair
view of the performance and financial
position of the entity

LEARNING CHECK

1 A management accountant provides information to all levels of management in an organisation.
Management accounting includes cost behaviour, capital budgeting, financial planning and control,
determination of manufacturing costs and costing systems, and accounting and reporting for the
activities of business segments.

1 A financial accountant is concerned with reporting information to senior management and users



external to an entity so they can make sound economic decisions about the entity. Financial
accounting is concerned with the entity’s overall financial performance, its financial position, its
financing and investing activities, and whether the entity is complying with the law.

1.9 Accounting as a profession — Australian
perspective

Summarise how the accounting profession is organised in Australia.

Accounting has developed as a profession over the past hundred years or so, attaining a status equivalent
to that of law and medicine. The profession in Australia is self-regulating and there are three professional
associations of accountants — CPA Australia, Institute of Chartered Accountants
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in Australia (ICAA) and the Institute of Public Accountants (IPA) — of which you can become a member.
There are many other professional associations of accountants (e.g. Malaysian Institute of Accountants,
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA), New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants
(NZICA)). Consistent with the globalisation of business, many of these associations operate globally to
service their members in various countries. For example, CPA Australia has offices throughout Australia,
Asia and also in London. Even if you are a member of a professional accounting association, there are
certain additional legislative requirements to provide particular services. For example, it is necessary to
register as a company auditor in order to practise auditing for a company. People providing taxation
services for a fee in Australia are required under taxation law to be registered as tax agents with the Tax
Practitioners Board, an agency of the Australian Government.

Entry to the Australian professional accounting bodies varies. The traditional entry pathway is to hold a
degree or postgraduate accounting qualification from a tertiary institution accredited for entry purposes by
the particular professional body. Before full membership status is granted, additional accounting
professional studies must be undertaken in addition to having practical experience and/or participation in a
mentoring program. Upon completion, a member is then referred to as a certified practising accountant
or CPA in CPA Australia, or as a chartered accountant or CA in the ICAA, or a member or MIPA in the
IPA. CAs and CPAs are required to undertake a certain level of continuing professional development
activities each year to maintain their level of membership. For further information on the membership
pathways and requirements, visit the website of CPA Australia (www.cpaaustralia.com.au), the ICAA’s
website (www.charteredaccountants.com.au), and the IPA’'s website (www.publicaccountants.org.au).

Accountants generally practise in three main areas: public accounting, commercial accounting and not-
for-profit accounting.

LEARNING CHECK

1 The accounting profession in Australia is self-regulating and is largely controlled by three major
professional associations of accountants — the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
(ICAA), CPA Australia and the Institute of Public Accountants (IPA). Entry to these bodies requires
the possession of an appropriate qualification, further study and practical experience.

1.10 Public accounting versus commercial
accounting

Mool Identify the different areas of the economy in which accountants work.


http://www.cpaaustralia.com.au/
http://www.charteredaccountants.com.au/
http://www.publicaccountants.org.au/

Public accounting

Public accountants run businesses which offer their professional services to the public for a fee. These vary
from small businesses to very large international organisations with several thousand employees. Because
of the complexity of today’s business structure and increasing regulation by government, members of public
accounting businesses tend to specialise in one of four general services: auditing and assurance services,
taxation services, advisory services, and insolvency and administration.

Auditing and assurance services

Auditing has traditionally been the main service offered by most public accounting businesses. An audit is
an independent examination of a business entity’s financial statements, supporting documents and records
in order to form an opinion as to whether they comply with certain levels of quality, as specified in
accounting standards, and present a true and fair view of the entity’s performance and financial position.
Banks and other lending institutions often require an audit by an independent accountant before making a
loan to a business. Companies that offer their shares for sale normally prepare a set of audited financial
statements, and annual audited statements must be presented thereafter if the shares are traded through a
stock exchange. External users who rely on financial statements in decision making place considerable
emphasis on the auditor's report. It is essential, therefore, that auditors are independent observers in
carrying out their duties.
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These traditional audit services are changing — the role of the auditor is becoming one of providing
‘assurance services’. Assurance services are defined as ‘independent professional services that improve

the quality of information, or its context, for decision makers’.1 This change in role is driven largely by the
availability of online real-time information which results in less demand for historical information. More
emphasis is being placed on the detection of fraud and commenting on whether the entity has sustainable
practices and is appropriately placed to remain as a going concern. The auditor is required to report on the
‘credibility’ of information.

Examples of assurance services in which auditors are becoming involved include:

assessment of risk — evaluates whether an entity has appropriate systems in place to effectively
manage business risk

business performance measurement — evaluates whether an entity’s accounting system contains
measures to assess the degree to which an entity is achieving its goals and objectives, and how the
entity’s performance compares with its competitors

information systems reliability — assesses whether the entity’s accounting system provides reliable
information for making economic decisions

electronic commerce — assesses whether electronic commerce systems provide appropriate data
integrity, security, privacy and reliability

sustainability audits — independent assessment of compliance with environmental requirements and
the assessment of risks and preventative or corrective actions. For example, the assurance of carbon

emissions and water reporting?
health care and care of the elderly — provides assurance on the effectiveness of health care and
elderly care facilities provided by hospitals, nursing homes, and other carers.

Taxation services

Few economic decisions are made without considering the tax consequences. Accountants provide advice
concerning the tax consequences of business decisions. Individuals and business entities have to collect or
pay various forms of taxes including income tax, capital gains tax, fringe benefits tax, goods and services
tax, local government rates, and other taxes. Accountants are often engaged to help in tax planning to
minimise the tax liability of the business, consistent with the rules and regulations established by taxing
agencies. Accountants also are often called on to prepare tax returns, including business activity statements
(BASs), required by law. To offer such services, accountants must be thoroughly familiar with tax laws and
regulations. They must also keep up to date with changes in tax law and court cases concerned with
interpreting tax law, which occur frequently. As many businesses now operate globally, detailed knowledge



of the tax laws of many overseas countries is also useful.

Advisory services

Although audit and tax services have traditionally been the main activities of public accountants, advisory
services are very important today. Accountants provide advice on overcoming detected defects or problems
in a client’'s accounting system. Public accountants offer a wide range of advisory services, including advice
on such events as installation of computer systems, production systems and quality control; installation or
modification of accounting systems; budgeting, forecasting and general financial planning; design or
modification of superannuation plans; company mergers and takeovers; personal financial planning; and
advice for clients in managing deceased estates.
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As a result of several well-publicised corporate collapses between 2000 and 2002, it has been argued that
auditors may not be independent from their client firms. Hence, the Australian Government has taken steps
to address this lack of independence in fact or appearance by introducing rules related to providing non-
audit services to a client firm and the rotation of auditors. Auditors are required by law to be independent
of the client and must declare their independence annually. Audit firms must also disclose all of the non-
audit services provided to their client firms. Furthermore, auditors of companies should be rotated every 5
years, and there should be a 2-year delay before a former auditor can become an officer of an audited

client.2 In some countries (e.g. United States), an audit firm is prohibited from providing both audit services
and non-audit services to client firms.

Insolvency and administration

Public accountants are also employed in helping businesses with trading difficulties. Some businesses have
difficulty in paying their short-term debts as they fall due, which means that they are becoming illiquid. If
an entity cannot pay its long-term debts, the entity is said to be insolvent. Public accountants are
employed to help businesses administer their recovery from trading difficulties or insolvency, if possible.
However, if recovery is not possible, accountants then assist in the winding-up of the business’s affairs. In
the case of the company form of business organisation, such a wind-up is referred to as liquidation.

Accountants in commerce and industry

Many accountants are employed in business entities, such as Simone Taylor in the chapter scene setter.
The entity’s chief financial officer (CFO) has overall responsibility for directing the activities of accounting
personnel. In a large company, the CFO may have several assistants, each with assigned responsibility for
various accounting functions. These accountants are commonly referred to as management accountants.

General accounting

One function of the accountant in commerce and industry is to oversee the recording of transactions
undertaken by the business entity and to prepare reports specially tailored for use by management in their
planning, control and decision-making activities. The transaction data must be classified and summarised
appropriately for the preparation of financial statements for external distribution. It is difficult to draw a
clear line of distinction between general accounting and the other phases of commercial accounting because
the accounting data recorded from transactions form the basic database from which other phases draw
relevant information for planning, controlling, decision-making and reporting purposes.

Cost accounting

Cost accounting deals with the collection, allocation and control of the costs of producing specific
products and services. Knowledge of the cost of each manufacturing process and each service activity is
important in making sound business decisions. If management wants to know whether the production and
sale of a product or service is profitable, it must know the cost of that product or service. Large
manufacturing entities have employed several accountants in their cost accounting departments over time,



but with the increased use of accounting packages in business, much of the routine work of capturing
accounting information is now carried out by computerised information systems.

Accounting information systems

Commercial accountants also may be heavily involved in designing both manual and computerised
accounting information systems. Once systems have been designed and installed, their operation is
constantly monitored for improvements and system maintenance. Developments have occurred in the
design of accounting systems for e-commerce. Integrity of data and privacy issues are of paramount
importance.
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Budgeting

Budgeting is the phase of accounting that deals with the preparation of a plan or forecast of future
operations. Its main function is to provide management with a projection of the activities necessary to
reach established goals. Budgets are generally prepared for the business entity as a whole as well as for
subunits. They serve as control devices when used in conjunction with performance reports, which measure
actual results for the period. Budgets also are used in assessing the efficiency of operations.

Taxation accounting

Businesses are assessed for a variety of taxes — including income tax, capital gains tax, GST and fringe
benefits tax — all of which require the preparation of periodic reports to the various taxing agencies. Tax
effects must be considered in every investment and financing decision made by management. Although
many businesses rely on public accountants for some tax-planning advice and tax-return preparation, many
large companies also maintain a tax accounting department to deal with day-to-day tax accounting issues
and problems.

Internal auditing and audit committees

To supplement the annual audit by the external auditor, many organisations also maintain an internal
audit department. Its main function is to conduct ongoing reviews to make certain that established
procedures and policies are being followed. Thus, any deficiencies can be identified and corrected quickly.
An efficient internal audit process can also reduce the time required by the external auditors in conducting
their annual audit, often producing significant cost savings.

During the 1990s, many companies in Australia established an audit committee, often in response to
growing public pressure for greater accountability by management brought on by several major corporate
collapses. The existence of an audit committee was made mandatory in some overseas countries, e.g. the

United States, Canada and Singapore, but not in Australia.* In Australia, the Australian Securities Exchange
has insisted that companies disclose in their annual reports whether they have an audit committee, and if
not, explain why.

An audit committee acts as a corporate governance device in order to:

safeguard the independence of the internal audit process

ensure continual improvement in management performance and accountability by seeking any necessary

action as a result of adverse reports provided by internal and external auditors.

To be effective, audit committees are encouraged to have a long-term strategy as a means of ensuring
that an entity’s overall financial plans are put into action. In this way, members of the audit committee can

have an important role to play as part of an organisation’s management team.>

Not-for-profit accounting

Another area of activity employing many accountants is not-for-profit accounting. City councils, shire
councils, state governments and the federal government collect and spend large amounts of money
annually. Elected and appointed officials have ultimate responsibility for the collection and efficient use of



the resources under their control. Many of the problems and decisions faced by government officials are the
same as those encountered in private industry, but accounting for not-for-profit entities may require a
different approach in some respects because of the absence of a profit motive. Government accounting is
concerned with the efficient use of its resources, consistent with the provisions of city, shire, state and
federal laws. Other not-for-profit organisations (churches, hospitals, charities, clubs, private educational
institutions) also have specialised accounting needs.

So far, this chapter has presented a basic introduction to decision making and to the nature of
accounting, its purpose and its fields of specialisation. Accounting is applicable to all types of economic
entities, including not-for-profit entities, which engage in making economic decisions. The rest of this book,
however, concentrates largely on accounting methods used for making economic decisions in business
entities that have a profit motive. Nevertheless, throughout the book, selected exercises and problems
applicable to not-for-profit entities are provided.
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LEARNING CHECK

1 Accountants generally practise in three main areas:

— public accounting — offering services to the public, such as auditing and assurance, taxation,
financial advice, and insolvency and administration

— commercial accounting — where accountants are employed by business entities, and are involved
in general accounting, cost accounting, accounting information systems, budgeting, taxation, and
internal auditing

— not-for-profit accounting — the absence of the profit motive often requires a different accounting
approach; for example, government accounting is concerned with the efficient use of resources
consistent with the provisions of laws.

1.11 Ethics and accounting

Mol Identify the importance of ethics in business and accounting and how to recognise
and handle ethical dilemmas as part of the decision-making process.

In the 1990s, ethics and moral behaviour in business received a great deal of attention from the media,
professional associations and regulatory bodies, particularly those concerned with the operation of
companies and the conduct of company directors. The early 2000s in Australia saw the collapse of a
number of large business and financial institutions, causing huge monetary losses and hardship to
shareholders and policy holders. Incidences of such collapses continue today. This has increased the
pressure from the community to improve the ethics of all people working in business. Most professional
bodies have laid down some form of code of ethical and moral behaviour.

BUSINESS KNOWLEDGE

Survey finds most SMEs shun professional advice, possibly at their peril

SME owners favour ‘gut instinct’ above all, rank accountants most trusted external adviser.

Small business owners are prone to a ‘lone wolf’ approach in decision-making, with the vast majority
much more likely to trust their own instincts over advice from family and friends, their business partner
and even most professional advisers, according to new research.

The findings are based on a survey of more than 1000 Australian owners of small-to-medium
enterprises (SMEs) commissioned by accounting software provider CCH, a unit of global information
services group Wolters Kluwer.

With ABS data showing that more than half of small businesses in Australia do not survive beyond
their first four years, the CCH survey revealed a cavalier attitude among SME owners toward the value
of professional business advice.



Only 26% of respondents considered the failure to seek professional advice to be a factor in business
failure, while 70% trusted their ‘gut instinct’ over any professional advice.

When pressed on which external adviser they trusted most, SME operators nominated their
accountant ahead of their financial planner, business partner or lawyer. They were least likely to turn
to their family and friends for financial and business advice.

CEO of Wolters Kluwer Asia Pacific, Russell Evans, said the findings suggested SME operators
guarded independence of decision-making closely, but could be too willing to back their own instincts
ahead of sound professional advice.

‘It's not surprising a small business owner will micromanage, especially in the early stages of their
business life, but this should not be at the expense of being open to advice from trusted professionals,’
he said.

In contrast to the response from SME owners, a separate CCH survey of more than 210 accountants
servicing small businesses ranked bad business models as the main reason SMEs fail. This view is
backed up by ASIC data on 5600 business failures in 2011-12, showing poor strategic management to
be the most common cause of failure (19%), with another 15% of failures attributed to poor financial
control. CCH's survey found SME owners typically open up to the advice of their accountant as their
businesses grow. SME owners with a higher turnover ($1m+) were more likely to consider their
accountant as their most trusted adviser, not only for transactional accounts but for advice on business
growth, than owners of businesses with turnover under $1 million. Older SME owners were also more
likely to rank their accountant as their most trusted adviser (47% of owners aged 50+ compared to
31% of owners aged 18 to 34).

Source: CCH 2013, ‘Survey finds most SMEs shun professional advice, possibly at their peril’, 11 April, www.cch.com.au.
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Ethics in business

Most businesses today appreciate the importance of ethical behaviour in all their business dealings. In order
for a business entity to function effectively, all people working in the entity have to be honest, abide by the
rules and ‘do the right thing’. If managers, owners, employees and customers regularly deceived one
another, told lies, falsified records and did not conform to the rules, the entity must eventually collapse and
cease to exist. A high standard of ethical behaviour is thus in the long-term interest of business entities.

It is sound economic policy to have a business highly regarded by the whole business community for its
reputation for honest and straight dealings, quality products and service. Most of the highly successful
businesses today are noted generally for their high ethical standards of business. Financial statements are
one of the many control mechanisms designed to assess the accountability of management and protect the
interests of parties who have an interest in the performance of a particular business entity. The reports
enable an evaluation to be made of a company’s management performance, and provide information on the
establishment of contracts, business dealings and resource allocations. The audit and assurance services
function of accounting also represents a controlling influence in maintaining ethical behaviour in business
entities.

Ethics and professional accounting bodies

The standing of the profession and individuals within the profession depends on the highest level of ethical
conduct by members. The professional accounting bodies in Australia have recognised this, and in 2006
both CPA Australia and the Institute of Chartered Accountants established an independent body called the
Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board Limited (APESB) to set and maintain a code of ethics by
which accountants who are members of these bodies must comply. More recently, the Institute of Public
Accountants has also become a member of the APESB. According to the website of the APESB
(www.apesb.org.au) the APESB's vision is to be recognised by their stakeholders for their leading
contribution in achieving the highest level of professional and ethical behaviour in the accounting
profession. To achieve this vision, the APESB will:

issue professional and ethical standards that are integral to the Australian accounting profession


http://www.cch.com.au/
http://www.apesb.org.au/

be innovative in engaging key stakeholders, including professional accountants and the public
influence the international standards agenda
advocate for professionalism and ethical conduct to drive the behaviour of accountants.

The professional and ethical standards include but are not limited to:

code of ethics for professional accountants
miscellaneous professional statements and joint guidance notes
such other ethical issues or similar matters of interest in respect of the accounting profession.

The code of ethics establishes the fundamental principles of professional ethics and provides a conceptual
framework for applying those principles. Members of the professional accounting bodies are expected to
adhere to various aspects of professional accounting activities, including competence; conformity with the
law, accounting standards, and auditing and assurance standards; confidentiality of client information; and
independence.

Ethics in practice

As a graduate, you will undoubtedly enter the business world as an accountant, an employee, a manager, a
marketer, a consumer, or in some other capacity. As a future professional in the business world it is
important that you appreciate the importance of ethical behaviour, have an appreciation of ethical issues
and dilemmas that may arise, are able to analyse the consequences of unethical behaviour, can identify the
stakeholders (i.e. those who are affected by the unethical behaviour), and can identify the correct course of
action to follow.

The ability to choose the correct course of action always, and being seen to be ‘doing the right thing’
always, will not necessarily be easy. In the world of business, many personal and business pressures are
experienced which make ethical behaviour a considerable challenge. There are no widely held, generally
accepted codes of ethics or rules of ethical business behaviour. The resolution of ethical issues and
dilemmas is greatly influenced by personal attitudes,
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personal problems and personal financial problems, pressure within the workplace (e.g. superior—
subordinate relationships and peer pressure), and the pressure of meeting deadlines.

In order to provide practice in analysing, evaluating and resolving ethical issues that may arise in the
workplace, an ethical case is included at the end of many chapters in this book. In analysing these cases,
you will be required to identify the ethical issue(s) involved, resolve the issues by analysing the key
elements involved, including who are the major stakeholders who stand to benefit or be disadvantaged by
the situation, and then select the appropriate course of action. In some cases there will be one obvious
correct resolution — in others there may be a number of ethical resolutions which may require further
analysis to arrive at the most ethical outcome.

An examination of the significance of ethical issues that challenge professional accounting bodies is

studied by Jackling et al. (2007).6 The study assesses the perceptions via an online survey of 66
professional accounting bodies worldwide in respect of ethical issues, potential causes of ethical failure and
the need for ethics education. Key ethical risks suggested are:

self interest

failure to maintain objectivity and independence
improper leadership and poor organisational culture
lack of ethical courage to do what is right

lack of ethical sensitivity

failure to exercise proper professional judgement.

The important challenges identified by respondents include conflicts of interest, earnings management
and whistleblowing. The survey findings also suggest strong support for participation in prescribing the
nature of ethics education by members of professional accounting bodies and the importance of teaching
ethics, in addition to technical skills, in accounting curriculum.

LEARNING CHECK

1 A high standard of ethical behaviour is in the long-term interests of business entities. Financial



reports are one of the many control mechanisms designed to assess the accountability of
management.

1 The professional accounting bodies in Australia have set down rules of professional conduct for
members which prescribe high standards of practice in many areas including competency,
compliance with the law and accounting standards and auditing and assurance standards,
confidentiality and independence.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. You are considering buying an apartment. Outline the information you would like to assist you to make
this decision. Identify how much of this information is accounting information.

2. Simone Taylor (in the scene setter, p. 3) is involved in helping to make many different types of
decisions as part of her employment. List examples of the types of consumption, investment and
financing decisions she would be involved with.

Accounting is described as the language of business, and everyone is affected by the business world.

Discuss if everyone should be required to study accounting.

Describe the differences between accounting information and other information.

‘Accounting is irrelevant in decision making because the information it provides relates only to the past.’

Evaluate this remark.

Describe how you would identify if a financial statement is a special purpose financial statement or a

general purpose financial statement.

Users of accounting information can be identified as internal and external users. List examples of users

in each category and the type of information they require.

Distinguish between the work performed by public accountants and the work performed by accountants

in commerce and industry and in not-for-profit organisations.

List some of the fields (other than financial reporting) that have opened up to accountants in recent

years.

10. Regulators are concerned with external auditors providing advisory services to a client at the same time
as providing auditing services to that client. Explain why this is a concern.

11. Discuss the actions taken by regulators in Australia, the United States and China to address auditor
independence concerns.

12. ‘When one examines the distinctive and different functions of financial and management accounting, it
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is obvious that to maximise the usefulness of the information derived, two systems of accounting are
necessary. It does not matter how large or small the entity is, it is just common sense that one system
cannot do the job.” (An assertion made by a recent management graduate.) Evaluate this assertion.
13. Describe what it means to behave ethically.
14. ‘Accounting is all about numbers’. Evaluate.

EXERCISES

INFORMATION FOR DECISIONS

lan Boardman has been appointed as the loans officer for the local community bank. One day, a person
walks into the bank looking for a loan to buy a new car. List six items about that individual that lan should
find out before deciding whether to approve the loan. Classify these items as ‘economic’ or other (specify).
Which type of information is more important for the purposes of good decision making?

NCUIR W INFORMATION FOR DECISIONS

Tran Qu’s family lives in Beijing, China. She has been accepted into a university course in Sydney, and has
to find accommodation in the city within walking distance of the university, or at least be close to public
transport. She searches the Internet to find suitable accommodation and comes across the following
apartment:

CBD $525 pw

Great unfurnished one bedroom apartment in

Maestri Towers. Send an enquiry via the email

agent button to access the booking page to

schedule an inspection time. Bond is $2120.
Required

A. Discuss how this information may help Tran make a decision.
B. List additional information Tran would need before deciding whether to rent this apartment.

INFORMATION FOR DECISIONS

Renee Carter has decided to study medicine at a university in Melbourne. She has arranged to stay with a
family on the north side of the city. In order to get to and from the university, she decides

24
she will need to buy a car, costing a maximum of $10 000. She searches the Internet and comes across the

following at Car City:
MAZDA 323 Red, 4D Sedan; 5 SP Manual;
2.0 Ltr, 4 cycl; odometer 153 293.

Required

A. Evaluate how useful this information is in arriving at a decision.

B. List extra information that Renee should ascertain before deciding whether to buy this car.

C. Assume that Renee does purchase the car, and subsequently finds that the car has mechanical
problems which will require $2000 to fix. Discuss what she should do, given that she does not have
enough money to pay for the repairs.

D. Hypothesise as to how ethical the community regards used car salespeople.

CHOOSING A UNIVERSITY MAJOR

You have just enrolled in a course in business at the Western University. There are several specialty areas,
one of which you must choose — accounting, business law, economics, finance, management, marketing,
information systems. The choice you make is important as it will affect your future; hence, you must give



careful thought to this decision.
Required

A. ldentify two possible specialty areas in business that interest you.

B. Set down your goals and personal preferences in selecting a business major. Identify the factors

which will help you make this decision, and specify the factors which are most important to you.

C. Establish a set of criteria which must be met before making a decision about your appropriate
specialty area.
D. Determine the sources of information you will need to make such a decision.

CUOREE N MAKING AN ECONOMIC DECISION

You have decided that now is the time to buy a new laptop. List the factors that are important in choosing
a new laptop and gather relevant information from various sources about different models on the market.
Given that you have a maximum of $1600 to spend, identify which model you would buy and discuss the
reasons for your choice. Present your answer so as to illustrate the steps required in the decision-making
process as discussed in this chapter.

SCI-IMM FACTORS IN MAKING A BUSINESS DECISION LO 2, 3

Consult the business section of a local newspaper, or The Australian Financial Review, or a business
journal, such as Business Review Weekly (BRW ), and find an appropriate article detailing an important
business decision that has been made in the last month. Based on the article, determine the factors that
were taken into account in arriving at the decision. Discuss the effects that such a decision will have on
various interested parties or stakeholders.

SCIARMAN FACTORS IN MAKING A GOVERNMENT DECISION LO 2, 3

Consult a local newspaper, The Australian Financial Review, or a business journal, such as BRW, and
find an appropriate article detailing an important federal government decision in the last month. Based on
the article, determine the factors that were taken into account in arriving at the decision. Discuss the
effects that such a decision will have on various interested parties or stakeholders.

CUOLEE R ECONOMIC DECISIONS MADE BY MANAGEMENT

Accounting provides much information to help managers make economic decisions in their various
workplaces.
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Required
List examples of economic decisions that the following people would need to make with the use of
accounting information:

a marketing manager

a production manager

the Chief Executive Officer of a national football league

the manager of a second-hand clothing charity.

DGR CHOOSING AN ACCOUNTING CAREER LO 10

After reading the chapter, discuss the areas in which accountants work, and indicate which area(s) you find
most interesting and/or familiar. If you intend to pursue a career in any one of these areas of accounting,
discuss the types of decisions and advice that you believe you will be involved in making and giving.

=G I-IMEON SETTING UP A BUSINESS LO 2, 6

Luigi and Gina Cicello have decided to lease some newly built premises for the purpose of opening a
seafood outlet. They intend to provide a wide range of different products, including a variety of seafood for
sale and take-away fish and chips.

Required



Discuss the types of economic decisions they will be required to make, and the information they will need
to make those decisions. Distinguishing non-economic and economic information, identify non-economic
decisions that they will also be required to make. Discuss why Luigi and Gina may require the services of an
accountant.

SCI I BECOMING AN ACCOUNTANT LO 9

Read the article from InTheBlack below and answer the questions below.
Required
A. Compare the entry requirements to become a full member of CPA Australia, Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia and the Institute of Public Accountants. Identify the commonalities and
differences.
B. Discuss why the professional accounting bodies would have different entry requirements.
C. Identify what qualifications are required to:

1. be a company auditor
2. be a public accountant
3. be a financial adviser
4. prepare tax returns.

New pathways to business success

As you may know, our 2009-2011 corporate plan established the importance of having a globally
competitive CPA Program and broadened entry pathways. With this in mind, CPA Australia has for a
long while now been working on making the CPA Program more focused and competitive and
appropriately opening up entry routes to becoming a CPA Australia member. Last month CPA
Australia celebrated the launch of the new entry pathways to the CPA designation along with the
revised CPA Program. These changes will create more opportunities for potential members to attain
the CPA Australia designation and become part of one of the world’s largest accounting bodies.

The revised CPA Program syllabus addresses the needs of employers and will provide candidates
with a highly valued and global designation. The program is a rigorous education and experience
program. It consists of 14 subjects along
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with integrated workplace learning. CPA Australia has maintained the same high standards of
competence that have always been required to achieve the CPA designation.

The new pathways to membership will welcome people who want a career built on professional
accounting skills — in Australia and around the globe — and who have the desire, appropriate level of
competence, and the professionalism and integrity to carry the CPA Australia designation. In addition
to recognising the prior learning and experience that potential members bring, we are providing more
options for graduates from other disciplines and for candidates with gaps in their core knowledge to
work towards becoming a CPA. This means that more aspiring business leaders will now be able to
become members of our professional body. It is important, however, to note that to attain CPA status
candidates must complete the Professional Level within six years of starting the CPA program and
hold an eligible degree or higher education award.

The changes will enable us to become more relevant globally while retaining the highest
professional standards and the quality of the CPA designation. And, importantly, they take us a step
forward in the aim of realising our organisational vision: for CPA Australia to be the global
professional accountancy designation for strategic business leaders.

Against the backdrop of an increasingly competitive global marketplace we must work harder and
smarter than ever to realise this vision. The new entry pathways are vital to ensuring that the CPA
Australia designation continues to be recognised by key stakeholders as a valuable asset.

Source: Petty, R 2009, ‘New pathways to business success’, InTheBlack, August, p. 7.



SCI-IZll CONDUCT IN BUSINESS LO 11

Read the following prelude to NIKE's Code of Ethics by the President of NIKE, Inc. and discuss the points
that follow.

Inside the Lines: The NIKE Code of Ethics

At Nike, we are on the offense, always. We play hard, we play to win, and we play by the rules of the
game.

This Code of Ethics is vitally important. It contains the rules of the game for NIKE, the rules we live
by and what we stand for. Please read it. And if you've read it before, read it again. Then take some
time to think about what it says and make a commitment to play by it. Defining the NIKE playing field
ensures no matter how dynamic and challenging NIKE may be, our actions and decisions fit with our
shared values.

Thanks for your commitment.

Source: NIKE 2011, Inside the lines: The NIKE code of ethics — Defining the NIKE, Inc. playing field and the rules
of the game, http://investors.nikeinc.com.

Required

A. Check if there is a code of ethics to guide your behaviour as a student at your university.

B. Identify if the university that you are attending has a course on ethics in accounting or in business.

Also find out whether this ethics course (if it exists) is compulsory in your degree.

C. If such a course exists, list the types of issues discussed in the course.

D. Referring to ‘Inside the Lines’ NIKE, Inc.’s code of ethics governing the conduct of all employees,
identify the values employees should operate by as part of the NIKE team.
Assume that you are employed by NIKE Inc. Referring to the company’s code of ethics, discuss how
the code would guide your behaviour in the following situations:

1. A retailer offers you an all-expenses paid holiday if he can have a special price on a runner soon

to be released.
2. You are aware that NIKE is shortly to announce a profit increase for the most recent reporting
period and think that it would be a good time to sell some of your NIKE shares.

m
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SCI{ARSIMMRCE EXPANDING THE ROLE OF THE ACCOUNTANT LO 10

Read the following article from Business Review Weekly by Anthony Bell, the owner of Bell Partners, an
accountancy firm, and answer the questions that follow.

Innovation and trust

Right from the start of my career, | felt the incredible urge to do something that was different to that
I had witnessed and personally experienced in the accounting profession.

| started my career in the early '90s and it was evident accounting was perceived to be a
profession that spent most of its time and energy recording history, not making history.

Accountants and my university training were orientated towards the preparation of balance sheets
and profit and loss statements or auditing historical financial reports.

While there was still a strong place for this (and there always will be) the opportunity for the future
seemed to be creating an accounting firm that could apply its knowledge to business growth advisory,
asset protection and profit improvement to name but a few.

It was this that | thought would be the next innovation in the accounting profession. Accountants
were not really in the space of wealth creation and wealth advisory, they were leaving that service to
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other less qualified professionals, which also did not make much sense.

The new wave of accounting firm | wanted to be a part of was able to be entrepreneurial in its
advice to its clients and provide cutting edge investment and wealth creation strategies.

Knowledge was always going to be the key to delve into this new era of accounting; however, |
was aware that while our training at university and at the chartered accountants level was valuable,
knowledge had to be found elsewhere.

And that source was my clients.

On the basis that success leaves clues, what better place to learn how to grow businesses, which
structures worked and which structures didn’t and brand and asset protection mechanisms than from
my clients.

I became a sponge while working for my clients, learning the disciplines and traits that could assist
my knowledge base — learning from the successes and mistakes that had been made real time.

I was blessed to represent at a young age some of the country’s best known businesses and
entrepreneurs and they became the source of our knowledge to apply for years to come.

The thing that | was hungry for was new work. At the start we had no budget for marketing or
advertising to access new work.

Yet, the great clients | already had would also provide us with access to potentially new great
clients.

So the commitment to my current clients was to do more than | got paid for, deliver better than
expected results and provide a level of service that differentiated us from our competitors in the
industry.

If I could get these three things right, the new clients that | would be hungry to act for would come
by direct referral from the great people | already acted for.

All these years later, our growth is still achieved in the same way. After all, the only way to find out
if your work is truly valued is by whether your clients are prepared, without prompting, to refer you
on to their own business contacts as a trusted adviser.

Anyone can buy a client, there are always lots of firms for sale but | was of the view that if you had
to do that, you weren’'t measuring or achieving growth the way you’re meant to, which is organically.

The things | studied hard were the laws of attraction that would lead to growth. I also knew that
reputation was so important because if you live by what your clients think of you and who they tell,
then you can also die by the exact same mechanism.

It was the late’90s and fear and trepidation had to be cast aside and replaced with vision and
determination. It is clear that back then we had nothing to lose and in some ways | wish that we all
were able to continue with that ‘nothing to lose’ mentality.

Of course, if the business does achieve survival and success, is it only natural that its leaders have
to contemplate the risk surrounding its progression. One thing I do know is that if I continue to attack
the industry and do our work as hard and in the same way as | have since the late '90s, our business
can be three times its current size in the future.

Source: Bell, A 2012, ‘Trust and innovation’, Business Review Weekly, 2 February. www.brw.com.au.

Required
Discuss the areas of advice that Bell Partners offers to service its clients.

DECISION ANALYSIS

Choosing an accountant for a small business

After reading the following extract on the winner of the 2012 Best StartupSmart Awards for a service
company, list the factors that would be important for someone like the owners of Explore Engage in making
a decision about which accounting firm to employ. Also list the services that a business such as Explore
Engage is likely to require of its accountant.


http://www.brw.com.au/
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The winner of the 2012 Best Services Start-up in the 2012 Best StartupSmart Awards was Explore
Engage. Profiled on the StartupSmart’s website (www.startupsmart.com.au), the company profile reads as
follows:

Explore Engage specialises in augmented reality (AR) and interactive applications for mobile devices
such as iPhones and tablets. It is also in the process of developing a pair of AR glasses. The company
defines AR as real-time animation superimposed on each user’s real-time view of the world, usually
imposed through a camera device.

AR solves marketing and utility problems by contextualising data or images for an informative or
entertaining simulation, feedback, brand recall, in situ placement and a mixed reality. In doing so, it
can assist in decision-making or simply create a ‘magical experience’.

Explore Engage is an international leader in AR, providing 3D experiences across advertising,
marketing, gaming, retail and property. ‘We saw an opportunity in the Australian market as there was
no one specialising in AR. Also, with the emergence of the smartphone, we now have the capabilities
to do AR, Crane says. ‘There was a need for advertisers, general consumers, B2B and B2C companies
to use augmented reality.’

The three founders funded the business by ‘chasing down clients’ and completing projects. They
also received investment once it was established. O’'Brien says the founders ‘invested heavily from our
own funds, gained seed funds and won projects to drive significant growth over the last 12 months.’

While cashflow proved to be the most challenging part of starting the business, the best part of
starting up is the ‘ability to say you have started your own business and that it is going well'.

Explore Engage is now looking to take its technology to the international stage. ‘We are developing
a pair of AR glasses that will change the way people consume media globally and interact day to day,’
Crane says. ‘[Our goal is to] become one of the top three AR companies in the world.’

Source: StartupSmart 2012, StartupSmart Awards 2012, www.startupsmart.com.au.

CRITICAL THINKING

Good marketing in bad times
Read the following extract from BRW (Business Review WeekKly).

One of the most common — and riskiest — reactions by company directors and executives to tough
economic times is to slash the marketing budget. Some companies take the knife to their marketing
expenditure in the mistaken belief that money spent on advertising, sales promotion, direct marketing
and public relations is a cost, not an investment. Although marketers say that Australian company
boards’ understanding of the marketing function has improved greatly in the decade since the 1990—
91 recession, too many companies are still ignorant of the risks they run by using the marketing
budget as a sacrificial lamb.

Smart companies know that a downturn offers an opportunity to increase their market share and
seize on competitors’ weaknesses. That does not mean allotting more funds to the marketing
department, but the marketing focus should be honed as finely as possible. The key element is the
customer: companies that understand their customers’ needs in difficult economic times, that build
relationships with them and convince them of a product or service’s relevance to them, will survive
and even flourish.

The global director of marketing for government business at Accenture, Caroline Trotman, says not
all company directors think that surviving a recession means cutting marketing expenditure; however,
too many still see marketing as an early area of focus. ‘Marketing is associated with spending rather
than value in most directors’ minds because they do not know how to measure the contribution of
marketing. It is easy to cut because they cannot see how it relates to the bottom line.’

The Victorian president of the Australian Marketing Institute, Roger James, agrees: ‘It is really
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unfortunate that marketing is viewed at board level as discretionary expenditure rather than key to
the business’s operation. Marketing needs to be presented to the rest of the business world as central
to the functioning of business. It is seen as a support function to sales, but, of course, sales is just a
part of the marketing process. Businesses facing tighter times should realise that there is an
opportunity to gain market share when other companies are being more conservative. Now is the time
to get out there and consolidate share through increased marketing activity...

‘Brands, customers and information about them are the most valuable assets for a company in what
I call the age of marketing. A recession is a perfect time for marketers to demonstrate that these are
the assets you have to look after.’

The principal of the media planning agency bellamyhayden, Simon Bellamy, says a recession is an
ideal time for smart companies to gain the upper hand. ‘So many companies resort to doing less of
the same, and as a result they lose a competitive opportunity. It is a common trait to resort to the
tried and tested approach, safe and traditional, at a time when innovation and creativity is at its most
important. The knee-jerk reaction simply to slash spending across the board without looking at ways
of using that marketing expenditure differently is so dangerous. It is amazing how quickly brand
equity slips, and you have to spend more to get it back when times improve.’

Source: Lloyd, S 2001, ‘Good marketing in bad times’, BRW, 6 April, pp. 55-6.
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Required
Assume you are a newly graduated marketing student. You recall from your studies that accounting plays a
vital role in the decision-making processes of every commercial organisation. Your employer, the Trendy Tie
Company, is suffering from a downturn in economic conditions, and in preparing the budget for 2015 they
have reduced the marketing budget by 10%. The marketing manager suggests that if the budget cannot be
increased to the previous year’s level, then you will lose your job.

Using the article from BRW as a reference source, prepare a draft report for the marketing manager to
submit to the company’s accountants explaining why they should not reduce the marketing budget.

In drafting your report, explain why marketing might be considered an investment rather than a cost,
why it is important from an accounting point of view, and how the funds could be used more effectively.
You should also consider what is meant by ‘brands, customers and information about them’ being the most
valuable assets of the company. Remember that the report is being written to the company’s accountants
and you must justify your position in terms of the best financial interests of the company as opposed to
best marketing practice.

COMMUNICATION AND LEADERSHIP

Ethical dilemma

Within your tutorial group, organise yourselves into groups. Where possible organise the groups according
to the professional majors that students are studying, such as groups of accounting, marketing, human
resource management, economics and management students. Read the following ethical dilemma and
discuss how you would respond to the situation described. Present your group’s response to the class.

Auditing hidden agendas

All members of the accounting profession, regardless of their role, are required to comply with the
fundamental principles contained in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. The
first principle, integrity, requires members to be straightforward and honest in professional and
business relationships. It is reasonable, and expected, that an audit committee will scrutinise key
financial risks and the risk management processes, particularly in a dramatically changed business-
lending environment. It is the responsibility of the audit committee, rather than the CEO, to determine
the need to review future loan compliance reports before they are provided to lenders.

Dilemma: You are a member of an audit committee of a company that has experienced some



volatility as a result of the recent financial crisis. You have just received the agenda for the first
meeting in 2009 and, much to your surprise, there are no agenda items in relation to any impact the
financial crisis may have had on your company. You are particularly concerned that the company may
be at risk of default on some debt covenants. In addition, the scheduled quarterly compliance audit
on the loan portfolio, which is required as part of the performance reporting to lenders, is not
included.

You approach the chair of the audit committee and seek an explanation as to why these agenda
items do not appear. The chair advises that he has raised the issue with the CEO and has had
assurances that there are no matters that need to be discussed by the committee in relation to the
current financial crisis. The CEO has also advised that the committee no longer needs to sign off on
the loan compliance audits as these audits are at the request of the debt providers and not the
committee.

You remain unconvinced by this assurance and are also concerned that the debt providers will
assume the loan compliance audits are reviewed by the audit committee in accordance with past
practice. You are also aware that the continuing support of the company’s lenders is dependent on a
favourable compliance audit.

Given your knowledge of the debt portfolio and the company’s current performance, you are
concerned that some figures may have been ‘massaged’.

Source: Sexton, T 2009, ‘Auditing hidden agendas’, InTheBlack, March, p. 63.

ETHICS AND GOVERNANCE

Ethical practices among friends

Two friends, Becks and Vicky, had just started university studies. Both intended to major in accounting.
During the first week of lectures, Vicky, who had to go home for family reasons, asked Becks to buy a copy
of the prescribed accounting text for her from the university bookshop. She left Becks $100 to cover the
cost of the text currently selling in the bookshop for $80.

On the day Becks visited the bookshop to buy the text, he noted that there were a number of copies that
had been returned to the shop by students who had managed to get second-hand copies. These returned
copies had been marked down to $65 and looked new. Unable to resist a bargain, Becks bought a copy for
$65.

Becks then realised that Vicky would not know that the text he had bought was a return and had been
bought at a special price, and that he could give Vicky change of $20 and keep the savings on the text of
$15 for himself. He simply had to tell Vicky that he had lost the receipt, and given the crowds in the
bookshop on the day the text was bought, Vicky could not possibly learn that he had not bought a new
copy of the text for her.

Required

A. ldentify who the stakeholders are in this situation.

B. Outline the ethical issues involved.

C. Discuss what you would do if you were Becks.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Refer to the latest financial statements of David Jones Limited on its website, www.davidjones.com.au.
Browse through the chairman’s and chief executive officer's reports, and the notes to the financial
statements and address the following:

1. Describe the main activities and operations of the company.

2. ldentify the company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer.

3. List any important investment or financing decisions made by the company during the year.

4. Summarise what the directors are declaring in relation to the information in the financial statements.

5. Assess whether David Jones complies with the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance
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Council (ASXCGC) Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations.

6. Examine the independent auditor’s report on the company for the year and address the following:
(a) ldentify the company’s audit firm.

(b) Specify what the auditors state in relation to the accounting information in the company’s report.
(c) Specify what the auditors state in relation to their independence.

7. Ascertain if the auditors received any money from the company for doing any work apart from
conducting the audit.

. This definition first appeared in the Report of the Special Committee on Assurance Services (the Elliott
Report), prepared by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. It has since been adopted
by the ICAA and CPA Australia. For further information, see Paul Coram, ‘Towards assurance services —
redefining the audit role’, Australian CPA, November 1998, pp. 55-7.

. See Simnett, R 2009, ‘Getting the world on board’, InTheBlack, October, pp. 46-9; and proposed new
guidance for practitioners conducting assurance engagements on general purpose water accounting
reports in the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board’s (AUASB) ED 04/12 Proposed Standard on
Assurance Engagements ASAE 3xxx/Australian Water Accounting Standard 2 Assurance
Engagements on General Purpose Water Accounting Reports.

. See ss. 324DA-DD of the Corporations Act, available at http://www.austlii.edu.au.

. From 1 January 2003, the Australian Securities Exchange requires the top 500 companies listed in the
S&P/ASX all ordinaries index to have audit committees under ASX Listing Rule 12.70.

. See Couttas, G 2012, ‘A new world for the audit committee’, Charter, September, p. 38.

. Jackling, B, Cooper, B, Leung, P & Dellaportas, S 2007, ‘Professional accounting bodies’ perceptions of
ethical issues, causes of ethical failure and ethics education’, Managerial Auditing Journal, vol. 22,
pp. 928-44.
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CHAPTER 2

Financial statements for decision making

Types of business entities

Management functions

Basic financial statements

Assumptions made and characteristics of information
The effects of transactions on the accounting equation and financial statements
Key terms

Discussion questions

Exercises

Problems

Decision analysis

Critical thinking

Communication and leadership

Ethics and governance

Financial analysis

Concepts for review

Before studying this chapter, you should understand or, if necessary, revise:

the steps used in the decision-making process (pp. 5-6)

the nature of economic decisions (pp. 6—7)

the nature of accounting and the users of accounting information (pp. 8-10)

the use of information in economic decisions (pp. 11-13)

the role of accounting information in the decision-making process (pp. 13-14)

the differences and similarities between management accounting and financial accounting (pp. 14-15)
the areas of business in which accountants are employed (pp. 16—20).

Learning Objectives

After studying this chapter you should be able to:
1 identify the common types of business entities (pp. 34-5)
2 discuss the functions carried out by managers (pp. 35-7)

3 outline the basic financial statements used in business to report to users for decision-making
purposes (pp. 37-43)

4 explain the main assumptions made and the characteristics of information to be used in the
preparation of financial statements (pp. 44-8)

5 analyse the effects of business transactions on the accounting equation and on financial statements
(pp. 48-52).
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Corporate reputation — Citizenship deficits limit reputations

In 2013, lkea temporarily stopped serving all meatballs in its store restaurants after tests found
horsemeat in its pork and beef meatballs. Many regarded this as fraud that impacted on the reputation
of the company, noting that consumers should be able to trust that what is labelled on the package is
inside the package and nothing else.

It's no longer enough for a company to make a profit, obey the law and keep shareholders happy.
They must now consider the non-financial aspects of their business as they navigate a complex and
changing set of economic, social and environmental challenges. They must work to earn public respect at
a time when corporate reputations are increasingly fragile and have a clear impact on a company’s
valuation. They must strive to find new ways to motivate employees who want more than just financial
rewards.

According to the Global Corporate Reputation Index (Romero & Cordasco 2012, p. 1), ‘Even among the
consumer companies with the strongest corporate reputations, citizenship continues to significantly lag
performance indicating that most companies are still paying inadequate attention to this category despite
the increasing role it plays in today’s marketplace’. The index, based on in excess of 40 000 consumer
interviews across six countries, found that technology companies have the strongest reputations overall
with the banking and oil and gas industries having the weakest reputations. It is the latter industries that
are often associated with negative press coverage and the relative youth of the former industry suggests
that newer companies may be resetting the bar for what a strong reputation means. The top ranked
companies include Adidas, Apple, Coca-Cola and Nestlé. For example, Adidas is commended for the
design and innovation behind its technology, which uses up to 50% less material waste, emits fewer
toxins, and reduces material use and CO, emissions from transport.

Reputation is one of the most important measures of corporate success. According to the Harris-



Fombrun Reputation Quotient, the value of a reputation can be as much as 40 per cent of a company’s
overall market value. It influences what we buy, and the appeal of a company to potential employees,
investors and analysts.

Source: Excerpts from Cordasco, P & Romero M 2012, ‘Global Corporate Reputation Index’, http://issuu.com/bursonmarsteller.
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Chapter preview

In this chapter, we introduce the different types of organisations that operate in business, their structure,
and how they are managed. We describe also some of the basic financial statements prepared by the
accountant, the assumptions made in preparing these statements, and the effects of transactions on the
preparation of financial statements. These financial statements show business performance measured in
dollar terms. Even though the scene setter argues for more emphasis on the environmental and social
aspects of business, accounting has traditionally paid little attention to these aspects in assessing business
performance.

2.1 Types of business entities

Identify the common types of business entities.

In chapter 1 we introduced Cynthia’s beauty therapy business. An important decision that Cynthia must
make is how to structure her business. There are different types of business entities which may be formed.
The three most common types for profit-seeking entities are sole traders (or single proprietorships),
partnerships and companies.

A single proprietorship or sole trader is a business entity owned by one person. Many small service
enterprises, retail stores and professional practices are operated as single proprietorships. The owner of a
single proprietorship business contributes cash (or other assets) to the business, is entitled to all profits,
and is legally liable for its debts. A sole trader is not a separate legal entity. From an accounting
perspective, however, the business entity is treated as an entity separate from its owner, and accounting is
done only for the affairs of the business entity. The owner’'s personal affairs and records are kept separate
from those of the entity for accounting purposes.

A partnership is a business owned by two or more people acting as partners. No special legal
requirements need be met to form a partnership. All that is necessary is an agreement among the people
joining together as partners. Although the partnership agreement may be oral, a written agreement will
help resolve disagreements which may arise between partners. The partners supply the resources and share
the profits and losses.

Partnerships are not separate legal entities. Consequently, the individual partners are personally liable for
the debts of the partnership. From an accounting perspective, however, partnerships are treated as entities
separate from their owners. Like single proprietorships, partnerships are widely used for small service
enterprises, retail stores and professional practices. Partnerships are covered more fully later in this book.

A company or corporation is a separate legal entity formed under the Corporations Act 2001.
Commonly, its owners are called shareholders and their ownership interests are represented by shares in
the company. Given that a company is a separate legal entity, shareholders in a limited company are not
liable for the company’s debts once the shares they hold have been paid for in full. This feature is known as
limited liability, which simply means that the liability of a shareholder to contribute to the assets of the
company is limited to the amount unpaid on the shares held in the company. The word ‘limited’
(abbreviated to Ltd) is required by law to appear in the company name if limited liability applies to
shareholders of that company. Further discussion of companies is provided later in this book.

Cynthia thus has three organisation structures from which to choose when setting up her beauty therapy
business. She could conduct her business as a single proprietorship or sole trader, in which case she will be
the sole recipient of any profits made by the business. Alternatively, she may choose to establish the
business as a partnership with her boyfriend, Fred. Partners normally provide cash or other resources for
the business, and share any profits made from day-to-day operations. If Cynthia and Fred decide that the


http://issuu.com/bursonmarsteller

business should be formed as a company, then a small company can be registered with an appropriate
name. Cynthia and Fred will then become shareholders providing cash or other resources to the business
and receiving any dividends from the company if profits are made. To help make the decision, Cynthia
would be wise to consult a public accountant for advice, and she should make her decision carefully.

Although companies conduct the majority of business activity in Australia, sole traders are more
numerous. Because of the relatively simple nature of the sole trader form, it is used as
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the basis for early discussion and illustrations in this book. Partnerships and companies and their special
accounting problems are discussed later in this book.

Other forms of organisations include not-for-profit entities such as sporting clubs, trusts (family trusts or
unit trusts), government enterprises and government departments. The structures appropriate to these
entities are usually provided by the laws which lead to their establishment. Such laws can also impose
special accounting and reporting requirements, which are found in accounting standards.

LEARNING CHECK

1 The three types of organisations used in profit-making businesses are the sole trader (single
proprietorship), partnership, and company (or corporation).

1 The major differences between the three types of organisations are:

— A sole trader is owned by one person who is entitled to all the profits and is liable for its debts.
From an accounting perspective, the owner’s personal affairs and records are kept separate from
those of the entity.

— A partnership business is owned by two or more people and the partners are personally liable for
the debts of the partnership. Accounting records of the partnership are kept separate from the
personal records of each partner.

— A company is a separate legal entity owned usually by shareholders who, in a limited company, are
not liable for the company’s debts once the shares they hold are paid for in full.

2.2 Management functions

Discuss the functions carried out by managers.

As mentioned above, the most basic form of business enterprise is a one-person business or sole trader. Its
management and information needs are simple because all decision-making responsibilities for such
functions as purchasing, selling, performing services, accounting and financing rest with the individual
owner-manager. This simple situation, where the owner is responsible for and does everything, seldom
exists, and if it does, it normally is found only during the initial stage of a business’s life cycle. As soon as
the first employee is hired, a division of labour occurs and an organisation is born. An organisation is
defined as a group of people who share common goals with a well-defined division of labour. The managers
of an organisation need relevant information to integrate the activities of the various segments of the
organisation and ensure that they are directed towards common goals. As an organisation develops in size
and complexity, authority and responsibility for performance are delegated to a number of people.
Consequently, the role of management becomes increasingly important. This is true for all service
businesses, manufacturing businesses, banks, accounting businesses, hospitals, universities, retail stores,
government departments or agencies, and charitable organisations.

Role of managers

A major goal of every business entity is to achieve satisfactory performance. The managers of a business
are accountable to its owners for adequate profits as indicators of a successful operation. Even not-for-
profit organisations such as charities must be certain that their expenses do not exceed their revenues in
the long term. Every entity must accept the fact that its resources are limited and must be conserved if a
satisfactory performance is to be achieved. Such factors as inflation, technological change, competition,



government regulation, environmental and social issues, interest rates, increased power costs and declining
productivity have an adverse effect on most entities’ financial performance. As discussed in the scene setter
to this chapter, managers and the accountant must also be mindful of performance in areas other than
financial success. It is suggested in the scene setter that businesses should develop a good reputation by
being good citizens and strong supporters of the community’s social needs. This can be achieved by caring
about people and the planet, in addition to profits. Developing a good reputation ultimately attracts strong
customer support for the business’s products and services.

If an entity is to be successful, its management must be efficient and effective. Efficiency means
maintaining a satisfactory relationship between an entity’s resource inputs and its outputs of
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products or services (e.g. the number of labour hours required to process a loan application or to produce a
product). Effectiveness refers to how well an entity attains its goals (e.g. the number of services provided
to customers compared with the number planned). Efficiency and effectiveness are outcomes of the
management functions diagrammed in figure 2.1 and are essential to the overall success of any
business. It is important to note that management functions are not always as sequentially dependent as
figure 2.1 may suggest, since they often are performed concurrently and are constantly interacting with one
another. The functions of the management decision process are examined below.

Figure 2.1 Management functions

i What to do
How to do it

A

Evaluating actual versus €———————— DECISION MAKING Sl > Developing the
planned performance organisational structure

\J

Performing -
according to plan

Planning

A successful business entity plans for the future by carefully setting goals. Managers must decide what
action the entity should take in the future and how it should be accomplished. Alternative courses of action
are identified, their probable results are evaluated, and the course of action that will best achieve the
entity’s goals is selected. Planning is required so that managers can anticipate future events and be
proactive rather than react to circumstances once they are known. Much of management planning is
concerned with the efficiency and effectiveness of future operations.

Organising

Plans are only words and numbers on paper until they are implemented. The organising function provides
the resource structure or capacity within which management works to achieve its plans. The entity may be
divided into segments (such as departments, divisions, plants and offices) to take advantage of the
specialisation of skills and abilities. Consider the case of a university and its division into faculties based on
academic discipline areas to take advantage of the specialisation of skills and abilities. Dividing an entity
into segments ensures the right people are hired, trained and assigned to specific jobs. Well-defined lines



of authority and responsibility are established. Sources of resources (such as raw materials, supplies and
advertising) are selected, physical facilities (land, buildings, machinery and equipment) are obtained, and
finance is arranged to fund the operations.

Directing

This function deals with the day-to-day management of the entity. Actions, decision making, communication
and leadership are combined to carry out the planned activities within the organisational structure.
Problems are solved, questions are answered, disagreements are resolved and the various segments are
coordinated.

Controlling

Managers must be sure that the actual performance of the entity and its segments compares favourably
with the goals established during the planning function. If managers are to be held accountable for their
performance, they should know where and why actual results differ from those planned. Control is based on
the concept of management by exception, which recognises that,
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since management time is a scarce resource, the main concern should be for any performance that
deviates significantly from the plan. A performance report is a type of financial report issued periodically to
inform management of any significant variations from the expected results, so action can be taken to
improve the efficiency or effectiveness of future operations, whenever possible. Some businesses have
established internal audit committees, as discussed in chapter 1, to help management achieve its plans.

LEARNING CHECK

1 An organisation is a group of people who share common goals with a well-defined division of labour.
As an organisation develops in size and complexity, authority and responsibility for performance are
delegated to managers.

] Efficiency means maintaining a satisfactory relationship between an entity’s resource inputs and
outputs of products or services. Effectiveness refers to how well an entity attains its goals.

1 The four main functions of managers in running an organisation are planning, organising, directing
and controlling.

1 Management by exception recognises that, because management time is a scarce resource, the main
concern should be for any performance that deviates significantly from planned performance.

2.3 Basic financial statements

Outline the basic financial statements used in business to report to users for decision-
making purposes.

Accounting, as we have seen in chapter 1, may be viewed as an information system designed to
communicate financial information to interested users for making economic decisions. The final outcome of
the accounting process is the preparation of a set of financial statements which serve to communicate
important information to users both within and external to the business. Three types of information
contained in financial statements serve to inform users about the entity.

Firstly, users want information about the entity’s financial performance, that is, the ability to operate
its assets efficiently and effectively in the conduct of its activities, whether for profit or not for profit. In
order to assess performance, users need to be aware of the entity’s overall objectives or goals. What is the
entity trying to achieve? Is it trying to make profits for its shareholders, or does it have a social goal, such
as alleviating hunger in a particular overseas country? For a business entity, information about its ability to
earn profits is an essential part of its financial statements; however, the achievement of its social and
environmental goals should not be overlooked. In a not-for-profit entity, its performance in achieving its



stated goals may have little to do with the profit motive. For example, clubs exist for the overall enjoyment
and satisfaction of their members, and aid organisations exist to help people in need receive a better
education and have a more comfortable social existence.

The second type of information which users find necessary for making decisions about an entity or
division is its financial position. The financial position of an entity, as discussed in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (considered later in this book, and
hereafter referred to as the Framework), deals with the economic resources controlled by an entity, its
financial structure, its capacity to adapt to changes in its environment, and its liquidity and solvency. The
information which would help to assess these aspects includes the different types of assets held by the
business, the amounts of money borrowed from other entities, the amount of cash or other assets supplied
by the owner of the business, the time needed to repay borrowed money, the current state of repair of the
entity’s assets, the cost and fair value of these assets, and the possible sources of finance available to the
business in an emergency. All this information is desirable to help users make informed economic decisions
about an entity.

The third type of information that users find necessary for making decisions about the entity is
information about the entity’s cash flows. According to the Framework, information about the entity’s cash
flows is useful in order to assess the entity’s operating, investing and financing activities. Operating
activities are those associated with the provision of goods or services. Typical operating activities for a
business entity include collecting cash for services provided, selling goods to customers, purchasing goods
for sale, paying suppliers for goods or services purchased, collecting from customers outstanding debts
owed to the entity, paying wages to employees and
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paying income tax to the government. Some of these operating activities also arise in not-for-profit entities,
and may be so reported in their financial statements. In Cynthia’s beauty therapy business in chapter 1, the
operating activities consist of her waxing, facial and spray tan services, and her costs for products, wages,
and accounting services.

Investing activities in an entity are those associated with the acquisition and disposal of long-term
resources used in the entity’s production, selling or administrative tasks. For example, investing activities
include purchasing an office building, constructing a factory, purchasing long-term investments, purchasing
equipment or vehicles, and selling such long-term assets. In Cynthia’s beauty business, investing activities
consist of the purchase of the van, massage tables, and facial machines.

Financing activities are those which relate to the raising of funds for an entity to carry out its
operating and investing activities. Examples of financing activities include raising capital by issuing shares,
receiving more fees by attracting new members to a club, borrowing money from a bank or other financial
institution, and repaying these borrowed funds. In Cynthia’s beauty business, financing activities include the
cash contributed by Cynthia to the business.

The basic financial statements prepared by an entity for internal users are an income statement (a
component of a statement of comprehensive income), a balance sheet (also called a statement of financial
position), a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows. For reporting to external users,
all statements purported to be general purpose financial statements must be prepared in accordance with
the requirements of accounting standards. Reporting to external parties is discussed in more detail later in
this book.

The balance sheet

The balance sheet (statement of financial position) reports the financial position of an entity or
division at a specific point in time. The financial position is reflected by the assets of the entity, its liabilities
or debts, and the equity of the owner. Figure 2.2 shows a simple balance sheet for a single proprietorship
involved in providing repair services for television sets, Minh’s TV repairs, as at 30 June 2016.

Figure 2.2 Balance sheet (account format)



MINH'S TV REPAIRS
Balance Sheet

as at 30 June 2016

ASSETS LIABILITIES
Cash at bank $ 23165 Accounts payable $ 10380
Accounts receivable 8895 Mortgage payable 100500
Repair supplies 7305 110 880
Repair equipment 556350
Land 30000 EQUITY
Building 127500 Minh Vu, Capital 143 340

$254 220 $254 220

The heading of the balance sheet indicates the name of the entity, the name of the statement and the
date. The basic statement is divided into three main sections: assets, liabilities and equity. In figure 2.2, the
assets are listed on the left-hand side and the liabilities and equity are listed on the right-hand side. Note
that the two sides of the statement are equal. This equality must exist because the left-hand side lists the
assets and the right-hand side shows the sources of the funds used to acquire the assets. Of the total
assets of $254 220 controlled by the entity, $110 880 of them were funded by creditors (liabilities) and the
remainder of $143 340 was funded by the owner, Minh Vu.

The basic accounting model (accounting equation) for the balance sheet is:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
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All transactions of an entity can be analysed using this basic model, although we will see that better
analyses can be made by expanding the equation to include the effect of the income statement.

While figure 2.2 displays an account form of presentation since, as will be seen in subsequent chapters,
it resembles the structure of a T-shaped ledger account, there is no prescribed way for presenting this
statement other than clearly identifying the total assets, total liabilities and equity. The narrative or
descriptive form of presentation lists all of the elements of a balance sheet in one column. In Australia, no
set format exists; however, the narrative format is most common in business practice for reporting by
companies.

The basic accounting model (accounting equation) for the narrative form of balance sheet is usually:

Assets — Liabilities = Net Assets = Equity

Figure 2.3 illustrates the balance sheet presented in narrative format. Balance sheets of organisations other
than companies also may be presented in either account or narrative format, although the narrative style is
more prevalent. Note that when liabilities are deducted from assets, the amount $143 340 is often called
net assets, which equals equity.

Figure 2.3 Balance sheet (narrative format)



MINH'S TV REPAIRS
Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2016

ASSETS
Cash at bank $ 23165
Accounts receivable 8 895
Repair supplies 7305
Repair equipment 55 350
Land 30000
Building 127 500
TOTAL ASSETS 254 220
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 10 380
Mortgage payable 100 500
TOTAL LIABILITIES 110 880
NET ASSETS $@
EQUITY
Minh Vu, Capital $143340
TOTAL EQUITY $143340
Assets

Assets are resources controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which future economic

benefits are expected to flow to the entity.l They are economic resources which may be tangible (having
physical characteristics, such as land, buildings and equipment) or intangible (assets without physical
existence, such as legal claims or patent rights). It is a common practice for entities to list assets on the
statement in the order of highest liquidity (cash and items easily converted in the short term to cash) to
lowest liquidity, as a means of helping users to assess solvency. This is explained further in chapter 4.

Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations of an entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected
to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits.2 They are the debts

owed by an entity to outside parties called creditors and include amounts owed to suppliers for goods or
services purchased on credit (accounts payable), amounts borrowed from
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banks or other lenders (loans payable and mortgages payable) and amounts owed to employees for
wages and salaries that have not yet been paid (wages and salaries payable). Liabilities require
settlements from assets, generally cash, or the performance of services to cancel them.

Equity

Equity may be thought of as the owner’s claim to (or the residual interest in) the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities. The basic accounting model introduced earlier (Assets = Liabilities + Equity)
indicates that the total assets of the entity equal the total claims against those assets by creditors and
owners. Creditors’ claims take legal precedence over owners’ claims with owners being the ultimate risk-
takers in the entity; if the assets are sold, creditors must be paid before the claims of the owner(s) are



recognised. Thus, equity is a residual (i.e. ‘left over’) claim on the assets, and the basic accounting model
which expresses this idea clearly is:

Assets — Liabilities = Equity
or
Net assets = Equity

Other terms often used for equity are proprietorship and capital. Note that, in the case of government
departments and government entities, equity is replaced by accumulated surplus as the ‘owners’ of
government entities are the public. For not-for-profit entities, equity is usually represented by the term
accumulated funds. The term ‘not-for-profit' does not mean that the entity does not make a profit. ‘Not-
for-profit means that any profit generated by the entity must be used to further the entity’s objectives
rather than serve the interests of the members or owners.

In summary, the two sides of the balance sheet in account format are always equal because they simply
reflect two views of the same thing. In figure 2.2, the list of assets shows the resources controlled by the
entity. The lists of liabilities and equity show the amounts of the resources provided in the past to the
business by the creditors and the owners. Thus, all the assets are funded by either creditors or owners.
Because creditors’ claims take legal precedence, a business entity with a relatively large ratio of liabilities to
equity is considered financially weaker (a greater risk) than an entity with a relatively large ratio of equity
to liabilities. This emphasis on equity as a residual claim is shown in the narrative format in figure 2.3.

The income statement

The income statement (sometimes called a profit or loss statement, or an operating statement in
government and not-for-profit entities) reports the results of financial performance for a specific time period
such as a month, half-year or year. Profit for the period is the excess of income over expenses for that
time. If expenses for the period exceed income, a loss is incurred. Figure 2.4 shows a simple income
statement for Minh’s TV Repairs.

Figure 2.4 Income statement
MINH'S TV REPAIRS

Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2016

INCOME

Repair income $221 250
EXPENSES

Advertising expense $10125

Repair supplies expense 45 855

Salaries and wages expense 63900

Rent expense 20130

Telephone expense 10095

Light and power expense 23970

174 075

PROFIT $ 47175
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The heading identifies the entity being reported on — Minh’s TV Repairs — the name of the statement
and the time period covered by the statement. Identification of the time period covered is particularly



important in an income statement because it indicates the length of time (here, 1 year) it took to earn the
reported profit. The data in the income statement would have no meaning without a clear indication of the
period covered.

Income

Income represents an increase in the wealth of the owner(s). Income is defined in the Framework as
increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of inflows or enhancements of
assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to contributions
from equity participants. Income usually results from the sale of goods or the performance of services. It is
commonly measured by the amount of cash or value of other assets received. Although income often is
measured by the cash received, it may be measured by the receipt of other assets, such as promises by
customers to pay in the future (accounts receivable, also called debtors) or the receipt of property from
a customer. Income, in the case of ‘not-for-profit’ entities can also be bequests. Regardless of the type of
asset received, income usually results not only from the sale of goods and the performance of services but
also from interest received, dividends received on shares owned, and rent. Note that any asset contributed
to the entity by owners is not regarded as income, but as a different type of increase in the equity, referred
to as a ‘contribution by owners’. An entity cannot earn income or create wealth through transactions with
its owners. It is a key pillar of accounting that the activities of the entity are separated from those of its
owners, irrespective of the structure of business.

Expenses

Expenses are decreases in equity. They are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in
the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity,
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants. Expenses are measured by the amount of
assets used up or the amount of liabilities incurred. They may arise through immediate cash payments, as
for current wages and salaries, or through promises to pay cash in the future for services received, such as
advertising. In some cases, cash may be paid out before the expense is incurred, such as payment for next
month’s or next year’'s rent. These prepayments represent assets until they are used. In figure 2.4, the total
of all expenses incurred during 2016 by Minh's TV Repairs was $174 075. Subtracting these expenses from
income produces a profit of $47 175. It is important to understand that the profit represents an increase in
equity. Because income results in an increase in equity and expenses result in a decrease in equity, the
difference between the two — profit — must represent a net increase in equity. Similarly, a loss
represents a decrease in equity.

The statement of changes in equity

The statement of changes in equity (figure 2.5) serves as a connecting link between the balance sheet and
the income statement, and explains the changes that took place in equity during the period. For example,
assuming that Minh’s capital balance on 1 July 2015 was $118 665 and that he withdrew $22 500 from the
business for personal use during 2016 (referred to as drawings), the statement of changes in equity for
2016 would be as shown in figure 2.5.

Figure 2.5 Statement of changes in equity



MINH'S TV REPAIRS
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2016

Minh Vu, Capital — 1 July 2015 $118 665
Add: Profit for the year 47175

165 840
Less: Drawings 22 500
Minh Vu, Capital — 30 June 2016 $143340
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The three statements illustrated above — balance sheet, income statement and statement of changes in
equity — are related to one another. The balance sheet at the end of one period is the balance sheet at
the beginning of the next period. The balance sheets at the beginning and end of a period are linked by the
income statement and the statement of changes in equity as shown in figure 2.6.

Figure 2.6 Financial statements relationship

Balance Income Balance
sheet statement sheet
(as at beginning of year) for the period (as at end of year)
Ai-Li=E | - E=PROFIT A—Ly=E

Statement fof changes in equity
forthe period
E; + Profit— Drawings = E,

3
-+ Period of time, e.g. 1 year -

1 E;is shown inthe beginning balance sheet and is the starting point for the statement of changes in
equity.

2 Profit (Income (I) less Expenses (E)) for the period is determined from the income statement and
included in factors which alter the capital balance over the year.

3 Drawings made during the year (usually in cash) are recorded in the accounts and used in determining
the equity atthe end of the period E;.

4 E;is shown onthe ending balance sheet.



The statement of cash flows

Another important financial statement prepared by entities is a statement of cash flows. An entity’s income
statement does not report on the cash flows of the entity, but on its income and expenses (chapter 4
discusses this further). Income and expenses as defined above do not necessarily represent cash flows.
Consequently, a statement of cash flows is prepared to report on the cash flows in and out of the entity.
It is particularly useful in helping users to assess the sources and uses of an entity’s cash, and the likely
ability of the entity to remain solvent (i.e. able to pay its debts), so that the users can make informed
decisions. The statement reports on the entity’s performance in generating cash flows from operating
activities, investing activities and financing activities as shown in figure 2.7 for Minh’s TV Repairs, assuming
that this business began its operations on 1 July 2015 when the owner, Minh Vu, invested $118 665 cash in
the business.

Figure 2.7 Statement of cash flows

MINH'S TV REPAIRS
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from customers $ 212355
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (171000}
Net cash from operating activities $ 41355
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of land and buildings (157 500)
Purchase of repair equipment (55 300)
Net cash used in investing activities (212850)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Amount borrowed under mortgage 100500
Investment by owner 118 665
Drawings by owner (22 500)
Net cash used in financing activities 196 665
Net increase (decrease) in cash held 25170
Cash at beginning of year —
Cash at end of year $ 25170

By comparing the entity’s statement of cash flows with its income statement, we can see how well the
reported profits are represented by cash inflows from operating activities. We see from figure 2.7 that the
increase in cash was mainly the result of cash inflows from financing activities, and that the main use of
cash in the business during the year was for investing activities, through the purchase of property and
equipment.
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BUSINESS KNOWLEDGE

Profit is the bottom line

Just like the trappings of the rich — a mansion, a Mercedes and a holiday house in Majorca — give the
impression of success, so too do the many ways in which we often evaluate businesses such as



revenue, share price, number of employees, percentage of annual revenue growth, size of warehouse,
and number of products sold.

It may look as if there are different kinds of success — however, there is only one true way to know
if you're successful, and that's profit. |1 can beat around the bush, but unless the company that you are
building is generating clear profits after paying for its weekly/quarterly/yearly expenses and providing
nice dividends to its shareholders, then it is not really successful.

Without profit, you don’t have a business for very long. Limousines and Learjets don’'t mean a thing
if you travel on borrowed cash. A seemingly successful start-up brimming with sales is unsustainable
without profit. Meeting expenses is survival, earning beyond them is success.

Many start-ups today focus too much on generating top-line revenue while behind the scenes the
founders have to raise more and more funds to cover their burn. It looks sexy to have a million-dollar
company in a very short time, but it is only if that million-dollar company is not glossing over the $5
million in start-up capital it has not yet paid back to its investors that you could call it successful.

Hezi Leibovich, co-founder of online shopping group The Catch Group, incorporating CatchOf TheDay,
Scoopon, Groveryrun, Vonomofo, Mumgo and Eatnow, refers to lots of companies in the online space
as CRAP, which stands for Cannot Realise Any Profit. He argues that they focus more on revenues and
market share but don'’t really think about the big picture, which is the bottom line.

Source: Leibovich, H 2013, ‘Profit is the bottom line’, Business Review Weekly, 21-7 March, p. 39.
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LEARNING CHECK

[1 The four basic financial statements prepared by the accountant are the income statement, the
balance sheet (statement of financial position), the statement of changes in equity, and the
statement of cash flows.

] The accounting equation is: Assets — Liabilities = Equity.

] Assets are resources controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which future
economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

[] Liabilities are present obligations of an entity arising from past events, the settlement of which is
expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources.

1 Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity (i.e. what is left over) after deducting all the
entity’s liabilities.

1 Income (expenses) represents increases (decreases) in economic benefits which increase (decrease)
equity during the accounting period.

1 The statement of changes in equity serves as a connecting link between the balance sheet and the
income statement, and explains the changes that took place in equity during the period.

1 The statement of cash flows summarises the operating activities, investing activities and financing
activities during the accounting period.

2.4 Assumptions made and characteristics of
Information

Explain the main assumptions made and the characteristics of information to be used
in the preparation of financial statements.

We have described accounting as a service activity designed to identify, measure and record financial data
of an entity for use in making economic decisions. Over time, as accounting has evolved, questions have
arisen concerning the method of identifying events, the principles of measurement to be used and the
general guidelines to be followed in order to communicate financial data useful in decision making.



Accountants have gradually produced responses to these questions and developed some underlying
assumptions that are followed in present-day accounting reports. Furthermore, the characteristics of
information to be included by accountants in financial statements have also been considered and are
discussed below.

The accounting entity assumption

If the transactions of an entity are to be recorded, classified and summarised into financial statements, the
accountant must be able to identify clearly the boundaries of the entity being accounted for. Under the
accounting entity assumption, the entity (Minh’s TV Repairs, for example) is considered a separate
entity distinguishable from its owner and from all other entities. It is assumed that each entity controls its
assets and incurs its liabilities. The records of assets, liabilities and business activities of the entity are kept
completely separate from those of the owner of the entity as well as from those of other entities. For
example, the personal assets, debts and activities of Minh Vu are not included in the records of Minh’'s TV
Repairs because they do not constitute part of the activities of the business entity. A separate set of
accounting records is maintained for each entity, and the financial statements prepared provide information
on that entity only.

The accounting entity assumption is important since it leads to the derivation of the accounting equation.
Given this assumption, if the entity receives $50 000 cash from the owner as capital, the accountant for the
entity records that it has an asset of $50 000 in the form of cash but also has to recognise that the entity is
now indebted to the owner for $50 000. In other words, the owner has equity in the assets of the entity
and it follows that:

Assets = Equity

Similarly, if the entity borrows cash from a lender, the asset (cash) increases, and the entity must
acknowledge the interest of the creditor in the total assets of the entity. The equation is now expressed as:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
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The accrual basis assumption

The financial statements of an entity are assumed to be prepared on the accrual basis. According to the
Framework, under the accrual basis the effects of all transactions and events are recognised in accounting
records when they occur, and not when the cash is received or paid. Hence, financial statements report not
only on cash transactions but also on obligations to pay cash in the future and on resources that represent
receivables of cash in future. It is argued in the Framework that accounting on an accrual basis provides
information about the transactions and other events that is most useful for decision making by both internal
and external users of those statements. Further discussion of the accrual basis of accounting as opposed to
the cash basis is provided in chapter 4.

The going concern assumption

According to the Framework, financial reports are prepared normally on the assumption that the existing
entity will continue to operate in the future — the going concern assumption. It is assumed that the
entity will not be wound up in the near future but will continue its activities, and so the liquidation values
(prices in a forced sale) of the entity’s assets are not generally reported.

When management plans the sale or liquidation of the entity, the going concern assumption is set aside
and the financial statements are prepared on the basis of estimated sales or liquidation values. The
statements should then identify clearly the basis on which asset values are determined. In order for decision
makers to understand information contained in financial reports, it is important that they know whether
assets are valued at cost, at fair values, or on some other basis.



The period assumption

All entities need to report their results in the form of either profit or operating surplus. Profit is determined
for particular periods of time, such as a month or a year, in order to get comparability of results. There are
also statutory requirements for entities to determine periodic profit figures, such as for taxation. This
division of the life of the entity into equal time intervals is known as the period assumption.

As a result of this assumption, profit determination involves a process of recognising the income for a
period and deducting the expenses incurred for that same period.

Fundamental qualitative characteristics

The fundamental qualitative characteristics of accounting information are relevance and faithful
representation. Since the purpose of presenting accounting information in financial statements is to provide
information to users for making economic decisions, it is important that this information is relevant to users
for decision making. Relevance means that the information can influence the economic decisions made by
users. For example, the information may help users to predict future events, such as future cash flows,
from the alternative courses of action under consideration. Furthermore, information is relevant if it is able
to help decision makers evaluate past decisions. The information may confirm that a previous decision was
correct, or it could show that the results of a previous decision were undesirable and that a new decision is
necessary to correct or minimise the mistakes of the past. Thus, information that is relevant is said to have
a predictive role and a confirmatory or feedback role.

A further aspect of relevance is that the information must be presented by the accountant to the
user (internal or external) in time for a decision to be made. It is a waste of time and effort for the
accountant to prepare detailed financial statements if they don’t reach users before they make a decision.
Users may be satisfied with receiving less detailed information as long as the information is provided on
time. Thus, timeliness of information is an important factor in ensuring that information is relevant.

Just as important as relevance is faithful representation. Faithful representation means that the user is
assured that the information presented is complete, without bias or undue error, and neutral. Faithful
representation is closely related to reliability. Accountants require information to be reliable, which means
that the information reported represents the facts as closely as possible. This is a major reason that
accountants record assets in the financial records at their original historical cost. The cost of a resource
acquired is determined on the basis of the exchange price negotiated between the buyer and the seller. For
accountants to record fair values requires the use
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of estimates, appraisals or opinions, all of which are more unreliable, even though such information may be
relevant to users for decision-making purposes.

In the past, users of accounting information were given the most reliable data available, that is, data
were reported in terms of historical cost. However, it was argued that the accountant had sacrificed a
degree of relevance so that information was reliable. Fair values are usually relevant in making decisions
and, therefore, the reporting of cost data as the only reliable information is questionable. Balancing
relevance with faithful representation in order to determine the content of financial statements for decision-
making purposes by internal and external users is a constant challenge facing an accountant.

An additional aspect of faithful representation is that the economic substance of transactions and events
should be given priority. Economic substance means that the accountant examines transactions and
events in order to report on their economic reality as opposed to their legal form. Thus, it is common for
the accountant to report assets on the entity’s balance sheet even if those assets are not legally owned by
the entity. Economic substance relates to the economic significance of the items to the entity, not to their
legal ownership. Even though most items of economic significance to an entity are also legally owned by
that entity, whenever there is a separation of economic substance from legal form, the accountant will
report on the basis of the economic substance rather than on legal ownership.

For example, when an asset is leased by an entity on a long-term basis, the economic benefits and the
risks of ownership often rest with the entity which has possession and use of the asset (lessee) and not
with the legal owner (lessor). Thus, the long-term leased asset is reported on the balance sheet of the
lessee rather than on the balance sheet of the lessor. The lessor is said to have ‘sold’ the asset to the



lessee, even though, legally, the asset is still the property of the lessor. In order to accommodate the desire
to report the economic substance of transactions and events, note that the accountant has defined an asset
in terms of ‘control’ rather than ‘ownership’.

The discussion in the previous paragraphs recognised the close connection between faithful
representation and reliability. In September 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board issued a
revised Conceptual Framework with the revisions specifically related to the objectives and qualitative
characteristics of financial statements. The revision changed the qualitative characteristics of information in
financial statements. Instead of ‘reliability’, the Conceptual Framework now refers to ‘faithful
representation’. The basis for this change was that to be useful in making investment, credit and similar
resource allocation decisions, information must be a faithful representation of the real-world economic
phenomena that it purports to represent. The phenomena represented in financial reports are economic
resources and obligations and the transactions and other events and circumstances that change them. To
be a faithful representation of those economic phenomena, information must be neutral, free from error
and unbiased. Further discussion is provided in chapter 10.

Enhancing qualitative characteristics

In addition to fundamental qualitative characteristics, the enhancing qualitative characteristics of financial
information are comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability. The revised Conceptual
Framework issued in 2010 adopts the concept of comparability as a desirable characteristic of accounting
information. Comparability is the quality of information that enables users to identify similarities in and
differences between two sets of economic data. Comparability, including consistency, enhances the
usefulness of financial reporting information in making economic decisions. Consistency refers to use of
the same accounting policies and procedures, either from period to period within an entity or in a single
period across entities. In revising the Conceptual Framework, it was argued that comparability is the
goal and that consistency of policies and procedures is a means to an end that helps in achieving that goal.
However, it is insufficient for policies and procedures to be applied consistently if the information they
produce is no longer relevant or a faithful representation of economic reality.

Verifiability refers to different knowledgeable and independent observers being able to reach
consensus, although not necessarily complete agreement, that a particular portrayal of information is a
faithful representation. Verifiability assists to assure users that information represents faithfully the
economic phenomena it purports to represent. Another enhancing qualitative characteristic is timeliness. It
is desirable that users have access to timely information for their decision making.

47

A further characteristic of useful accounting information is that of understandability. The Conceptual
Framework defines understandability as the quality of information that enables users who have a
reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and financial accounting, and who study the
information with reasonable diligence, to comprehend its meaning. It should be clear that, even though it is
desirable for financial statements to be expressed in simple language, relevant information should not be
excluded merely because it may be too complex or difficult for some users to understand. Understandability
is enhanced when information is classified, characterised, and presented clearly and concisely.

The concept of materiality

To ensure that information in financial statements is useful for decision making, it is important that users
are not overwhelmed with so much detail that they cannot clearly understand the message. Hence, it is
desirable that users receive information about significant items for their decisions, with insignificant items
either not shown separately or grouped together under appropriate headings.

The concept of materiality relates to the extent to which information can be omitted, misstated or
grouped with other information without misleading the statement users when they are making their
economic decisions. Materiality needs to be considered in determining if information is relevant and this can
vary from entity to entity. Thus, the prices paid for insignificant items, such as for each piece of stationery,
need not be shown separately in the financial statements because they are insignificant, or immaterial, in
the overall context of the decision being made by the user. It is important, however, when assessing
materiality, for the accountant to be aware of the particular decision being made by the user. The same



information may be material for one decision and immaterial for another. Thus, considerable judgement is
needed by the accountant in order to assess which information is material and which is immaterial for the
particular decision at hand and from one entity to another.

Benefits and costs

The Conceptual Framework also states that the benefits of financial reporting information should justify
the costs of providing and using it. The benefits of financial reporting information include better investment,
credit and similar economic decisions, which in turn result in more efficient markets and greater benefits for
the economy as a whole. But, the task of preparing financial statements also imposes costs on both the
preparers and the users of those statements, as well as on others such as auditors. Therefore, a major
constraint on reporting the absolute best information in a financial statement is the cost of generating that
information and assuring that it is a faithful representation of the events it is supposed to represent. In
other words, information is costly to produce, and both the accountant and the user must be mindful of its
benefits and costs.

These assumptions and characteristics (and others as well) have been established by international
regulators of accounting standards. In a later chapter, we shall introduce the issue of regulation, and show
how accounting standards have been developed in Australia.

BUSINESS KNOWLEDGE

Globalised financial reporting standards

Asia will be central to the setting of global accounting standards in the next five years, and Australia is
well positioned to lead that charge if it has the courage to step up, according to former International
Accounting Standards Board chairman, David Tweedie.

America’s relevance in the context of the world’'s equity markets is slipping, said Sir David, in
Australia this week to address the University of Sydney Business School R J Chambers Memorial
Research Lecture.

The United States accounted for 52 per cent of world equity capitalisation when the quest for a
global set of accounting rules began a decade ago. Now it's down to 31 per cent. At the same time,
Asia’s contribution has risen from 15 per cent to 33 per cent.

‘Suddenly you've got Asia going past America. And the Americans haven’t quite woken up to that yet.
They're losing it, and they're losing it to this region, and Latin America too on a much smaller scale,’
he said.

Efficient capital markets depend on reliable accounting, and one of the primary aims of the
International Financial Reporting Standards is to facilitate global investment flows.
Sir David admits that despite America’s shrinking share of world market capitalisation, ‘there won't be
a global standard
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[for accounting] unless you get the Americans in’. Japan is the linchpin. Circumstances could be right
for it to finally break with the US and adopt the international standards, isolating the US as the odd
one out.

He believes the biggest challenge for accounting standard setters in the next decade will be sticking
to a principles-based approach, and resisting the temptation for prescriptive rules and more
interpretations.

This philosophy has allowed IFRS to stay under 3000 pages, compared to US GAP at 17 500.

Source: King, A 2012, ‘Asia must step into standards gap: Tweedie’, The Australian Financial Review,
12 September.

LEARNING CHECK



1 Under the accounting entity assumption, the entity is considered a separate entity distinguishable
from its owner(s) and from all other entities. The accounting equation is derived from this: Assets =
Liabilities + Equity.

1 Under the accrual basis assumption, the effects of transactions and events are recognised in
accounting records when they occur, and not necessarily when the cash is received or paid.

] The going concern assumption means that financial statements are prepared on the assumption that
the entity will continue to operate in the future, and so liquidation prices are generally not reported.

] As a result of the period assumption, profit determination involves recognising income for a period
and deducting the expenses incurred for that same period.

1 The fundamental characteristics of wuseful financial information are relevance and faithful
representation and the enhancing characteristics are comparability, verifiability, timeliness and
understandability.

1 Both materiality and costs versus benefits are important constraints on determining which
information to include in financial statements for efficient economic decision making.

2.5 The effects of transactions on the
accounting equation and financial statements

Analyse the effects of business transactions on the accounting equation and on
financial statements.

The basic accounting model or accounting equation was expressed earlier as:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity

The sum of the assets of an entity is always equal to the total sources from which those assets came —
liabilities plus equity. Transactions result in changes in assets, liabilities and equity. Even though the
elements of the accounting equation change as a result of transactions, the basic equality of the accounting
equation remains unchanged, which is illustrated using some transactions undertaken by the business of
Cynthia’s Beauty Services, introduced in chapter 1.

Note that the impact of GST is not discussed in this example in order to focus on the basic accounting
principles involved in recording the transactions for Cynthia’s business. GST is introduced in chapter 3.
Transaction 1 Assume that Cynthia decided to set up a business called Cynthia’s Beauty Services on 2
January 2016 by taking $53 000 from her personal savings account and depositing it in a business bank
account she opened in the business name. This investment by Cynthia represents the first transaction (1) of
Cynthia’s Beauty Services. After this initial investment, the new business has one asset (cash at bank), no
liabilities and Cynthia’s equity. Thus, the accounting equation for Cynthia’'s Beauty Services is as shown
below.

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Cash at Cynthia Jones,
Bank Capital
(1) $53 000 = $53000
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The effect of this transaction is to increase assets by $53 000, with an equal increase in equity on the
other side of the equation. (Remember that the equation relates only to the business entity.) Because of
the accounting entity assumption, Cynthia’s personal assets and debts are not part of the business and are
therefore excluded from the equation.



Transaction 2 After making the initial investment, Cynthia, who also manages the business, purchased a
van and massage and manicure tables. The van cost $32 000 and the tables had a list price of $8000 cost
but after discussion, the supplier agreed to sell the equipment to Cynthia’s business for $6000 cash. The
equation before this transaction, the effect of this transaction (2) on the equation, and the equation after
the transaction are:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Cash at Massage and Cynthia Jones,
Bank + manicure tables + Van = Capital
(1) $53 000 = $53000
(2) —38 000 +6 000 +32000
15000 + 6000 + 32000 = 53000
$53000

This transaction resulted in an exchange of one asset (cash) for two other assets (a van, and massage
and manicure tables). No liabilities were incurred and Cynthia’s equity remained unchanged. Note that the
van and tables are recorded initially at their cost of $38 000; the list price of the tables is irrelevant. Note
that total assets of $53 000 are still equal to liabilities + equity.

Transaction 3 Cynthia purchased $2500 worth of nail supplies from OPI Ltd on credit, with an agreement
to pay for the supplies later. The effect of this transaction (3) is an increase in assets of $2500 and an
increase in liabilities, accounts payable, of $2500:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Cash at Massage and Nail Accounts Cynthia Jones,
Bank 4+ manicuretables 4+ Van 4 Supplies = + Capital
(1) $53 000 = $53 000
(2) —38 000 +6 000 +32000

15000 + 6 000 + 32000 = 53 000

(3) +2 500 +2 500
15000 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 53 000

$55500 $55500

Cynthia’s equity in the business did not change because assets and liabilities increased by equal amounts.
The accounting equation is still in balance, with $55 500 in total assets and $55 500 of liabilities and equity.

One of the main objectives of a business is to engage in activities that will result in profit to its owners.
As explained earlier, profit is the excess of income over expenses for a specific time period. Income for
Cynthia’'s Beauty Services is derived from charging fees for performing beauty-related services for its
customers. Because the assets received as income belong to the owner, income increases equity. Expenses
for the business consist of such things as wages paid to Fred as an employee and nail supplies used. Just
as income increases equity, expenses decrease equity. The excess of income over expenses therefore
results in an increase in the net assets and a net increase in equity. Of course, an excess of expenses over
income (a loss) has the opposite effect.
Transactions 4 and 5 To |illustrate the effect of income on the accounting equation, assume that
Cynthia’s Beauty Services performed beauty services for customers for the amount of $4500,
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which was received in cash — transaction (4). In addition, the business completed beauty services for
guests at a local hotel and sent the hotel an invoice for $1150 — transaction (5). The effects of these



transactions on the accounting equation are indicated in (4) and (5) below.

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Massage and
Cash at manicure Nail Accounts Accounts Cynthia Jones,

Bank + tables + Van + Supplies + Receivable = Payable + Capital
(1) $53 000 = $53000
(2) 38000 +6 000 +32 000

15000 + 6000 + 32000 = 53000
(3) +2500 +2500

15000 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 53000
(4) +4 500 +4500  (Beauty services income)

19500 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 57500
(5) +1550 +1560  (Beauty services income)

19500 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 + 15650 = 2500 + 59050

$61550 $61550

Note that the effect of transaction (4) is to increase the asset cash at bank and, because it represents a

receipt for the performance of services (income), to increase equity by an equal amount. Transaction (5)
introduces an important principle in accounting — that income under the accrual basis of accounting is
recognised before cash is received. The income is represented by an increase in an asset, in this case an
account receivable, which is a right to collect cash in the future from a debtor.
Transactions 6 and 7 To see the effect of expenses on the accounting equation, assume that Cynthia’s
business paid cash of $600 for wages to Fred, an employee for bookkeeping services — transaction (6). In
addition, a count of the nail supplies showed that nail supplies on hand amounted to $1700. The other
$800 ($2500 less $1700) of nail supplies had been used — transaction (7). The effects of these transactions
on the accounting equation are shown in (6) and (7) below.

Note that expenses have an effect which is opposite to the recognition of income, with a decrease in
assets and a decrease in equity. The basic principle in accrual accounting is that expenses are recognised in
the period in which the consumption or loss of economic benefits has occurred and not when the cash is
paid.

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Manicure
Cash at and massage Nail Accounts Accounts Cynthia
Bank -+ tables + Van + Supplies + Receivable = Payable + Jones, Capital
(1) $53000 = $53 000
(2)  —38000 +6 000 +32 000
15000 + 6 000 + 32000 = 53000
(3) +2500 +2500
15000 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 53000
(4) +4 500 +4500  (Beauty services income)
19500 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 57 500
(5) +1550 +1560  (Beauty services income)
19500 + 6 000 + 32000 + 2500 + 1550 = 2500 + 59 050
(6) —600 —600  (Wages expense)
18900 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 + 1550 = 2500 + 58 450
(7) —800 —800  (Nail supplies expense)
18900 + 6000 + 32000 + 1700 + 1550 = 2500 + 57 650
$60 150 $60 150
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In transaction (6), the benefits received from the employee had been used by the time payment was

made. Thus the payment represents expenses that reduced the asset cash at bank as well as equity by
equal amounts of $600. The initial purchase of nail supplies in transaction (3) resulted in the acquisition of



an asset that will benefit several accounting periods. The measurement of nail supplies at the end of the
period indicated that $800 of the supplies had been used during the period and this is treated as an
expense by decreasing nail supplies and decreasing equity.

Transactions 8, 9 and 10 As one last illustration of the effect of transactions on the accounting equation,
assume that Cynthia’s Beauty Services collected the account receivable recognised in transaction (5) —
transaction (8); and paid the amount due to OPI Ltd — transaction (9) — for the purchase of nail supplies
in transaction (3). In addition, Cynthia withdrew $200 from the business for her personal use — transaction
(10). The effects of these transactions on the accounting equation are demonstrated in (8), (9) and (10)
below.

The effect of the collection of the account receivable in transaction (8) is to increase one asset (cash at
bank) and decrease another asset (accounts receivable). There is no effect on total assets and no effect on
liabilities or equity. The payment of the account payable in transaction (9) results in a decrease in cash at
bank and an equal decrease in liabilities, with no effect on equity. The drawings by Cynthia in transaction
(10) decrease cash at bank and equity by equal amounts.

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Cash at Massage and Nail Accounts Accounts Cynthia
Bank + manicure + Van  + Supplies + Receivable = Payable + Jones, Capital
(1) $53000 = $53 000
(2) —38000 +6 000 +32000
15000 + 6000 + 32000 = 53000
(3) +2 500 +2 500
15000 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 53000
(4)  +4500 +4500  (Beauty services income)
19500 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 = 2500 + 57500
(5) +1550 +1560  (Beauty services income)
19500 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 + 1550 = 2500 + 59050
(6) —600 —600  (Wages expense)
18900 + 6000 + 32000 + 2500 + 1550 = 2500 + 58 450
(7) —800 —800  (Nail supplies expense)
18900 + 6000 + 32000 + 1700 + 1550 = 2500 + 57 650
(8)  +1550 —1550
20450 + 6000 + 32000 + 1700 = 2500 + 57 650
(99  -2500 —2500
17950 + 6000 + 32000 + 1700 = 57 650
(10) —200 —200  (Drawings)
17750 + 6000 + 32000 + 1700 = 57450
$57 450 $57 450

A review of this illustration brings out two important facts.

1. Every transaction affected at least two components of the equation. This dual recording process,
known as double-entry accounting, is the method followed in the vast majority of accounting
systems.

2. After the effects of each transaction were recorded, the equation remained in balance, with the sum
of the assets equal to the sum of the liabilities and equity. Under double-entry accounting, this must
always be the case.

Observe that, after all transactions have been recorded, Cynthia’s equity (or capital) is $57 450, consisting
of the $53 000 she invested to start the business plus $4650 profit, representing the excess of income
($6050) over expenses ($1400) for the period, less the $200 drawings. In addition, total assets of the
business are $57 450, and the business owes no liabilities. Assets have therefore increased by $4450 during
the period.
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After taking the effects of the preceding transactions into account (the transactions occur in January and
the accounting period in this case is, therefore, 1 month), we arrive at the financial statements for Cynthia’s
Beauty Services shown in figure 2.8.



Figure 2.8 Financial statements for Cynthia’s Beauty Services

CYNTHIA'S BEAUTY SERVICES
Balance Sheet
as at 31 January 2016

ASSETS EQUITY
Cash at bank $17750 Cynthia Jones, Capital $57 450
Nail supplies 1700
Massage and manicure tables 6000
Van 32000
$57 450 $57 450

Income Statement
for the month ended 31 January 2016

INCOME
Beauty services $6050
EXPENSES
Nail supplies expense $800
Wages expense 600
1400
PROFIT $4 650
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the month ended 31 January 2016
Cynthia Jones, Capital — 2 January 2016 $ 53000
Profit for the month 4650
57650
Less: Drawings 200
Cynthia Jones, Capital — 31 January 2016 $ 57450
Statement of Cash Flows
for the manth ended 31 January 2016
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers ($4500 + $1550) $ 6050
Cash paid to suppliers and employees ($2500 + $600) (3100)
Net cash from operating activities $ 2950
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of massage and manicure tables (6 000)
Purchase of van (32000)
Net cash used in investing activities (38 000)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Investment by owner 53000
Drawings by owner (200)

Net cash used in financing activities 52 800



Net increase in cash held 17750
Cash at beginning of month —
Cash at end of month $ 17750

LEARNING CHECK

1 The accounting equation is specified as Assets = Liabilities + Equity.

] Double-entry accounting means that every transaction affects the accounting equation in such a way
that the accounting equation balances after each transaction is recorded.
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Accounting entity assumption, p. 44
Accounting equation, p. 38
Accounts payable, p. 39
Accounts receivable, p. 41
Accrual basis, p. 45

Assets, p. 39

Balance sheet (statement of financial position), p. 38
Company (or corporation), p. 34
Comparability, p. 46
Consistency, p. 46

Creditors, p. 39

Debtors, p. 41

Double-entry accounting, p. 51
Drawings, p. 41

Economic substance, p. 46
Effectiveness, p. 36

Efficiency, p. 35

Equity, p. 40

Expenses, p. 41

Faithful representation, p. 45
Financial performance, p. 37
Financial position, p. 37
Financing activities, p. 38

Going concern assumption, p. 45
Income, p. 41

Income statement, p. 40
Investing activities, p. 38
Liabilities, p. 39

Limited liability, p. 34

Loss, p. 41

Management by exception, p. 36
Management functions, p. 36
Materiality, p. 47

Net assets, p. 39

Operating activities, p. 37
Operating statement, p. 40



Organisation, p. 35
Partnership, p. 34

Period assumption, p. 45
Profit, p. 41

Profit or loss statement, p. 40
Relevance, p. 45
Shareholders, p. 34

Single proprietorship (sole trader), p. 34
Statement of cash flows, p. 42
Timeliness, p. 46
Understandability, p. 47
Verifiability, p. 46

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.

14.

Explain the basic differences between a sole trader (or single proprietorship), a partnership and a
company. Discuss the factors that need to be considered in selecting an appropriate structure for
Cynthia’s beauty services business.

. Oxfam is a ‘not-for-profit’ entity. Discuss what it means to be a ‘not-for-profit’ entity.
. Entities are expected to perform in the spheres of profit, people and the planet. List some key

performance indicators applicable to each sphere.

. The coach of the local football team was trying to motivate the team before a big match. He said: ‘Our

team is like any organisation. We must have goals, we must practise the usual management functions,
and we must make use of all relevant information.” Explain if you agree with the coach. If not, explain
your position.

. Analyse why the cash received from the sale of a good is income yet the cash contributed by the owner

is not income.

. Discuss whether an asset needs to be legally owned to be recorded as an asset on the balance sheet.
. A local football club has won the premiership for the past four years. Accordingly, the club has a very

strong supporter base. Rationalise if the players would be regarded as an asset of the business to be
recognised on the balance sheet.

. As the accountant at a local council, explain to the Chief Executive Officer if the land under roads is an

asset that should be recorded on the Council’s balance sheet.

. Moonshine Enterprises hired an accountant at the rate of $1000 per week. The person is to commence

duty on 1 February. Explain if the business has a liability in respect of the accountant’s salary as at 1
February.
Discuss){che significance of the following assumptions in the preparation of an entity’s financial
statements:

(a) entity assumption

(b) accrual basis assumption

(c) going concern assumption

(d) period assumption.
List and define the fundamental and enhancing characteristics of financial information.
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Distinguish between the concepts of consistency and comparability and discuss if the same accounting
method should always be applied consistently in financial statements.

Your doctor knows that you are studying accounting. He has recently received the annual report for a
company in which he is a shareholder. The financial report within the annual report is lengthy and your
doctor requests your advice as to whether he should contact the company to complain that the financial
information is not understandable. Advise your doctor.

Management expert Professor Henry Mintzberg has argued that a manager’s work can be characterised
by ten common roles falling into three categories: informational (managing by information),
interpersonal (managing through people), and decisional (managing through action). Provide an
example of activity in each of these three categories.



15. ‘Faithful representation’ is a fundamental characteristic of financial information. This term replaced
‘reliable’ in the 2010 revisions to the Conceptual Framework. Discuss the rationale for this change.

EXERCISES

PREPARING A BALANCE SHEET

Financial items for George Karatsis IT Services on 31 May 2016 are presented below in alphabetical order.

Accounts payable $ 64 000 Land $250 000
Accounts receivable 70 000 Mortgage payable 710 000
Building 520 000 Office equipment 180 000
Cash at bank 61 000 Office supplies 34 000
Required
A. Prepare a balance sheet similar to the one in figure 2.2. (Note that a major item is missing in the
list.)
B. Reformat the statement to present it in narrative form as in figure 2.3.
INCOME STATEMENT AND ANALYSIS LO 1,3, 5

During the year ended 30 June 2016, Skilled Services, a provider of temporary secretary personnel, had
collected receipts from clients for a total value of $250 000. Wages of $136 000 had been paid to the
temporary workers, rental of office space and electricity costs were $12 000 and $13 700 respectively for
the year, and the owners withdrew $20 000 for their personal use.
Required

A. Prepare an income statement for the year for Skilled Services.

B. Skilled Services is a sole proprietor. Compare the liability of a sole proprietor owner with that of a

company shareholder.

ANALYSIS OF EQUITY

Sarah Hodge is a self-employed piano teacher operating her business from home. She keeps her accounting
records for business activities completely separate from her records for personal activities. At 30 June 2015,
Sarah had business assets and liabilities worth $62 500 and $41 000 respectively. At 30 June 2016, Sarah
had business assets and liabilities worth $56 000 and $38 000 respectively.
Required
A. Assuming Sarah did not contribute to or withdraw from the business during the financial year,
determine the profit/loss for the year.
B. Assuming Sarah had withdrawn $15 000 during the year, determine the profit/loss for the year.
C. Assuming Sarah had contributed $20 000 and withdrawn $12 000, prepare a statement of changes in
equity for the year.
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DETERMINING PROFIT FROM EQUITY BALANCES

Equity balances for Sen Widyaya appearing in the balance sheets of Widyaya's Window Washing Services as
at 30 June 2016, 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

30 June 2016 30 June 2015 30 June 2014

EQUITY
Sen Widyaya, Capital $27300 $30000 $28 000

During 2014-15, Sen withdrew $25 000 for personal use and also contributed additional capital of $8000.
During 2015-16, he withdrew $10 000 capital from the business, and withdrew $15 000 cash for his own
use in anticipation of profits.

Required



Determine the profit/loss earned by the business in each of the 2 years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June
2015.

OPERATING, INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES LO 3, 5

Classify each of the following activities as being either operating, investing or financing for the purpose of
preparing a statement of cash flows. Indicate whether there is an inflow [I] or outflow [O] of cash:

(a) sale of land and buildings for cash

(b) payment of wages to employees

(c) withdrawal of cash by the owner

(d) repayment of a bank loan

(e) cash purchase of a truck by a manufacturing company

(f) lease payment for a fleet of motor vehicles by a courier business

(g) borrowing of money from a finance company on a long-term basis

(h) cash received from customers for the sale of goods.

ELEMENTS IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3, 5

A friend who has established a new dance studio, Hip and Hop, has asked you to give some advice as to
the contents of financial statements. Transactions of Hip and Hop include:

(a) contribution of cash by your friend to the business

(b) purchase of studio sound equipment on credit

(c) electricity costs paid

(d) studio fees received in cash

(e) the owner’s house

(f) rental of a chilled water machine, paid in cash

(g) money withdrawn by your friend to pay university fees for a friend

(h) cash held by the business at the end of the year

(i) money borrowed for purchase of building.
Required
Indicate whether these items would appear in Hip and Hop’s balance sheet, income statement, statement of
changes in equity, and/or statement of cash flows. For those items included in the statement of cash flows,

indicate whether the item relates to operating activities, investing activities, or financing activities. (Hint:
Some items may appear in more than one financial statement.)

ASSUMPTIONS AND CHARACTERISTICS OF INFORMATION

Identify by letter the assumption or characteristic of information which best represents the situations given.
Accounting entity assumption

Accrual basis assumption

Going concern assumption

Period assumption

OOow>
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Relevance
Faithful representation
Materiality
Comparability
1. The reporting of accounting information should be free from personal bias.

2. In a single proprietorship, the owner’'s house and car are not recorded in the records of the
business.

3. The cost of stationery is not shown separately in the income statement.
4. Services provided by a business entity are recorded before the receipt of cash.
5. Machinery held by the business under a long-term lease arrangement is recorded by the business

Tomm



as its own asset.

6. An expense is recorded in the year in which an asset or benefit is consumed in the process of
carrying on the entity’s business.

7. Assets are not recorded at liquidation prices.

8. Consistent accounting policies and methods are used in the preparation of financial statements
from one year to another.

BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS

For each of the following, describe a transaction that would have the stated effect on the accounting
equation:

Increase an asset and increase a liability.

Decrease one asset and increase another asset.

Decrease an asset and decrease equity.

Increase an asset and increase equity.

Decrease a liability and decrease an asset.

Decrease an equity item and decrease an asset.

PREPARATION OF A BALANCE SHEET LO 3, 5

Month-end balance sheet amounts for the legal practice of Adam Booth, a local lawyer, for 3 consecutive
months of 2016 are shown below. The information is complete except for the balance in the Capital
account.

2

October November December
Cash at bank $ 9100 $ 3900 $ 3000
Accounts receivable 16 100 15000 8 050
Prepaid insurance 700 1800 1600
Office equipment 29800 29700 39300
Property 226000 224000 222000
Accounts payable 10100 3100 3000
Wages payable 5100 4100 4 800
Mortgage payable 134 700 134300 133900
Adam Booth, Capital ? ? ?

Required
A. Determine the balance in Adam Booth'’s Capital account at the end of each month.
B. Assuming that Booth made no additional investments and did not withdraw any money from the
business during the 3 months, determine the profit for November and for December.

C. Prepare a balance sheet for the business at the end of December 2016. (The heading should read:
Adam Booth, Lawyer.)

NCUSEERR M EXPLAINING ACCOUNTING TRANSACTIONS

The following schedule shows the effect of several transactions on the accounting equation of Preya Palit
and the balance of each item in the equation after each transaction. Write a sentence to explain the nature
of each transaction.
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Assets = Liabilities + Equity

Cash at Accounts Office Office Accounts Preya Palit,

Bank + Receivable 4+ Equipment 4 Supplies =  Payable + Capital
(1) +$20 000 = +$20000
(2) —7000 +7000

13000 + 7000 = 20000
(3) +2000 42000

15000 + 7000 = 22000
(4) +6 000 +6000

15000 + 6 000 + 7000 = 28000
(5) +3 000 +3 000

15000 + 6 000 + 7000 + 3000 = 3000 + 28 000
(6) +4 000 —4000

19000 + 2000 + 7000 + 3000 = 3000 + 28 000
(7) —8000 —-8000

11000 + 2000 + 7000 + 3000 = 3000 + 20 000
(8) —2000 —2000

11000 + 2000 + 7000 + 1000 = 3000 + 18 000
(9) —3000 —3000

8000 + 2000 + 7000 + 1000 = 0 + 18 000

RECORDING TRANSACTIONS

Jones’ Mower Repairs began operations on 1 August 2016 and completed the following transactions during
the first month.

1. Darren Jones deposited $35 000 of his personal funds in a current account at a bank opened in the
name of the business.
Mower repair equipment was purchased at a cost of $24 000, of which $14 000 was paid in cash. A
loan payable was given for the remainder.
Darren collected $5000 from customers for repair services performed.
Shop rent was paid for the month of August, $1500.
Supplies amounting to $2100 were purchased on credit.
Wages of $1200 were paid as well as an account for electricity, $250.
Darren paid for the supplies purchased in (5) above.
. Supplies used during August amounted to $750.
Required
A. Prepare a schedule similar to that on page 51. List the following assets, liabilities and equity as
column headings: Cash at Bank; Supplies; Equipment; Loan Payable; Accounts Payable; D. Jones,
Capital.
B. Show the effects of each of the transactions on the accounts listed. Indicate totals after each
transaction and complete the schedule as shown on page 51.
C. Prepare an income statement and a statement of changes in equity for the month ended 31 August
2016, and a balance sheet as at 31 August 2016.

DGR PREPARATION OF INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET LO 3, 4

Toby and Talea McKellar are the joint owners of Beaut Beach Caravan Park, which is near a swimming
beach popular during the summer months. The park provides not only camping facilities for caravans and
tents but also up-market cabins with kitchenettes and ensuites. For the year ended 30 June 2016, Toby and
Talea determined the following financial information for their business:

ONOGORWL N



Cash on hand $ 20000 Accounts payable $ 87000

Buildings purchased 420000 Accounts receivable 8000
Income — cabhins 272000 Income — camping 185000
Salaries and wages 220000 Supplies on hand 15000
Supplies used 71000 Other expenses 45000
Other equipment purchased 63000
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A real estate agent valued the buildings at $500 000 on 30 June 2016.
Required
A. Prepare an income statement for Beaut Beach Caravan Park for the year ended 30 June 2016.
B. Prepare a balance sheet for the business as at 30 June 2016.
C. Explain why you have used a particular valuation for the buildings in the balance sheet.

NCU WMl EFFECT OF TRANSACTIONS ON A BALANCE SHEET

The following events occurred during the month of September 2016 for the business of Eliza’s Webdesign
Service:

Sept. 1 Eliza deposited $40 000 cash into the business bank account.

2 A computer, telephone system and printer were purchased at a cost of $10
000 cash.

4 A part-time receptionist was hired to commence in October 2016.

6 Web design services were provided to clients for $12 000. The clients were
invoiced but have not as yet paid.

7 Advertising for the week amount to $1000 cash.

8 A customer paid $3000 in advance for web design services scheduled for
October.

Required
A. Determine the effects of business transactions on a balance sheet by preparing a new balance sheet
for Eliza’s Webdesign Service after each transaction has occurred.
B. Discuss the expected tasks of Eliza as the manager of Webdesign Service.

NCUORRR M EFFECTS OF TRANSACTIONS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

List the effect of each of the following transactions on any or all of the four financial statements of a
business. Apart from indicating the financial statement(s) involved, use appropriate phrases such as
‘increase total assets’, ‘decrease equity’, ‘increase income’, ‘decrease cash flow’ to describe the transaction
concerned.

Purchase equipment for cash.

Provide services to a client, with payment to be received within 40 days.

Pay a liability.

Invest additional cash into the business by the owner.

Collect an account receivable in cash.

Pay wages to employees.

Receive the electricity bill in the mail, to be paid within 30 days.

Sold equipment with the selling price higher than the equipment’s book value.

Withdraw cash by the owner for private use.

Borrow money on a long-term basis from a bank.

S'CIAR R DETERMINATION OF PROFIT BY EXAMINING EQUITY CHANGES LO 4, 5

Eric Lu began a small business on 1 July 2015 by depositing $250 000 into a business bank account. On 30

CoOPNOOAWNE
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June for the next 3 years, the assets and liabilities of the business were as follows:

30 June Total assets Total liabilities
2016 $580 000 $350 000
2017 650 000 370 000
2018 740 000 420 000
Required

By analysing the changes in equity each year, calculate the profit (loss) made by the business for each year
ending 30 June, assuming the following events also occurred.

1. On 1 January 2016, Eric withdrew $20 000 in cash from the business for personal use.

2. On 28 August 2016, Eric invested additional cash of $30 000 into the business.

3. On 31 July 2017, Eric invested additional cash of $25 000 into the business.

4. On 28 January 2018, Eric withdrew $30 000 in cash for personal use.
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PROBLEMS

Basic
Moderate
Challenging
PREPARING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial data for Safety Hire as of 30 June 2015 are:
Accounts receivable $ 63000 Wages expense $ 75000
Equipment hire income 170000 Advertising expense 30000
Accounts payable 40000 Land 15000
Michael Donato, Capital ? Hire equipment 180 000
Cash at bank 45000 Loan payable 50 000
Mortgage payable 130000 Electricity expense 18 000
Building 85000 Telephone expense 1500
Required

A. Prepare an income statement for the month of June and a balance sheet in account format for Safety
Hire as at 30 June 2015.

B. Discuss if, and how, the financial reports that you have prepared would change if you were aware
that the wages expense included $20 000 of drawings by the owner of Safety Hire.

Sigelo][To 22l PREPARING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4, 5

Asset, liability, equity, income and expense amounts for Sadoka’s Interior Decorating at 30 June 2016 are
presented below:

Cash at bank $ 22800 Advertising expense $ 36000
Accounts receivable 117 600 Insurance expense 8000
Supplies 26 400 Rent expense 33000
Equipment 125 600 Supplies expense 12600
Accounts payable 33700 Telephone expense 12200
Sadoka Nato, Capital ? Electricity expense 17000
Decorating services income 386 000 Wages expense 111000

Required



A. Prepare an income statement for the business for the year ended 30 June 2016.

B. Prepare a balance sheet in narrative format as at 30 June 2016.

C. Explain succinctly the differences in the information conveyed by an income statement and a
statement of cash flows.

DETERMINING MISSING ELEMENTS IN ACCOUNTING EQUATION LO S5
Calculate the two missing amounts for each independent case below.
Total Total Total Total Profit
Case assets liabilities Equity income expenses (loss)
A $ 90000 $37000 ? $76000 ? $24.000
B $110000 ? $ 82000 $45000 $56 000 ?
C ? $18000 $ 53000 $80000 ? ($10000)
D $ 93000 ? $ 50000 ? $32 000 ($18000)
E ? $55000 $120000 ? $60 000 $31000

Sige]le] (1o s 220 IDENTIFYING TRANSACTIONS FROM BALANCE SHEET CHANGES LO 3,4, 5

During October 2016, Cleo organised a new business, Cleo’s Cafe. After each October transaction, Cleo
prepared a balance sheet, as shown overleaf.
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(1) CLEO'S CAFE
Balance Sheet

as at 4 October 2016
ASSETS EQUITY
Cash at bank $175000 Cleo, Capital $175000
(2) CLEO’'S CAFE
Balance Sheet
as at 13 October 2016
ASSETS EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 46000 Cleo, Capital $175000
Tables and chairs 129 000
$175 000 $175000
(3) CLEO’'S CAFE

Balance Sheet
as at 18 October 2016

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 26000 Loan payable $ 60000
Tables and chairs 129 000 Cleo, Capital 175000
Coffee machines 80 000
$235 000 $235000
(4) CLEO'S CAFE

Balance Sheet
as at 26 October 2016

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 26000 Accounts payable $ 18000
Supplies 18 000 Loan payable 60 000
Coffee machines 80000 78000
Tables and chairs 129 000 Cleo, Capital 175000
$253 000 $253 000
Required

A. Describe the nature of each of the four transactions that took place during October.
B. Comment on the type of financial information conveyed in a balance sheet.
C. Write a retort to the statement that ‘a balance sheet should be prepared only once a year'.

Sige]e] (1o 2N PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4, 5

Dawson Industries began operations early in January 2017. On 31 December 2017, records showed the
following asset, liability, equity, income and expense amounts:



Accounts receivable $ 25600 Lila Dawson, Capital $ 7

Rent expense 13500 Electricity expense 1200
Cash at bank 10250 Telephone expense 4900
Supplies expense 5250 Advertising expense 12500
Accounts payable 9500 Insurance expense 2500
Service income 147500 Wages expense 44000
Supplies 11000 Drawings 23400
Equipment 43000
Required

A. Prepare an income statement for Dawson Industries for the year ended 31 December 2017.
B. Prepare a balance sheet as at 31 December 2017.

C. Prepare a statement of changes in equity for 2017.

D. Explain the difference between the items ‘supplies’ and ‘supplies expense’.
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Sige]e] (1o 2N CORRECTION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4, 5

A new business graduate with one subject of accounting prepared the financial statements below for
Helen’s Dancing School at the end of the first year of operations.

HELEN'S DANCING SCHOOL
Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

INCOME
Dancing fees $115000
EXPENSES
Studio rent expense $18 000
Wages expense 43000
Supplies expense 16 200
Electricity expense 6750
H. Horner, Drawings 11200
Depreciation expense
—vehicle 3200
— equipment 4300
102650
PROFIT $ 12350
Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2015
ASSETS LIABILITIES
Cash at bank $12 600 Accounts payable $ 13000
Equipment 17800 EQUITY
Vehicle 20700 H. Horner, Capital 38100

$51 100 $ 51100



Additional analysis revealed the following.

1. Dancing fees of $7500 (owed by customers) were unrecorded at 30 June.
2. Additional equipment of $10 500 purchased with a bank loan at the end of the month had not been

recorded.

3. Supplies on hand at 30 June costing $10 600 were included in expenses.
4. Wages of $2500 were payable at 30 June.

Required

B
C

A. Prepare a corrected income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015.

. Prepare a corrected balance sheet in narrative form as at 30 June 2015.

. Prepare a statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2015.
D. Discuss the accounting assumptions that the graduate has breached.

egelo][le 2wl PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT FROM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4, 5

The Marketing Store was established as a sole trader business, specialising in providing marketing services,
on 1 January 2016. The owner, Jenny Smart, contributed $100 000 in cash to the business and did not
withdraw funds for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the following events occurred in the business:

1. Received $280 000 cash for marketing services provided.
2. Paid cash expenses of $200 000 for office supplies and labour.
3. At the end of the year, the business purchased a vehicle for $32 000 cash and a new computer design
system for $50 000 cash.
4. The business leases premises as an office. Lease rental payments for the year amounted to $33 000.
5. The business purchased for $80 000 a block of land on which Jenny hopes to build an office in the new
year. To help pay for the land, the business had to borrow $30 000 from a bank in cash.
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Required
A. Prepare an income statement for The Marketing Store for the year ended 31 December 2016.
B. Prepare a statement of cash flows for The Marketing Store for the year ended 31 December 2016.
C. Discuss if a business can operate profitably and still have a net cash outflow for the year.
D. Provide a counter argument to the statement that ‘a better indicator of an entity’s performance is

cash flow'.

Sgele] 1o 2Rl RECORDING TRANSACTIONS AND PREPARING FINANCIAL LO 3,4,5

STATEMENTS

Financial balances for the car hire business of John’s Limos on 31 March 2016 are provided below in a table
in accounting equation form similar to the chapter illustrations.

Assets = Liabilities +  Equity
Cash at Accounts Office Motor Fuel Accounts Loan John Limos,
Bank + Receivable + Equipment + Vehicles + Supplies = Payable + Payable +  Capital
$11000 + $15000 + $1500 + $94000 + 0 = $3500 + $12000 + $106000

During April, the business of John’s Limos entered into the following transactions.

ONOGR WNE

Collected $8000 of the accounts receivable.

Paid $2000 of the accounts payable.

Purchased another vehicle for $48 000. Paid $5000 in cash and signed a loan agreement for the
balance.

Billed customers for services performed, $10 500.

Fuel supplies purchased on credit, $3750.

Paid expenses in cash, $4250 (wages, $2400; car cleaning $1200; advertising, $650).

John Limos withdrew $2000 for personal use.

Paid parking fines of $300.



Required

C.

A. List the 31 March balances for assets, liabilities and equity in table form as shown above.
B.

Record the effects of each transaction. Show the total of each column after recording each
transaction.

Prepare an income statement, a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows for the
month ended 30 April 2016, and a balance sheet (account format) as at 30 April 2016.

Sgele] [l 2Nl CLASSIFYING ITEMS FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4,5

The following list of items relate to the business of Jay Street Wear:

CONOORWNE

10.
11.

cash paid into the business by Jay to begin operations

racks purchased to display merchandise to customers

building leased for 2 years, with rent payable monthly in advance
streetwear items purchased from a manufacturer

amount owing to the manufacturer for merchandise purchased
insurance premium on the merchandise paid in advance

cash withdrawn by Jay for personal use

wages paid to casual employee

amount borrowed long-term from the bank

cash sales of merchandise to customers

spare change kept in the cash register at the checkout counter.

Required

. Identify the elements of the financial statements (asset, liability, income, expense and equity)
impacted by each of the transactions.

B. List the cash flow classification (operating, investing or financing) and direction (inflow or outflow) for

each transaction.
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Sgelel[sIna 2ol RECORDING TRANSACTIONS AND PREPARING FINANCIAL LO 2, 3,5

STATEMENTS

Financial balances for Ho Ming Wee, Solicitor, on 30 June 2016 are given below in a table in accounting
equation form similar to the chapter illustrations.

Assets = Liabilities + Equity

Cash at Accounts Office Office Accounts Loan Ho Ming

Bank + Receivable + Supplies + Equipment = Payable + Payable + Wee, Capital

$8000 + $13250 + $1000 + $19875 = $2425 + $8750 +  $30950

During the early part of July, the business entered into the following transactions.

1. Paid $2360 on accounts payable.

2. Collected $6400 of the monies owed by clients.

3. Purchased office equipment for $10 200. Paid $1500 in cash and signed a loan agreement for the
balance.

4. Billed customers for legal services performed, $8820.

5. Purchased supplies on credit, $1200.

6. Paid expenses in cash, $9400 (advertising, $2000; rent, $6000; wages, $1400).

7. Used $500 of supplies during the period.

8. Collected $6750 of accounts receivable.

9. Ho Ming Wee paid for a $12 000 family holiday to Europe using the firm’'s bank account.

Required

A. List the 30 June balances for assets, liabilities and equity in table form as shown above.
B. Record the effects of each transaction. Show the total of each column after recording each transaction

as illustrated in the text.



C. Prepare an income statement and a statement of changes in equity for the month and a balance
sheet in narrative format as at 31 July 2016.

D. Discuss if these financial statements are useful for the owner/manager of the business.

Sigelo][cla 2Bl IDENTIFYING TRANSACTIONS FROM BALANCE SHEET CHANGES LO 2,5

Emma Lu obtained registration to practise as a naturopath, and spent the month of July 2016 setting up
her business — E. Lu, Naturopath.

Emma prepared a new balance sheet after each transaction which occurred. During July, the following
balance sheets were prepared.

(1) E. LU, NATUROPATH
Balance Sheet
as at 1 July 2016

ASSETS EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 85000 E. Lu, Capital $ 85000
(2) E. LU, NATUROPATH
Balance Sheet

as at 8 July 2016
ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 50000 Loan payable $160 000
Equipment 25 000 E. Lu, Capital 85000
Building 170 000

$245000 $245 000
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(3) E. LU, NATUROPATH
Balance Sheet

as at 15 July 2016
ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 50000 Accounts payable $ 3500
Office supplies 3500 Loan payable 160 000
Accounts receivable 25000 E. Lu, Capital 85000
Building 170 000
$248 500 $248 500
(4) E. LU, NATUROPATH
Balance Sheet
as at 22 July 2016
ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 45000 Accounts payable $ 3500
Office supplies 3500 Loan payable 155000
Accounts receivable 25000 E. Lu, Capital 85000
Building 170 000
$243500 $243 500
(5) E. LU, NATUROPATH

Balance Sheet
as at 31 July 2016

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Cash at bank $ 41000 Accounts payable $ 3500
Office supplies 3500 Loan payable 155000
Accounts receivable 25000 E. Lu, Capital 81000
Building 170 000
$239500 $239500
Required

A. Describe each of the five transactions that occurred during July 2016.

B. Emma is very focused on the environment. As a manager and owner of the business, discuss the
actions that she could take to earn a reputation for having sustainable business practices.

C. Discuss whether you believe that disclosing sustainable business practices enhances an entity’s

reputation.
Sdge]e] [Clao -2 RECORDING TRANSACTIONS AND PREPARING FINANCIAL LO 3,4,5

STATEMENTS

Tran’s Clothing Alterations began operations on 1 August 2016 and completed the following transactions
during the first month.

1. Tran deposited $18 000 of her personal funds in a current account at a bank opened in the name of
the business.

2. Sewing equipment was purchased at a cost of $9000, of which $5000 was paid in cash. A loan payable
was given for the remainder of $4000.

3. Tran collected $1500 from customers for alteration services performed.



Rent was paid for the month of August, $1200.

Sewing supplies amounting to $700 were purchased on credit.
Wages of $500 were paid as well as an account for electricity, $250.
Tran paid for the sewing supplies purchased in (5) above.

. Supplies used during August amounted to $300.

Required
A. Prepare a schedule similar to that on page 51. List the following assets, liabilities and equity as
column headings: Cash at Bank; Supplies; Equipment; Loan Payable; Accounts Payable; Tran, Capital.

ONOOG A
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B. lllustrate the effects of each of the transactions on the accounts listed. Indicate totals after each
transaction and complete the schedule.

C. Prepare an income statement, a statement of cash flows and a statement of changes in equity for the
month ended 31 August 2016.

D. Prepare a balance sheet as at 31 August 2016.

Hgele] 1o B2 RCI CORRECTING ERRORS AND PREPARING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3, 5

Baker’'s Bread Shop was established on 1 April 2016 with an initial investment of $100 000 by the owner.
During the first few weeks of business, the owner employed a part-time accountant (with only a few
months experience) who recorded the following list of assets:

Accounts payable $ 37 100
Buildings 100 000
Cash at bank 31 000
Furniture 12 000
A. Baker, Capital 150 000
Baking supplies 5 600
Loan payable 20 700
The accountant also recorded the following list of liabilities and equity:
Accounts receivable $20 000
Land 43 200
Mortgage payable 40 000
Cash drawings by A. Baker 36 000
Required

A. Assuming that the amounts above are correct, prepare a corrected balance sheet in narrative form.

B. Determine the amount of profit (loss) made by the business during the period of its first few weeks of
existence, assuming that the owner had invested an additional $20 000 into the business just before
the above amounts were calculated by the accountant.

C. Prepare a statement of changes in equity for the period.

Sigelo][To s e 2o ANALYSING FINANCIAL STATEMENT ELEMENTS LO1, 3,5

Jason Vu offers tutoring services to first-year university students. He has set up a sole proprietorship
business named JV Tutoring. Jason has collected the following information relating to his business activities
at the end of the financial year:

Office supplies $1500 Accounts payable $1080
Office supplies expense 840 Cash at bank 8445
Telephone expense 255 Computer equipment 8250
Motor vehicle expense 330 Advertising expense 510
Accounts receivable 1500 Tutoring income 9750

Bank loan 7500



The following information was disclosed from examining Jason’s bank statement:

Tutoring receipts $8250 Payments to suppliers $2355

Initial contribution by James 3300 Repayment of loan 1500

Bank loan received 9000 Computer equipment purchase 8250
Required

A. Without preparing formal financial statements, calculate the following:

1. profit/loss for the year

2. total assets at the end of the year

3. total liabilities at the end of the year

4. Jason Vu's capital balance at the end of the year
5. net cash inflow/outflow for the year.

B. Recalculate the figures you provided in requirement A, assuming that Jason had withdrawn $5000 in
cash during the year.
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C. Jason cannot deal with the demand for tutoring services. Simon, Jason’s friend, is prepared to make a
capital contribution and join the business as an owner. Advise Jason on the advantages and
disadvantages of establishing the business as a partnership or company.

Sige]le][lo s 2 RSW PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS LO 3,4, 5

Yamindi was raised on a farm in the Northern Territory. While in high school, he was an active member of
the local rural youth club and raised several prize animals that he sold at auction at state and local shows.
He saved his earnings and by the time he finished secondary school, Yamindi had nearly $5000 in a savings
account. He was undecided whether to go on to tertiary education or use his savings in a business venture.
Because of his love for animals, he believed he could successfully operate a pet warehouse store and
decided to use the summer months as a trial.

During the month of October 2016, Yamindi located a small building that he could rent for $100 per
month. After transferring $3000 from his savings account to a business bank account in the name of Pet
Warehouse, he paid cash out of the account for rent and the purchase of supplies. Although he would not
keep a full set of accounting records, he decided to deposit all receipts from sales into the bank account
and to make all payments by direct debit out of the account. In this way he would have a relatively
complete record of his business activities. Yamindi also kept a daily work book in which he recorded all
sales to customers.

On 1 November, Yamindi opened his warehouse to the public. During the first 3 months, he was
unusually busy. Early in February he needed to make a decision on continuing the operation of the business
or to enrol for the first semester at university. To help him make this important decision, Yamindi reviewed
his bank account and daily sales book to determine how well he had done. The review disclosed the
following.

1. Total cash deposited in the account (including the initial $3000 deposit) was $8920.

2. The daily work book showed that on 31 January customers owed him $1000 for goods supplied, which
he expected to collect during February.

3. Direct debits had been made out of the account for:

(a) Rent payments, $400 for the months of November to February.

(b) The purchase of grooming equipment, $4500. The equipment cost $5000 and Yamindi still owed the

supplier $500 on the purchase.

(c) Grooming supplies, $560. Yamindi estimated that the cost of grooming supplies on hand at

31 January was $160.

(d) The payment of electricity bills for the months of November and December, $600. He had just

received his bill for the month of January for the amount of $350, but had not yet paid it.

(e) Advertising paid, $1216.
(f) Withdrawals made by Yamindi to pay for personal expenses, $1300.
Required



A. Prepare an income statement for Yamindi's Pet Warehouse for the 3-month period from 1 November
2016 to 31 January 2017.

B. Prepare a balance sheet as at 31 January 2017 and a statement of changes in equity for the 3-month
period.

C. What other information would you need to determine how well Alicia had done during the 3-month
period?

DECISION ANALYSIS

Schutz Building Services financial statements

Schutz Building Services is a fast-growing business in the housing industry. Johan Schutz started the
business 3 years ago and has worked hard to establish the firm. Johan has no accounting knowledge and
simply keeps his invoices and receipts in a shoebox that he takes to his accountant once a year to be
sorted out and turned into financial statements for tax purposes. Johan does not use the financial
statements for decision making. So long as he has cash in the bank, Johan
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is satisfied with how his business is operating. Unfortunately, Johan’s accountant has suddenly left the
country and retired to South America.

Johan is negotiating a contract with a supplier of building materials who wants to see his financial
statements to ensure that Johan can meet his payments each month. Johan has asked you to prepare
financial statements. Based on his last tax return and the contents of his shoebox for this year, you have
established the following items:

Cash in the shoebox (with the receipts and invoices) $ 500
Cash in the bank account 3 800
Building services provided 550 000
Amounts owed by customers 80 000
Wages paid to employees 150 000
Wages owed to the employees 3 500
Equipment 68 000
Building supplies used 310 000
Building supplies on hand 18 000
Amounts owed to suppliers 30 000
Motor vehicle 32 000
Motor vehicle expenses 5 600
Electricity and telephone expense 4 000
Cash used by Johan for personal expenditure 5 700
Required

A. Using the information above, provide an income statement and a balance sheet in narrative form for
Schutz Building Services for the current period.

B. How would the financial statements you produce help the supplier of building materials decide
whether or not to trade with Johan? What parts of the financial statements would be positive
indicators that Schutz Building Services would pay for supplies on time and what items may cause
some concern for the supplier?

CRITICAL THINKING

Sporting glory — the great intangible

Read the following article from Australian CPA.

While rugby stars are heroes to many, when checking the books they become a complex
intangible. Rosalind Whiting and Kyla Chapman investigate the merits of Human
Resource Accounting in professional sport.



Australia, New Zealand and rugby union — a combination guaranteed to stir patriotic feelings across
the Tasman! But what if we add accounting to this equation? Rugby players are the teams’ most
valuable assets, so should we be placing their value on the balance sheet? And if so, does it make
any difference to the decisions that users of financial statements make?

Human resource accounting in professional sport

Professional sport has been prevalent in the United Kingdom and the United States for nearly 200
years. However, professional sport arrived later to Australia and New Zealand. In particular, the Kiwis
only entered this arena in 1995 when the New Zealand Rugby Football Union (NZRFU) signed the Tri
Nations sponsorship deal and removed all barriers preventing rugby union players being paid for their
services. Player contract expenses in New Zealand now amount to over NZ$20 million annually,
according to the NZRFU.

In the United Kingdom and the United States, the professional teams’ financial accounts quite often
incorporate human resource accounting (HRA). HRA is basically an addition to traditional accounting,
in which a value for the employees is placed on the balance sheet and is amortised over a period of
time, instead of expensing costs such as professional development.

There is debate about the merits of this process and the arguments are in line with those we have
been hearing about intangibles in general. More recently, there has been worldwide movement
towards recognising acquired identifiable intangible assets at fair value in the financial statements. So
why not include an organisation’s human resources? While (thankfully) most people agree that
employees are valuable, there are accounting difficulties with the concept of ownership or control of
the employees (asset definition) and the reliability of measurement.

Despite these concerns, one area where HRA does have some international accept ability is in
accounting for professional sport, mainly because of the measurable player transfer costs. But there is
still some variability in the reporting of human
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resource value, ranging from the capitalisation of signing and transfer fees through to player
development costs or valuations.

To the authors’ knowledge, HRA is not currently practised with Australia and New Zealand’s
professional sports teams. The absence of transfer fees between clubs when trading players may
explain this.

Decision making

Accountants are required to provide information that assists users in assessing an organisation’s
financial and service performance and in making decisions about providing resources to, or doing
business with, the firm.

The big question is whether HRA information is more useful to the decision maker than the
alternative expensing treatment. Supporters of HRA argue that capitalised information is useful for
strategic planning and management of employees, and provides a more accurate measure of the
firm’s status and total performance.

Those against HRA say it is too subjective to be useful and that it just imposes another cost on the
organisation. Some detractors argue that it makes unprofitable organisations appear profitable simply
because smart people work there. But those who believe in the efficiency of the market would argue
that investors are not naive, and decisions would be unaffected by the way in which human resource
information is presented.

Source: Excerpts from Whiting, R & Chapman, K 2003, ‘Sporting glory — the great intangible’, Australian CPA, February, pp.
24-6.

Required

Discuss whether rugby players are ‘valuable assets’ of a business, or an expense. Use the definitions of
assets and expenses in this book to show which of the elements of the financial statements ‘human
resources’ should be classified under.

COMMUNICATION AND LEADERSHIP



Performance of accounting firms

The ownership structure of professional service firms, such as accounting firms, can vary. In an exploratory
study, Pickering (2012) compares the performance of accounting firms with different ownership structures.
In groups of three or four, consider the following issues related to Pickering (2012).
Required

A. Discuss the different forms of ownership a professional service firm can take.

B. Articulate the research question that Pickering (2012) is trying to address.

C. Explain the research design used by Pickering (2012) to address the research question.

D. Summarise the findings of Pickering (2012).

Source: Pickering, M 2012, ‘Accounting Firms: Exploring Relative Performance, Performance Measurement and Measurement
Issues’, Australasian Accounting Business and Finance Journal, vol. 6, iss. 3.

ETHICS AND GOVERNANCE

Bribing government officials
Read the following article and answer the questions.

A BHP Billiton mining deal being investigated for alleged corruption was personally overseen by
Cambodian strong man Hun Sen, diplomatic cables reveal. The mining giant’s aborted attempt to
establish a bauxite mine in Cambodia and its hospitality program for Chinese officials at the 2008
Beijing Olympics are at the centre of a foreign bribery probe involving the Australian Federal Police
and the US Justice Department.

Diplomatic cables, several marked ‘sensitive’ and ‘protected’, show for the first time Cambodian
Prime Minister Hun Sen’s close involvement in 2006 negotiations with BHP executives. The cables
show Hun Sen told a private audience in Cambodia that he would give ‘BHP 1 million hectares of land’
weeks before the 2006 agreement was signed. He also promised the company ‘a possible tax holiday’
and chaired a committee examining legal issues associated with the BHP proposal.

The cables reveal how BHP decided to stop all mineral exploration in Cambodia in 2009 just months
after a British-based non-government organisation exposed its ‘tea money’ payments of US$3.5
million to Cambodian government departments and raised concerns some of the money had gone
missing. There is no evidence suggesting any of the money went to Hun Sen, who has dismissed
reports suggesting BHP was involved in bribery in Cambodia.

The cables, released under FOI by the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, show BHP in 2006
took what Australian
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officials regarded as an unusual step of asking them to directly approach Hun Sen for a meeting to
‘go to the next level and close the deal’. Although Australian officials rejected the request to approach
the Cambodian leader on BHP’s behalf in order to ‘preserve our political capital’, embassy staff in
Phnom Penh contacted Hun Sen’s office to get a contact name and number to pass to BHP.

In September 2006, Hun Sen and BHP executives signed an agreement granting the firm and joint
venture partner Mitsubishi rights to explore a huge area of land for bauxite deposits. The deal was
ratified by Hun Sen and then prime minister John Howard weeks later.

The cables make clear that although BHP’s exploration process was progressing slowly during 2007
and 2008, the company’s Cambodia-based executives were optimistic about the project’s success.
However, the diplomatic cables show a change in BHP’s stance on Cambodia shortly after the
February 2009 release of the Global Witness report.

In April 2009, Australian diplomats sent a ‘confidential’ cable to Canberra raising doubts about BHP’s
long-term commitment to Cambodia, blaming the global financial crisis and the country’s ‘own poor
financial management’. The cable stated that any withdrawal by BHP would ‘not only breach BHP’'s
MOU with the Cambodian government (signed in the presence of prime ministers Hun Sen and



Howard in Canberra in 2006)’, but would also ‘diminish Australia’s influence in this major sector’.

Australian diplomats in Phnom Penh also sent a cable to Canberra in response to the claims by

Global Witness stating that ‘the specific references [to] Australian companies are very concerning’.
However, they remained confident BHP had done nothing wrong.

BHP told the Australian government in June 2009 that it would pull out of Cambodia because the

bauxite deposit was not worth mining due to global financial conditions.

Source: Baker, R & McKenzie, N 2013, ‘Cambodian PM linked to talks’, The Age, 26 March.

Required

A.
B.
C.

Identify the stakeholders in this situation.

Determine the ethical issues (if any) involved.

Comment on the ethics of bribing officials in a country where you are conducting business given that
such actions are part of the country’s normal business practice, but they are unacceptable in your own
country.

The article refers to a Global Witness report. Provide a dossier on Global Witness (see
http://www.globalwitness.org/).

The article also refers to BHP’s hospitality program for Chinese officials at the 2008 Beijing Olympics
also being at the centre of a foreign bribery probe. Identify the nature of the concerns and discuss
why the activities are alleged to be inappropriate.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Refer to the latest financial report of Apple on its website, http://investor.apple.com. Answer the following
guestions using the consolidated balance sheet and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

A.

B.

m

State the accounting equation for Apple in dollar figures at the end of the reporting period for the end
and beginning of the last reporting year. Comment on what this reveals about Apple’s financing policy.
Explain why the change in total assets equals the change in total liabilities plus the change in total
equity.

C. State Apple’s profit (loss) for the last reporting year.
D.

Determine Apple’s net increase (decrease) in cash flows for the last reporting period in aggregate and
by operating, investing and financing categories.

Explain how Apple could apply the principle of materiality of an item of financial information when
preparing financial reports.

In the business case at the start of this chapter, Apple is identified as a company that ranks highly on
the Global Reputation Index. Research and report on the factors that contribute to Apple’s high
ranking in this index.

Corporate reporting is evolving and is more than reporting on profits. Reporting on the entity’s
performance related to people and the planet is increasingly important and included within the annual
report or as a stand-alone report. List examples of such reporting by Apple.

1. Suggestions to amend the definition of an asset are discussed in chapter 10.

2. Suggestions to amend the definition of a liability are discussed in chapter 10.
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Accounting systems and processes
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7 Accounting systems
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CHAPTER 3

Recording transactions

Transactions

The accounting cycle
Double-entry accounting
General journal

Trial balance

Appendix: Introduction to the goods and services tax in Australia
Key terms

Discussion questions
Exercises

Problems

Decision analysis
Ethics and governance
Financial analysis

Concepts for review

Before studying this chapter, you should understand or, if necessary, revise:

the steps in the decision-making process (pp. 5-6)

the nature of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses (pp. 39-40)

the accounting equation, and its purpose (p. 39)

the nature of the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows (pp. 38-40)

the assumptions made by accountants in the preparation of financial statements (pp. 44-5).

Learning Objectives
After studying this chapter you should be able to:
1 identify the nature, purpose and evidence for transactions (pp. 74-6)

2 describe the accounting cycle used to record, classify and summarise transactions, including the use
of ledger accounts and the general ledger (pp. 76—85)

3 outline the rules of debit and credit used in double-entry accounting and how to apply these rules in
analysing transactions (pp. 85-7)

4 explain the purpose and format of the general journal, record transactions in the general journal and
transfer the information to the general ledger (pp. 88—-105)

5 discuss the purpose of a trial balance and how to prepare one (pp. 105-7)
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Luca Pacioli: the father of accounting

Luca Pacioli was one of the greatest men of the Renaissance. He is also one of the least well known.
This is surprising, for Luca Pacioli's manuscripts and ideas changed the way the world worked then, and
continue to affect modern daily life.

Luca Pacioli was born in Sansepulcro, in Tuscany. He was probably born during 1445. His family was
poor, and Pacioli’s future seemed very unpromising. Pacioli joined a Franciscan monastery in Sansepulcro
and became an apprentice to a local businessman. The young Pacioli had always loved mathematics
though, and he soon abandoned his apprenticeship to work as a mathematics scholar ...

The year 1494 is the only date during Pacioli’s life that is absolutely certain. It was during this year
that the 49-year-old Pacioli published his famous book Summa de Arithmetica, Geometria,
Proportioni et Proportionalita (The Collected Knowledge of Arithmetic, Geometry, Proportion and
Proportionality). Pacioli wrote the Summa in an attempt to redress the poor state of mathematics
teaching in his time. One section in the book made Pacioli famous. The section was Particularis de
Computis et Scripturis, a treatise on accounting ... Pacioli was the first person to describe doubleentry
accounting, also known as the Venetian method. This new system was state-of-the-art, and
revolutionised economy and business. The Summa made Pacioli a celebrity and ensured him a place in
history as ‘The Father of Accounting’. The Summa was the most widely read mathematical work in all
Italy, and became one of the first books published on the Gutenberg press.




Pacioli's important manuscript made him instantly famous, and he was invited to Milan to teach
mathematics at the Court of Duke Lodovico Maria Sforzo. One of his pupils would be Leonardo da Vinci.
During the 7 years Pacioli and da Vinci spent together, the two would help each other create two
masterpieces that would withstand the test of time. Da Vinci illustrated Pacioli’'s next and second most
important manuscript De Divina Proportione (Of Divine Proportions). Pacioli taught da Vinci
perspective and proportionality. This knowledge allowed da Vinci to create one of his greatest
masterpieces ... The Last Supper. The geometry Pacioli taught to da Vinci would occur in many of da
Vinci's later works. Da Vinci mentions Pacioli many times in his notes.

Source: Excerpts from article by Flyn Flesher.
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Chapter preview

This chapter examines the basic procedures used in a manual accounting system to analyse, record and
summarise the effects of transactions on an entity in order to generate information for use in decision
making. The recording and summarising functions are mainly performed by computers, as we shall see in
chapter 7, but the data gathered and stored in a computerised system are based on an analysis similar to
the manual one developed in this chapter. To effectively use financial reports for decision making, it is
essential that we understand the underlying accounting system, and this is most easily done by studying
the procedures used in a manually operated system, developed originally by Pacioli in the fifteenth century
(see the scene setter).

This chapter describes the basic procedures used to record the effects of transactions on an entity’s
financial position. The focus is on any entity that performs services for its customers/clients. Accounting for
entities that engage in retailing and manufacturing operations is examined in later chapters.

3.1 Transactions

Identify the nature, purpose and evidence for transactions.

Types of transactions

External transactions. An entity may engage in transactions with outside parties that affect its financial
statements. Examples include:

the purchase of equipment

the performance of services for others (e.g. medical, legal, cleaning, marketing, public relations)
the provision by others of a service for the entity

borrowing money from a bank

the purchase of supplies (e.g. stationery, fuel).

These transactions are recorded by the accountant and are called external transactions because there is
an exchange of economic resources and/or obligations between the entity and one or more outside parties.
In other words, in an external transaction the entity gives up something and receives something in return.
Internal transactions. Other economic events that do not involve external transactions are recorded
because they affect the internal relationships between the entity’s assets, liabilities and equity. Use of office
supplies by the entity’'s employees and of equipment to perform a service are examples of internal
transactions. Other events, such as the destruction of an office building by fire, are also given accounting
recognition because the entity’s assets and equity are decreased. The term transaction is often used to
refer to all events that are recorded in the accounting system.

Non-transaction events. Some events are not usually recorded because there has not been an exchange
of goods or services. For example:

receiving an order from a customer
signing a contract to purchase an asset in the future
hiring an employee



changing interest rates.

These situations are not captured by the accounting system because a transaction is not considered to have
taken place at this point. These events will be recognised in the accounting system in the future if they
result in a transaction.

Accounting is based on a set of rules for determining which events constitute accounting transactions.
Two of the difficulties you will face in the study of accounting are (1) determining which events to record
now and (2) deciding at what stage in the future an event should be recorded in the accounting system.
Unfortunately, there are no simple rules.

Transactions of a business entity

Assets represent resources controlled by an entity which are expected to provide future economic benefits
to the entity. The initial source of assets for any business is an investment by the owner(s). Although the
investment may take various forms (such as cash at bank, land or equipment), the initial investment is
often cash. Individuals invest in a business in the expectation of
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eventually being able to withdraw assets in excess of those invested. They expect that the business will
operate at a profit and that they will receive a return on their investment.

Cash is useful as a medium of exchange or as a measure of value, but it is essentially a non-productive
asset. In order to generate income, the business acquires productive resources such as buildings,
machinery and equipment. These non-cash resources are used to provide goods or services to customers in
exchange for income in the form of cash or the customers’ promises to pay cash in the future. Cash
received from customers is then used to pay the expenses and obligations of the business. Any remaining
cash may be held to pay future obligations, to finance future expansion, to invest, or to distribute to
owners as a return on their investment.

Large and medium-sized entities are also required by government to capture data in relation to
greenhouse gas emissions (e.g. kilotonnes of carbon dioxide emitted) in order to measure their carbon
footprints. This information is required for each entity to prepare its sustainability report, as discussed
briefly in chapter 1. Additional data must also be captured for each entity to prepare a social impact report
that outlines, for example, non-financial contributions to the wellbeing of the townspeople in which the
entity operates. This chapter, however, deals only with transactions that capture financial data.

Source documents

A source document, such as a tax invoice for the performance of services, purchase order, cash register
tape, credit card slip or cheque, is prepared for every external transaction entered into by an entity and has
two purposes: (1) it provides written evidence of a transaction and is used by accountants to support
entries in the accounting records; (2) it is an important part of controlling an entity’s resources. For each
external transaction recognised by the accountant, there should be at least one supporting source
document.

For example, figure 3.1 illustrates a typical tax invoice, which is regarded as evidence that an entity has
performed services for a customer. From a copy of the tax invoice (the original is given to the customer),
the entity can record the performance of the service, the name and address of the customer, details of
payments to be received from the customer, and goods and services tax (GST) to be collected.

Figure 3.1 Typical tax invoice



TAX INVOICE No. 204403
ﬁ:,) M.BROWN & ASSOCIATES (i.e. name of entity)

ABN 33 123689 701
Charge to: Send to:
J. Smith J. Smith
21 Edinburgh Street 21 Edinburgh Street
BOOVAL QLD 4304 BOOVAL QLD 4304
Account No. Terms Customer Order Ref.
210337 Net 30 days 25/8/2016
4 9
Quantity Description Price TOTAL
20 Cleaning of offices 33.00 660.00
6 Supply of bottled water 22.00 132.00
.

Total amount payable $792.00

Total includes GST of $ 72.00
-

On the tax invoice illustrated in figure 3.1, note that there is an item called ‘ABN’, followed by a number.
ABN means Australian business number, a separate number given to all business entities which have
registered with the Australian Taxation Office (ATO); it also covers the registration for the GST in Australia.
At the bottom of the tax invoice is another line indicating that
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the $792 total of the invoice ‘includes GST of $72'. In other words, the business of M. Brown & Associates
will eventually collect $72 of GST from its customer, J. Smith. The business owes this amount to the ATO
and will regularly pay the amount owing for GST. For further coverage of the basics of GST in Australia,
refer to the appendix to this chapter (p. 108). A GST or similar retail tax is imposed in several countries.

Other commonly used source documents are:

purchase order — when goods or services are ordered from a supplier

tax invoice for purchases — invoice received from a supplier of goods/services

cash register tapes — to record cash received for cash sales through a cash register
credit card slips — to record sales made on credit cards

cheque butts — to record payments made by cheque to creditors for goods and services.

Tax invoices can be prepared manually or by computer and are used subsequently for data entry in both
manual and computerised accounting systems. In most modern computerised systems, the preparation of
the invoice and the input of invoice data into the accounting system are done simultaneously, e.g. updating
inventory records and recording amounts owed by customers. Increasingly, manually prepared source
documents are being replaced by electronic source documents.

BUSINESS KNOWLEDGE

Red flags to crime

It happens. Fraud valued at more than $100 000 hit 63 times in the last six months of last year,
totalling $131 million and that’s just those that made it into court.

KPMG's partner in charge of Forensic, Gary Gill, says businesses should start with recruitment. ‘Fraud



happens where the money is,’ Gill says.

Most accounting systems can search for matches between supplier accounts and employees, check
for invalid ABNs, whether invoices are improbably sequential and look for similarities that may signal a
would-be fraud.

Gill says business owners often ignore backup systems and so lose evidence of the fraud through
oversight. This may hurt when trying to claim on fidelity insurance, he says. . .

Business owners should regularly review bank reconciliations to check for a growing discrepancy
between accounting records and actual cash and be aware of who can authorise payments and change
accounting records.

Source: Emmerson, R 2012, ‘Red flags to crime’, Herald Sun, 26 November.

LEARNING CHECK

[] Transactions are economic events recorded in an accounting system.

[] Various transactions occur in the life of an entity — external transactions, internal transactions, and
non-transaction events.

1 Accounting is based on a set of rules for determining which events constitute accounting
transactions.

1 Source documents are used initially to record transactions.

3.2 The accounting cycle

Describe the accounting cycle used to record, classify and summarise transactions,
including the use of ledger accounts and the general ledger.

During the life of the entity, financial statement users must regularly make decisions regarding the entity,
and therefore must be provided with timely information on a periodic basis. In order to report on the
periodic progress of the entity over time, its life is divided into arbitrary time periods of equal length called
accounting periods.

Accounting periods need to be of equal length so that statement users (internal or external to the
business) can compare financial performance in the current period with that of previous periods. The length
of the accounting period depends on the needs of interested parties. For example, the business’s manager
may want financial statements on a monthly basis, whereas the shareholders or owners may receive
financial statements only on a yearly basis. For most companies, a complete set of financial statements
(which are included in the annual report) is issued to shareholders only once a year. Commonly, entities
select the financial year as a reporting period, e.g. 1 July 2015 to
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30 June 2016. However, any 12-month period can be used as the time period for annual reporting
purposes, e.g. 1 April to 31 March, 1 January to 31 December.

Financial statements are used by creditors and other interested external parties to assess the entity’s
progress over time. The basic accounting period for which financial statements are presented is 1 year, but
half-yearly and quarterly statements are sometimes required by external parties to provide more timely
information on the activities of the entity. Many entities also prepare monthly or weekly statements for
internal use by management. Statements prepared for external users before the end of the annual period
are called interim statements.

During each period, steps and procedures are followed within the accounting function to ensure that all
transactions are properly recorded, and records are kept to ensure that the financial statements can be
prepared at the end of the accounting period. These steps and procedures, culminating in the preparation
of financial statements, are referred to as the accounting cycle. The basic two-step accounting cycle is
shown in figure 3.2.

Figure 3.2 The basic accounting cycle



1. Recognise and record transactions Source documents
Start
of b 2. Prepare financial statements Financial statements
period |

In practice, there are a number of additional steps or procedures which must occur between the
recording of transactions and the preparation of financial statements. These are added progressively in this
and later chapters.

The ledger account

Each transaction recorded results in an increase or decrease in one or more of the assets, liabilities, equity,
income or expenses. A part of the accounting function is to classify the effects of transactions into these
categories and to summarise the results in the entity’s financial statements. To help in the collection of
financial statement data, transactions are recorded in ledger accounts.

An account provides a record of increases and decreases in each item that appears in the financial
statements. Thus, an entity typically has an account for each kind of asset, liability, equity, income and
expense item. For example, a business maintains a separate account to record increases and decreases in
cash, a separate account to record increases and decreases in accounts receivable, a separate account for
accounts payable, another account for the owner’s capital, and so on. All the accounts maintained by an
entity to enable preparation of the financial statements are collectively called the general ledger.

Each account has three basic parts: (1) a title, which should be descriptive of the nature of the items
being recorded in the account; (2) a place for recording increases; and (3) a place for recording decreases.
Also, accounts typically provide space for recording an account number, the date of the transaction and an
explanation of the transaction. One format, called a T account because of its similarity to the letter T, is
shown below. Other formats are illustrated later in this chapter.

Account Title 100

Date | Explanation Amount | Date | Explanation Amount
Debit side Credit side

-— - =

(abbreviation — Dr) (abbreviation — Cr)

A T account has a left-hand side, called the debit side, and a right-hand side, called the credit side. An
account is debited when an amount is entered on the left-hand side and credited when an amount is
entered on the right-hand side. These terms have come down to us from Latin origins through Pacioli’s
original work on accounting (see the scene setter).

After the transactions are entered, including date, explanation (which describes the other accounts that
are affected by the transaction) and amount, the account balance (the difference between the sum of its
debits and the sum of its credits) can be calculated. If the sum of the debits
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exceeds the sum of the credits, the account has a debit balance. A credit balance results when the sum of
the credits is greater than the sum of the debits. An account will have a zero balance if the sum of the
debits equals the sum of the credits.

A summary of all increases and decreases in the account Cash at Bank for Cynthia’s Beauty Services can
be presented in T-account form as illustrated below. Note that, for an asset, all increases are recorded as
debits and all decreases as credits (see p. 77).



Cash at Bank

Post Post
Date | Explanation Ref* | Amount | Date | Explanation Ref* | Amount
2016 2016
2/1 | Cynthia Jones, 31 | Vehicle 32000
Capital 53000 3/1 | Beauty Services
20/1 | Beauty Services Equipment 6000
Income 4500 22/1 | Employee Wages
31/1 | Accounts Expense 600
Receivable 1550 31/1 | Accounts Payable 2500
31N Cynthia Jones,
Drawings 200
Balance c/d 17750
59050 59 050
Balance b/d 17750

*The purpose of the Post Ref column is discussed later in this chapter.

The entity’s cash receipts or deposits are recorded on the debit (or left) side of the account and cash
payments, disbursements or withdrawals are entered on the credit (right) side. Recording the receipts and
payments separately helps determine the account balance. Cash receipts of $59 050 were deposited in the
bank and exceeded the payments of $41 300, resulting in a debit balance of $17 750. The balance to be
carried down (c/d) is entered on the credit side which will then make the total on each side the same or ‘in
balance’. In a T-account format the total is written on both sides on the same horizontal row and the
balance is brought down (b/d) and inserted under the total on the debit side of the account. A balance
sheet (also called the statement of financial position) prepared at this time would report $17 750 in the
Cash at Bank account as an asset.

Account formats

The T-account format is a convenient way to show the effects of transactions on individual accounts and is
used commonly in accounting textbooks and in classroom illustrations. In practice, however, ledger
accounts generally take the format shown in figure 3.3, known as a running balance account. This
account format provides not only all the information shown in a T account but also a balance after each
transaction.

Figure 3.3 A running balance account



ACCOUNT Cash at Bank

Date Explanation

2016
Jan. 2 | Cynthia Jones, Capital
3 | Vehicle
3 | Beauty Services Equipment
20 | Beauty Services Income
22 | Wages Expense

31 | Accounts Receivable
31 | Accounts Payable
31 | Cynthia Jones, Drawings

Post
Ref*

— o — m— m— — m— —

Debit

53000

4500

1550

*The purpose of the Post Ref column is discussed later in this chapter.

Note that in some computerised accounting systems an account could be a single-column account with
the debits shown as positive amounts (with or without the + sign) and credit amounts shown as negative
amounts. Alternatively, depending on the nature of the account, the credits may be shown as positive and
the debits are shown as negatives. A description of the different types of accounts and the rules for debiting
and crediting accounts are covered later in this chapter. An example of ledger accounts maintained in a

Account No. 100

Credit

32000
6 000

600

2500
200

computerised accounting system (MYOB in this case) is shown in figure 3.4.

Figure 3.4 Sample computerised accounts (MYOB)

CYNTHIA'S BEAUTY SERVICES
Hometown

General Ledger [Detaill
1/1/16 to 31/1/16

ID# Src  Date Memo

1-1100 Cash at Bank

GJOO0001 GJ 2/1/16 Initial capital investment
GJO00002 G&J  3/1/16 Purchased vehicle for cash
GJO0O0002 GJ  3/1/16 Purchased equipment for cash
GJOO0DD4 GJ 20/1/16 Cash beauty services income

GJOODDDé GJ 22/1/16 Drew cheque for wages
GJOO0D08 GJ 31/1/16 Cash recd from customers
GJOOODD? GJ 31/1/16 Paid a/cs payable
GJOOOD10 GJ 31/1/16 Drawings by Jones

1-1200 Accounts Receivable

GJODODODS GJ 20/1/16 Spray tan income charged
GJOOOD08 GJ 31/1/16 Cash rec'd from customers

Besides debit and credit entries and running balances, all debits and credits over a period are totalled
and net activity is shown. This provides an additional check on the mathematical accuracy of the accounts.
Note that at this stage the source of the entries is GJ for general journal (see p. 88) and an explanation for

each entry is also shown in the ‘Memo’ column.

Debit

Net
Credit Activity

Beginning Balance: $0.00

$ 53000.00

$ 32000.00

4500.00

1550.00

6000.00

600.00

2500.00
200.00

Total: $59050.00 $ 41300.00 $ 17750.00

Beginning Balance: $0.00

$ 1550.00

$

1550.00

$ 1550.00 $ 1550.00 $ 0.00

Balance

53000
21000
15000
19500
18900
20 450
17950
17750

Page 1

Ending
Balance

$53000.00
21000.00
15000.00
19500.00
18900.00
20450.00
17950.00
17750.00

$17750.00

$ 1550.00
0.00

$ 0.00
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Accounts commonly used

The accountant establishes an account for each type of asset, liability, equity, income and expense to be
reported in the financial statements. The number of accounts and specific account titles vary, depending on
the nature and complexity of the entity’s operations. For example, the accounts used to record transactions
of a management consultancy firm differ significantly from those of a manufacturing business or a not-for-
profit organisation. Note also that the same type of account is given different titles by different entities. In
addition, the number of accounts can reflect the amount of information desired by the internal and external
statement users. For example, although one account can be used for recording all expenses, it would not
provide sufficient detail to monitor and control the entity’s expenses.

The title or name given to a specific account should be descriptive of the items recorded in the account.
Because some account titles consist of terms new to you or with special technical meaning in accounting, it
will be helpful to look first at the nature of the accounts normally used by a service organisation before
discussing the recording of transactions.

Account titles commonly used for the preparation of the balance sheet and income statement are
presented on the following pages.

Accounts: balance sheet

Asset accounts

Cash at bank The Cash at Bank account is used to record deposits into and withdrawals from a bank
account. This account is the bank account of the entity. Although an entity could have several accounts at
the one bank and/or accounts at several banks, for simplicity in this book a single Cash at Bank account is
used.
Accounts receivable Accounts receivable are amounts owed to an entity by customers to whom the entity
has provided goods or services on credit. An account receivable may be based on an oral agreement to
pay, but is more commonly recognised when an invoice for goods sold or services rendered is issued. The
Accounts Receivable account is often called the Trade Debtors account or simply Debtors.
Other receivables or debtors At the end of the period, the entity may have receivables resulting from a
variety of other transactions. For example, cash advances may have been made to employees, deposits may
have been made with another entity for goods or services to be received in the future, GST may be
receivable from the ATO as a result of input tax credits (see the appendix to this chapter), and a tenant
may owe the entity rent. An entity normally establishes an individual account for each type of debtor.
Prepaid expenses Prepaid expenses are goods or services that have been paid for in advance but not yet
received or used. At the time of payment, an asset is recorded and subsequently expensed as the asset is
used to earn income. Included in this category are advance payments of rent and insurance premiums.
Each type of prepaid expense may be recorded in a separate account, e.g. Prepaid Rent, Prepaid Insurance.
Land The Land account is used to record land controlled by the entity. Land is recorded in an account
separate from any buildings on the land. (This is required by accounting standards.)
Buildings The Buildings account is used to record buildings controlled by the entity.
Plant and equipment Physical items used in the entity for a relatively long period of time are recorded in
plant and equipment accounts. In general, these accounts include any item not permanently attached to
land or buildings. The accounts are used to record acquisitions of delivery equipment, office furniture,
computer equipment, factory equipment, machinery, motor vehicles, store and office fixtures, and store
furniture. A separate account for each major type of equipment owned is usually established, e.g. Office
Furniture, Store Furniture.

Land, buildings and equipment accounts are used for those items held for use in the operations of the
entity.

Liability accounts
Accounts payable An account payable is an obligation to pay an amount to an outside party — a creditor



— for the purchase of goods, supplies or services on credit. The account is also commonly called Trade
Creditors or simply Creditors.

Unearned income Cash received from customers for goods yet to be delivered or services yet to be
performed is not reported as income because the entity has a liability to the customer until the goods are
delivered or the services are performed. When the goods are delivered or the services are performed, an
amount is transferred from the unearned income account, a liability, to an income account. The income
represents the reduction in the liability account. Examples are rent collected in advance from a tenant and a
magazine subscription for 2 years received by a publisher. The use of unearned income accounts is
discussed further in chapter 4.

Other current liabilities At any given time, the entity may owe money to employees, the ATO, or other
parties for services received. For example, many entities are required to collect GST on goods sold or
services provided; a company may owe income tax; a telephone account may have been received for the
guarter but not yet paid. It is not possible to list here all of the potential
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liabilities an entity may incur. The important fact at the moment is that an individual account can be used
for each type of liability.

GST Payable and Receivable As discussed in detail in the appendix to this chapter, any business which
is registered for GST typically has two accounts.

GST Payable for any GST received or receivable by the entity from its customers. This account
represents the GST the entity owes to the ATO, and is a liability.

GST Receivable for any GST paid or payable by the entity to its suppliers. This account represents the
GST refundable to the entity by the ATO, and is an asset.

At the end of each reporting period, the GST Payable account (liability) is usually offset against the GST
Receivable account (asset) to show a net liability or asset in the entity’s balance sheet, depending on which
account has the larger balance.

In the accounting records, all income and expenses and most assets are recorded in the accounts

excluding the GST (i.e. net of GST). Receivables and payables are recorded with the GST component
included.
Mortgage payable This account is used to record a particular kind of liability for which the creditor has a
claim secured by a mortgage deed against one or more of the entity’s assets. A secured claim means that if
the entity is unable to pay the obligation when due, the creditor may force the sale of the assets pledged as
security to recover the debt.

Equity accounts

Four main types of transactions affect the owner’s interest or equity in the entity: (1) investment of assets
in the entity by the owner; (2) withdrawal of assets by the owner; (3) income earned; and (4) expenses
incurred. Thus the equity part of the accounting equation may be expanded as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Equity = Investment by the owner — Drawings by the owner + Income — Expenses

Separate accounts are maintained for each of these four categories as a convenient means of preparing the
statement of changes in equity for the period.

Capital Assets invested in the entity by the owner are recorded as an increase in assets and an increase in
the capital account established in the name of the owner.

Drawings or withdrawals The drawings account is used to record the withdrawal of assets, usually cash,
from the entity by the owner. Thus, drawings are recorded as a reduction in both assets and equity. An
owner of a sole trader business will often establish a fixed amount to be withdrawn at specific intervals for
personal living expenses. Although the owner may think of these drawings as a salary, neither law nor tax
codes recognise a single proprietor as an employee of the firm because the owner cannot hire themself.
Consequently, recurring drawings made in the expectation of earning profit are not considered a salary or
an expense of the entity.



Occasionally, personal expenses of the owner may be paid directly from the bank account of the entity.
Such payments are drawings by the owner and not expenses of doing business. Equity accounts differ
depending on the nature of the business organisation, e.g. sole trader or the company structure. Different
equity accounts will be introduced throughout the book as appropriate.

Accounts: income statement

Income and expense accounts are subclassifications of equity. Because of the variety and volume of income
and expense transactions, it is helpful in preparing the income statement to maintain separate accounts for
each major type of income and expense item so that users of accounting information will know the amount
and source of income and the expenses incurred. Relatively insignificant amounts are normally recorded in
a Sundry Income or a Sundry Expenses account.
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Income

Income represents increases in economic benefits during the period in the form of inflows or
enhancements of assets or decreases in liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than contributions
by the owners. In the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting two different types of income
are identified, namely revenues and gains.

Revenues Revenue represents income which arises in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity.
Such revenues commonly occur in the performance of services by service organisations or in the sale of
merchandise by retail and wholesale entities. Revenues are measured by the fair value of the assets
received. The assets received for the goods or services are normally cash or a receivable. In the double-
entry accounting system, revenues are recorded as both an increase in an asset (a debit) and an increase
in equity (a credit). Each different revenue is reported in a separate equity account in order to show its
particular source. Revenues are classified into many categories depending on their nature, e.g. commission
revenue, cleaning services revenue, legal services revenue, gardening services revenue, consulting fees
revenue, sales revenue.

Gains A gain represents income which does not usually arise from the ordinary activities of an entity. An
example is the gain from the sale of assets such as buildings or machinery which are used by the entity in
carrying out its main activities. Gains may also arise if the entity has revalued upwards some of its assets,
e.g. if an entity has revalued its share investments up to market value. In order to provide information to
users of financial statements for making decisions, it is important to show gains as a separate category of
income when preparing an income statement. However, the nature of gains and of revenue is essentially
the same, and they are merely different categories of income.

Expenses

The cost of services and economic benefits consumed or lost or liabilities incurred during the period, other
than a withdrawal of capital or profits by the owner, are called expenses. Expenses are recorded by
decreasing an asset account (a credit) and increasing the appropriate expense account (a debit). If an
expense has not been paid for, a liability is increased (a credit) rather than an asset being decreased. A
number of expense accounts are normally reported in order to reflect the variety of expenses incurred by
an entity, e.g. wages expense, fuel expense, telephone expense.

When total income (revenues and gains) exceeds total expenses, the difference is called profit. When
total expenses exceed total income, the entity is said to incur a loss. An important function of accounting is
to provide a measurement of a business entity’s performance as revealed by the profit made or the loss
incurred.

General ledger

As previously defined, the collection of all the individual accounts for a particular business is referred to as
a general ledger. A computerised general ledger is generally referred to as the general ledger master
file.



Accounts contained in the general ledger are usually organised in the order they appear in the balance
sheet and the income statement, thus making it easier to find them and prepare financial statements. Each
account has an identification number used for reference and for cross-referencing the transactions entered
in a specific account.

Chart of accounts

A chart of accounts is a listing of the complete ledger account titles and their related numbers, and is
maintained in both manual and computerised systems.

When analysing transactions, refer to the chart of accounts to identify specific accounts to be increased
or decreased. A simple numbering system numbers all accounts consecutively starting with number 1 and
continuing until all accounts are assigned a number. A better system, however, is one based on flexible
numbering, which allows the addition of accounts as necessary. For example, all assets are assigned a
three-digit number from 100 to 199, liabilities are 200 to 299, equity 300 to 399, income 400 to 499, and
expenses 500 to 599. Some numbers are not assigned
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within each classification of accounts to permit the insertion of new accounts as they are needed. In
computerised systems, the chart of accounts can use more complex numbering systems to facilitate
processing by the computer. In these systems, a chart of accounts is essential. It is the first element of the
system to be processed as it forms the basic framework under which the whole of the computerised
accounting system functions.

A relatively simple chart of accounts used in this and later chapters to illustrate accounting procedures for
Intellect Management Services is shown in figure 3.5.

The same chart of accounts produced by the MYOB computerised accounting system is shown in figure
3.6 (p. 84). Note the amount of extra detail which the program uses to record transactions and produce
reports. Note also the use of levels of accounts (shown in the right-hand column in figure 3.6) which
enables the computer to condense the amount of detail, e.g. level 2 accounts in a category can be totalled
into a level 1 account. All level 1 accounts are headers in accounting reports.

Figure 3.5 A simple chart of accounts



INTELLECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Chart of Accounts

Assets (100-199)
Cash at Bank
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Insurance
Office Supplies
GST Receivable
Land
Building
Accumulated Depreciation — Building
Office Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation — Office Equipment

Liabilities (200-299)
Accounts Payable
Salaries Payable
Loan Payable
Interest Payable
Electricity Account Payable
Unearned Appraisal Fees
GST Payable
Mortgage Payable

Equity (300-399)
M. Mooney, Capital
M. Mooney, Drawings

Income (400-499)
Revenues
Management Services Revenue
Appraisal Fees Revenue
Marketing Services Revenue

Expenses (500-599)
Salaries Expense
Telephone Expense
Advertising Expense
Insurance Expense
Office Supplies Expense
Depreciation Expense — Office Equipment
Depreciation Expense — Building
Interest Expense
Electricity Expense

Profit or Loss Summary

100
104
110
111
120
150
160
161
170
171

200
210
214
2lh
216
220
250
260

300
310

400
401
402

500
510
520
521
530
540
541
560
570

600




Figure 3.6 Chart of accounts used in MYOB computerised accounting intellect management services
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Account #

1-0000
1-1100
1-2000
1-3000
1-4000
1-4500
1-5000
1-6000
1-6500
1-7000
1-7500
2-0000
2-2000
2-2500
2-3000
2-4000
2-5000
2-6000
2-7000
2-8000
2-9000
3-0000
3-8000
3-9000
4-0000
4-2100
4—2200
4-2300
5-0000
5-2100
5-2200
5-2300
5-2400
5-2500
5-2600
5-2700
5-2750
5-5000
5-5200
6-0000

INTELLECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Chart of Accounts [Detaill

Account Type
ASSETS Asset
Cash at Bank Asset
Accounts Receivable Asset
Prepaid Insurance Asset
Office Supplies Asset

GST Receivable Asset
Land Asset
Building Asset
Accum Deprec — Building Asset
Office Equipment Asset
Accum Deprec — Off Equip Asset
LIABILITIES Liability
Accounts Payable Liability
GST Payable Liability
Salaries Payable Liability
Commissions Payable Liability
Loan Payable Liability
Interest Payable Liability
Electricity Payable Liability
Unearned Appraisal Fees Liability
Mortgage Payable Liability
EQUITY Equity

M. Mooney, Capital Equity

M. Mooney, Drawings Equity
INCOME — Revenues Income
Management Services Revenue Income
Appraisal Fees Revenue Income
Marketing Services Revenue Income
EXPENSES Expense
Salaries Expense Expense
Commission Expense Expense
Telephone Expense Expense
Advertising Expense Expense
Insurance Expense Expense
Office Supplies Expense Expense
Deprec Exp — Off Equip Expense
Deprec Exp — Building Expense
Interest Expense Expense
Electricity Expense Expense
PROFIT OR LOSS SUMMARY Equity

Normal
Sign

Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Credit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Debit
Credit

Header/
Detail

Header
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Header
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Header
Detail
Detail
Header
Detail
Detail
Detail
Header
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Detail
Header

Page 1

Level
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A good chart of accounts reveals a great deal about the organisation. For example, it will tell you (a)
whether the organisation is a sole trader business, a partnership, a company, a not-for-profit organisation
or a government department, (b) whether the organisation is engaged in retailing, manufacturing or
services, and (c) the different types of income derived and expenses incurred by the entity.



The chart of accounts is usually contained in the entity’s accounting manual, which also typically
contains such things as an overview of the accounting system, policies and procedures to be followed,
sample source documents and sample financial statements. The manual is used as a guide for those
involved in the operation of the accounting system.

LEARNING CHECK

1 In order for an entity to report on its progress over time, its life is divided into arbitrary time periods
of equal length called accounting periods, so that statement users can compare performance in
the current period with that of the previous period.

1 During each period, steps and procedures are followed to properly record all transactions,
culminating in the preparation of financial statements. These steps and procedures are known as the
accounting cycle.

[1An entity has an account for each kind of asset, liability, equity, income and expense item.
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1 A ledger account provides a record of increases and decreases for each of these items.
1 Ledger accounts can be of two types: T accounts and running balance accounts.
] Asset, liability and equity accounts are reported in the balance sheet; income and expense accounts
are reported in the income statement.
] Two different types of income are identified:
— revenue, which is income arising in the course of ordinary activities, e.g. sales revenue
— gains, which is income which does not arise from the ordinary activities of an entity, e.g. gain on
sale of an asset such as a building.

] Accounts in the general ledger are organised usually in the order they appear in the balance sheet
and income statement.

1A chart of accounts is a listing of the complete ledger account titles and their related numbers.
[1An entity’s chart of accounts can indicate the types of activities conducted by that entity.

3.3 Double-entry accounting

Outline the rules of debit and credit used in double-entry accounting and how to apply
these rules in analysing transactions.

In chapter 2, when recording the transactions for Cynthia’s Beauty Services, it was necessary to determine
which assets, liabilities or equity items were affected and the amount by which each item increased or
decreased. We noted that each transaction affected at least two financial statement items, and that the
accounting equation always remained in balance. When accounts are used in the recording process, each
transaction must also be analysed to determine what types of accounts are affected, and whether each
account is increased or decreased so as to decide whether it is to be debited or credited. At least two
accounts are affected by each transaction, hence the system is referred to as double-entry accounting.

Debit and credit rules

Accounts: balance sheet

As noted earlier, the left-hand side of a T account is called the debit side and the right-hand side is
called the credit side. When accounts are maintained in the running balance format shown on page 78,
‘debit’ simply means the left-hand column and ‘credit’ means the right-hand column. Whether a debit or a
credit is an increase or a decrease to the account balance depends on whether the account is an asset, a
liability or an equity account.

In arriving at rules for debit and credit, an assumption is made that assets are of a debit nature. (This is



just an accounting rule and is similar to the international road rules that a green light means go and a red
light means stop.) From the accounting equation, it follows, then, that liabilities and equity are of a credit
nature, and total debits must equal total credits. Increases and decreases are recorded in the three
categories of accounts reported on the balance sheet as shown in T-account format below:

Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Debit to Credit to Debit to Credit to Debit to Credit to
increase decrease decrease increase decrease increase
Normal Normal Normal
halance halance halance

An increase in an asset account is recorded as a debit, i.e. it is recorded on the left-hand side of the
general ledger account. An increase in a liability or equity account is recorded as a credit, i.e. it is recorded
on the right-hand side of the general ledger account. A decrease in an asset account is recorded as a
credit; a decrease in a liability or an equity account is recorded as a debit.

The procedure of recording increases to liability and equity accounts on the credit side and decreases on
the debit side is opposite that of assets and permits an additional check for accuracy.
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Thus, not only must the accounting equation be in balance, but the sum of the debit balances must equal
the sum of the credit balances.

Accounts: income statement

The debit/credit rules for income and expenses can be developed by examining the relationship of income
and expense accounts to the equity account. As explained earlier, income increases equity and expenses
decrease equity. Thus, increases in income are recorded as credits consistent with the recording of
increases in equity. Increases in expenses are recorded as debits, because they decrease equity. Although a
debit to an expense account is a reduction in equity, it is also an increase in an expense account.

Debit and credit rules for income statement accounts are shown below in T-account format:

Income (incl. revenues) Expenses
Debit to decrease Credit to increase Debit to increase Credit to decrease
Normal balance Normal balance
Note: A debit increases the account balance
but is a decrease in equity.

Knowing the rules of debit and credit is fundamental to understanding much of the material in the rest of
this book. Because of the importance of knowing these rules, you should master them now. Remember that
to debit (credit) an account simply means to enter the amount on the left-hand (right-hand) side of the
account. A debit may increase or decrease the account balance, depending on the type of account being
adjusted. The same is true for a credit. A summary of debit and credit rules is provided in figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7 Summary of debit/credit rules and the accounting equation

ACCOUNTING EQUATION
Assets = Liabilities + Equity
Therefore:
All asset accounts = All liability accounts + All equity accounts

Dr Cr Dr Cr Dr Cr

Increases Decreases Decreases Increases Decreases Increases

Normal Normal Normal

halance halance halance

Expense accounts Income accounts

Dr Cr Dr Cr
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
Normal Normal
balance halance

Normal account balances

It is helpful in finding ledger errors to know the normal balance for an account. In particular, if the running
balance account format illustrated in figure 3.3 (p. 78) is used, the balance column does not indicate
whether the amount is a debit or credit. As shown in figure 3.7, the
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normal account balance is the side on which increases to the account are recorded. The chart below
summarises the normal balances for all accounts:

Account Increases recorded on Normal balance
Assets Debit side Debit
Liabilities Credit side Credit
Equity
Investment in the entity by owner Credit side Credit
Drawings from the entity by owner Debit side Debit
Income: Revenues Credit side Credit
Expenses Debit side Debit

If an account has a balance different from its normal balance, it is likely that an error has been made.
We would not expect to find a credit balance in an asset account or a debit balance in an income account.
However, a credit balance in the Cash at Bank account could exist for a limited time if the bank account
had been overdrawn, i.e. arrangements have been made with the bank to make use of overdraft facilities.
Note that in computerised accounting, the system is usually designed to flag or highlight automatically any
account which does not have a normal balance. Contrast this with a manual system where accounts with
abnormal balances need to be discovered by visual inspection.

It is easy to be confused by the asset Cash at Bank being increased with a debit and decreased with a
credit as this appears to be the opposite to bank statements for personal accounts. Remember that the



bank statement is not a statement of the owner’'s asset Cash at Bank, but rather a statement of the bank’s
liability to the customer and so it follows the rules for a liability.

Expanded accounting cycle

Earlier, the accounting cycle was introduced and a very basic cycle was illustrated (figure 3.2, p. 77). We
now introduce the general journal and the general ledger, so we need to expand the cycle to include the
procedures of journalising transactions, posting the general journal to the general ledger, and preparing a
trial balance. The cycle, taking these new steps into account, is shown in figure 3.8. (The accounting cycle
will be expanded further in later chapters.)

Figure 3.8 The expanded accounting cycle

> 1. Recognise and record transactions Source documents
2. Journalise transactions General journal
Start
of new 3. Post to ledger accounts General ledger
period
4. Prepare trial balance of general ledger Trial balance
5. Prepare financial statements Financial statements
L )

LEARNING CHECK

1 The debit and credit rules assume that assets are of a debit nature so, to maintain the accounting
equation, it follows that liabilities and equity are of a credit nature.

1 An increase (decrease) in an asset account is recorded as a debit (credit); an increase (decrease) in
a liability or equity account is recorded as a credit (debit).

1 An increase (decrease) in an income account is recorded as a credit (debit); an increase (decrease)
in an expense account is recorded as a debit (credit).
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3.4 General journal

Explain the purpose and format of the general journal, record transactions in the
general journal and transfer the information to the general ledger.

In a typical manual accounting system and in some computerised general ledger accounting systems, a
transaction is analysed and recorded first in a book called a journal before the effects of the transaction
are entered in the individual accounts in the ledger. The journal is the initial recording of a transaction from
the entity’s source documents. Although transactions could be entered directly into the accounts in the
ledger, better control is achieved by recording them first in a journal; then, when convenient, the debit and
credit amounts can be recorded in the proper ledger accounts.

The journal provides in one place a complete record of all transactions as they occur in chronological
order, i.e. by date. In the journal, the title and dollar amounts of each account to be debited or credited are
listed for each transaction. Thus, the journal provides a detailed record of the full effect of a particular
transaction on the entity. Since an individual transaction is recorded in two or more accounts in the ledger,
no single account contains a complete record of each transaction.



As well as providing a complete record of every transaction, the journal is useful for reducing and locating
errors. If a transaction is recorded directly to ledger accounts, the effect of the transaction may
inadvertently be recorded initially as two debits or two credits, or one side of a transaction may be omitted
entirely, and such errors would be difficult to locate. However, in the journal the debit and credit
information for each transaction is shown in one place. The omission of a debit or a credit or the inclusion
of two debits without an offsetting credit, for instance, would be obvious. With a complete record of each
transaction in the journal, some errors can be found by retracing the debits and credits to ledger accounts
to ensure that the correct amounts were transferred to the proper accounts.

In computerised accounting systems, transactions are generally entered directly into the ledger accounts
from various data input screens, and the system ensures that each transaction has an equal debit and
credit recorded. Most computerised accounting systems do provide an option to print out a journal if
required.

Recording transactions in a journal

The number of journals and the design of each vary from entity to entity, depending on the nature of
operations and the frequency of a particular type of transaction. In this chapter, we are concerned with
using the general journal, or the two-column journal, so called because it contains two columns for
entering dollar amounts. Other types of journals are discussed in chapter 7.

The standard format for the general journal and the steps followed in recording a journal entry are shown
in figure 3.9. Recording transactions in a journal is called entering or journalising, and each transaction
recorded is a separate journal entry. Two transactions are illustrated in figure 3.9. The first journal entry
records the receipt of cash for marketing services performed for a customer, plus GST collected. The second
entry records the purchase of equipment with a part payment in cash and a loan payable for the balance.
Many journal entries involve only two accounts; however, the entries illustrated in figure 3.9 involve three
or more accounts. A journal entry involving more than two accounts is called a compound journal entry.

Figure 3.9 Example of a general journal (ringed numbers refer to the steps listed on the next page)

General Journal Page 1
Post
Date Particulars Ref Debit Credit
(1) 2016 @ ©
July 5 | Cash at Bank 100 15400 @
Marketing Services Revenue @ 402 14000
GST Payable 250 1400
@ (Marketing services rendered in exchange for cash)

10 | Office Equipment 170 62000

GST Receivable 120 6200
Cash at Bank 100 28 200
Loan Payable 214 40 000

(Purchased equipment for cash part-payment with a
short-term loan for the balance)
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Before a transaction is entered in the journal, it is necessary to analyse the transaction for its effects on
the various ledger accounts. Note that the principles of double-entry accounting are observed for each
transaction:

two or more accounts are affected by each transaction
the sum of the debit amount(s) for every transaction equals the sum of the credit amount(s)



the equality of the accounting equation is maintained.

Every page in the journal is numbered for future reference. Before an entry is made in the journal, the
year and month are written at the top of the first column. The year and month are not repeated until the
start of a new page or a new month. The process for journalising transactions is described below, and the
steps in the process are keyed to the first entry in figure 3.9.

The date of each transaction is entered in the date column.

The name of the account(s) to be debited is entered against the left margin of the particulars column.
The amount to be debited to each account is entered in the debit amount column on the same line as
the account name.

The name of the account(s) to be credited is entered on the line immediately below the account(s) to
be debited and is indented to distinguish the account(s) credited from the account(s) debited.

The amount to be credited to each account is entered in the credit amount column on the same line as
the account name.

A brief explanation of the transaction is entered on the line immediately below the journal entry. This
explanation is referred to as a narration.

A single line is usually left blank between each journal entry or a line is drawn between each entry
across the particulars column.

At the time the journal entry is recorded, the posting reference column is left blank until the account is
posted to the ledger (see below). If an appropriate account title is not listed in the chart of accounts,
the new account with a new appropriate number should be added to the chart of accounts.
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Posting from journal to ledger

The process of transferring amounts entered in the journal to the proper ledger accounts is called posting.
The aim is to classify the effects of all transactions on each individual asset, liability, equity, income and
expense account.

The posting of one journal entry from figure 3.9 with one debit and two credits is shown in figure 3.10
(p. 90). The debit is posted in the first half of the figure and the credits are posted in the second half.

The steps involved in the posting process are as follows.

Locate in the ledger the account to be debited.
Enter the date the transaction occurred as shown in the journal.
Enter in the explanation column the name of the other ledger account(s) to which the opposite side of
the entry will be posted (i.e. cross-reference the debit and credit entries).
Enter the debit amount in the debit column of the ledger account.
Enter in the posting reference column of the ledger account the page number of the journal from which
the entry is being posted.
Enter in the posting reference column of the journal the account number to indicate that the debit
amount was posted.
If using running balance ledger accounts, insert the current balance in the account.
8—14. Repeat steps 1 to 7 for both credit parts of the entry.

Steps 5, 6, 12 and 13 (entries in the posting reference column) provide a cross-reference between the
accounts in the ledger and the original journal entry. Cross-referencing is a convenient way to locate
additional information relating to an amount recorded in an individual account in the ledger.

Note that steps 3 and 10 provide a cross-reference between two (or more) ledger accounts to which the
entry is posted. From chapter 4 onwards, ledger cross-referencing is not always shown. A simplified T
account is used instead. However, in practice, cross-referencing is always completed.

In computerised accounting systems, the posting process is carried out automatically by the computer. It
is therefore essential that the data entered initially into the system are accurate.
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90

The computer provides a journal proof summary which totals the debits and credits of all data entered
before posting takes place. This ensures that the general ledger remains in balance, i.e. debits equal
credits. Most computerised systems automatically maintain the double-entry system of debits and credits.
Running balance formats are used for ledger accounts in computerised systems.

Figure 3.10 Posting from the general journal to the general Iedger (running balance format)
| P N ey - Y . —— | [— | Pl om 1 —



Fosung e agpn ueneral Journai rage I ‘]
Post
Date Particulars Ref Debit Credit
2016 (6)
~TJuly 5 | Cash at Bank 100w 15400
Marketing Services Revenue 402 14000
GST Payable 250 1400
(Marketing services rendered in exchange for cash)
General Ledger
ACCOUNT Cash at Bank @ Account No. 100
Post [
Date Explanation Ref Debit Credit Balance
D16 @ / @
> July 5 Marketing Services Revenue/
GST Payable 1 @ 15400 15400
A J
Posting the credits General Journal Page 1 ™)
Post
Date Particulars Ref Debit Credit
2016
1 July 5 | Cash at Bank 100 15400
Marketing Services Revenue 402 14000
GST Payable 250 1400
(Marketing services rendered in exchange for cash) \

General Ledger

ACCOUNT Marketing Services Revenue

Accouynt No. 402

Post
Date Explanation Ref Debit Credit \ alance
(@) 2016 y
—rJuIy 5 Cash at Bank 11) 14000 4000

t

[\

/

\




\
ACCOUNT  GST Collections Account No. 250
Post
Date Explanation Ref Debit Credit Balance
(9) 2016

—>July 5 Cash atBank (10) 1@ @ 1400 1400

‘L J
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Illustrative example of journal and ledger

The June 2016 transactions for Intellect Management Services are used to illustrate the analysis of
transactions and the sequence of steps to be followed in recording and summarising the transactions. GST
transactions are shown as appropriate.

Step 1 involves an analysis of the transaction to identify which accounts are affected and whether an
account needs to be increased or decreased. From the rules developed in the previous section it is then
possible to determine whether to debit or credit the account involved. Note that each transaction affects
two or more accounts with equal debits and credits so that, after posting, the accounting equation is still in
balance. Having identified the accounts affected, it is possible to complete step 2. Step 2 is the recording
of the transaction in the general journal. This is the process of initial data entering. Step 3 is the posting of
the journal entry to the general ledger, presented in figure 3.12 on pages 102-5. For illustrative purposes,
the T-account format is used and the accounts affected by each transaction are shown after posting has
been completed. In the T accounts, the posting references to the journal are omitted at this stage for
simplicity. Nevertheless, they must be present in practice, as illustrated later in the chapter.

The information accumulated in the general ledger in this chapter is used also in chapter 4 to prepare
financial statements for the month of June. A time period of 1 month is used for illustrative purposes.
However, as noted earlier, financial statements may be prepared at other intervals determined by
management, such as every quarter, but they must be prepared annually at least.

1 June Megan Mooney deposited $240 000 cash into an account opened for the management services
business.



Analysis The accounts affected are Cash at Bank and the Capital account of Megan Mooney (equity).
The asset Cash at Bank is being increased and therefore is debited. M. Mooney, Capital
account is being increased and therefore is credited. Capital transactions are exempt from
GST.

Journal General Journal Page 1

t
ey Post
Date Particulars Ref Debit Credit
2016
June 1 | CashatBank 100 240000
M. Mooney, Capital 300 240000

(Cash deposited by owner into business
bank account)

Ledger Cash at Bank 100

posting _

‘ 16 ‘ M. Mooney, Capital ‘ 240 000 | ‘ ‘ ‘

M. Mooney, Capital 300

‘ ‘ ‘ | 1/6 ‘ Cash at Bank ‘ 240000 ‘

1 June Signed an agreement for the business to provide marketing services for a client for a monthly

fee of $ 800 plus GST (10%) to be paid on the fifth day of the following month.

Analysis

Initially, signing the agreement does not create a recordable asset or income and therefore is
not given accounting recognition. That is, the signing of the agreement does not normally
constitute an accounting transaction. In the future, as the service is performed, the fee earned
by the business plus GST is recognised as revenue in the accounts.

There is no journal entry and hence no posting to the ledger.

2 June
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Purchased land and office building for $300 000 plus GST (10%). The terms of the agreement
provided for a payment by cheque of $90 000, the remainder to be financed with a 20-year

mortgage bearing interest at 8% p.a. The purchase price is allocated $120 000 to land and
$180 000 to the building.



Analysis | The land and building are both assets that are increased and are therefore debited. The GST
paid is debited to the GST Receivable account. The Cash at Bank account is decreased by a
credit. The unpaid portion of the purchase price is a claim against the business. A liability is
therefore increa